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CORPORATE PROFILE
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China New Higher Education Group is a leading higher
vocational education group focusing on higher vocational
education for 23 years which first put forward and propelled
the school operation model of an application-oriented
university. As at 31 August 2022, the Group’s schools covered
various regions of China, cumulatively cultivating over 400,000
high-quality technical and skilled talents for the society. As a
leader of high-quality employment, the schools of the Group
have been awarded the “Top 50 National Employment (& E
Bt % TYE50%) " by the Ministry of Education, with an average
employment rate of approximately 98%, and the employment
rate of each school receiving top ranking from all provinces
and regions.

The Group has been included as a constifuent stock of
the Hang Seng Composite Small Cap Index and the Hang
Seng Consumer Goods & Services Index in August 2017,
and has been included as a constfitfuent stock of the MSCI
China Small Cap Index in November 2017 and included as
a constituent stock of Hong Kong Stock Connect in March
2018.

education group

Striving for the career
achievements and life
happiness of students

el y Y
FE= fEap EES
Vision Mission Values
BEZABHNHEER BT BEMB KA AL VAZR A AR
Building a respected FRmEM ERE B

A==
Student-oriented
Contributor-driven

Putting organization's
interests first
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Upgrade school operation conditions and educational environment




Remarkable achievements of comprehensive education
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Establishment of Guizhou School

and Relocation of the Group's
* 20124 - BB - WEKSE)

LA BEREERAMES LR A
TN

B ke % T s Guizhou School was established in Northeast School joining the Group
B R I20]2 ;:md h?s nok\]N Iloecoge kIhe *2016%F - RACBRIMAKE - 2 EFET
5k S5 H5 Be Bk gl ar argest private school in Guizhou BHAER [EHTIRMHBEFIG S
M‘%ﬁ S all 3 37 . Province with a leading EER RN

Establishment of Yunnan Einsun employment rate In 2016, Northeast School joined the

i ils Traini i . B BRI bl e

Vocational Skills Training Station 20124 - @8R Group, being the first batch of
¢ 19994F - ERg T F 7RI SR AL LUK The Group's headquarter relocated provincial pilot universities for the
J et e to Beijing from Yunnan in 2012 “Excellent Engineer Education and
3L BARLT RELA S RMO0F Al 20205 - BENBREEZESRELER  Trainng Scheme” in Helong

In 1999, Yunnan Einsun Vocational BB T e AIZ 010028 raining scheéme: in nelongjiang
Skills Training Station was established, In 2020, Guizhou school was  *20214F ' SE20% M |EEFERER
starting the 23-year enfrepreneurial awarded as “Top 100 Typical Cases 50058 {3

history of China New Higher Education of National Employment and In 2021, nearly 20% of the graduates
Group Entrepreneurship for College were employed by Fortune Global

Graduates” 500

1999 2015

A AN
HHHYYAA// /77777777770 7000000000000070000070000000000000000 0000000000444/ /7777447 7999477777777777.

2012 2018

B o BLRS Bl :
;i;:;ﬁﬁ)f Yunnan School ¢ R mA S
Luoyang School joining the Group

« 2004%F + EEE RHH AR SRR % rh B s ) SCNOO
In 2004, Yunnan Einsun ;ffwore %*%*&f]ﬂ]\%@ * 20185 - RIGERIMALE

< 20114 - BRAASEMTIEER - 5 Group . e g
FREN  EREE-MRAANRR <2015 - SRSRIAKE i i s n s | o 5
In 2011 - the school was upgraded In 2015, Central China School joined i s AlJJ_EE:ﬁE‘_W AR :
to Yunnan Technology and Business the Group IrfJQEOQ]E %e ﬁofﬁol sales on “Double
University, the first batch of private ¢ 2020%F + EREBREBN [HNEE 11" from the team mainly formed by
undergradyate colleges in BB REEMEN : 2021 F RRTHK students from e-commerce maijors
Southwest China and the first private g exceeded RMB9.73 bilion, hitting a
undergraduate college in Yunnan In 2020, Central China School record high ’
Province . became the commissioned and

20145 HEFBRFREREEMER targeted unit of the government'’s
RZHmaRE2ER E TS0 “Viloge Doctor Scheme”, and
In 2014, the school was awarded as conversion was completed in 2021
the “Typical Model School for w0004 . fEch &K RA IIFILE — e
National Graduate Employment and HRNTPIE R — R RIR o
Top 50 National Employment” by the In 2022, Central China School has 4
MOE provincial first-class majors and 7

provincial first-class courses.
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Guangxi Schools joining the Group
* 20184 - EEAZRINAKE
In 2018, Guangxi Schools joined the
Group
*2020%F - BEFFEAREE—  BF
NETE RIA A IE— T [20205F 38
E TSR] 5%
In 2020, the employment rate
reached the first place of its kind in
the province and was the only one
of its kind in Guangxi Province
awarded the 2020 Oufstanding Unit
for Employment” in five years

Hl 2B A S M

Gansu School joining the Group

* 20185 - HERERIMALE
In 2018, Gansu School joined the
Group

* 20194 - —HFRNEKIIRE - WHEA [
BN ERYIRE
In 2019, the school completed the
construction of new campus within
one year, which was regarded as
“Shenzhen Speed of Lanzhou”

©2021% - BREKY ; EFEEMFR
R
In 2021, the school completed
conversion; and its employment rate
has broken provincial records for two
consecutive years

*2022%F - HRBEREEEPBIMIE AR
ALEEREPEREE—S2ZH R
In 2022, the students of Gansu School
achieved the breakthrough in the first
prize of national competition in the
China  Robotics and  Artificial
Inteligence Competition

()

A 36 3% e LR

L 2R YA
Establishment of Dual Centers

*2020%F - R=_ABEAIZEPL - HEBH

TR DIEERIN &
In 2020, the Yangtze River Delta
Employment and Entrepreneurship

Center and Teaching and
Research Center were launched in
Suzhou

20215  TR=AEFRL - FUEHER

DA RITERY - LA

In 2021, the Pearl River Delta Dual
Center and the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei
Dual Center were launched in
Shenzhen and Beijing, respectively

2020

A I I IIIIIOOOOOINRNNNNN
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2021

h IR BUH B iR
Expansion of the scope of

education business

* 20204 - EFMBESERMAREE
In 2020, Yunnan Vocational School
joined the Group

* 20214 b RERE IIAREE
In 2021, Beijing Lianhe joined the
Group
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BEANY
Capital market

* 2021 5K - RREYEIERTE
The repurchase program was
launched at the end of 2021

*2020% - ST TR KEHATTRT G &8
#E (185%x) KRHEENRPE
17 AIEE(ER 2021 FAREE T
Completed the first simultaneous
issuance of convertible bond
(US$100 miillion) and shares place-
ment in the Asia-Pacific education
sector in 2020. The convertible bond
was fully redeemed in 2021

o 201 7SR (E BB T E IR £
Listed on the Main Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange in 2017

TP B4 o A\ 4
Zhengzhou School joining the Group
*20214F - EPM R INAEE
In 2021, Zhengzhou School joined
the Group
020224 - BINEBRBAEE T _JE [&
B 2EBAFERRMERATK
BEHEDPREAE SR
In 2022, students of Zhengzhou School
won the first prize in the national finals of
the 12th “Blue Bridge Cup"” National
Software and Information Technology
Professionals Competition

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED « ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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REVIEWS OF THE 2022 FINANCIAL YEAR

BEHBKTEELR
Significant Enhancement of Education and
Teaching Level

BEF 56 AERRA S FIHAERR2E R 5 4
- 2278 - AIESEHS
EEEE R AL FRMARRBDRSETRAELSR U SIS S Wel 22 Helieiel el

=
: « s .
A o, & —

awards in 56 top comprehensive academic

The Group has jointly built Harbin Welding Instfitute competitions, hitting a record high

Industrial College with Harbin Welding Institute that
ranks the second in the world

BEEMFRERE 98%
Employment Rate Reached 98% for
Two Consecutive Years

X‘lrl“”ﬂ&;: : -F.— | ,v

daom

e

ERRNERBNBRETHIOMMETE  REXLAE
ELEBEMSERS

tE BRI iE Wy 57 18 125 B . YIRS
ek a el b B Gl ST The management staff of the schools actively

\ Sy =t
SERERURREFRES : ‘ : conduct visits to enterprises to expand jobs,
The Group's schools organize various on-campus job creating more infernship and employment
fair and proactively invite experts to provide guidance opportunities for graduates

on career and further education to all graduates
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REVIEWS OF THE 2022 FINANCIAL YEAR

SR TIEEFEF
Students’ and Teachers’ Experience Work
Carried Out Throughout the Year

REEFAXASZIBEEINRZ MR
Principal's Reception Day becomes the most
popular activity that students are actively
involved in
BNERNBEHERGERDETEERRNER

The Construction of lighting basketball court at Zhengzhou

School takes into account the suggestion of student representatives

SE R MmN E A &

Increasingly Prominent Brand Effect of the Group and the Schools

2022 £1 Ay - REEREERE 2021 FEEMRERFE [&
Hugif] &

The Group was awarded the “Most Socially Responsible
Award (FE#4E&FTEE) " at the Global Investment Carnival
2021 by Gelonghui in January 2022

2022 £ 3 Afp - SEESBIMLHEE 2021 FESBR [HES
g NI =2

The Group was awarded the “Best Hong Kong Stock
Connect Company Award (REBKBAAEE) ”in the
Golden Hong Kong Stock Awards 2021 by Zhitong Caijing in
March 2022

2021 F 11 Afh - EELE (FEBREEAT, H R ERERBEF/\EXEER BIM EXRTAIFNABEZIRLEE
[2021 FELHAR] A% BREENENRERE SEPRREIE 100%
NP ESERRKREERZRA Central China School won many awards in the 8th Nationall

BIM Graduation Design Innovation Competition, with 100%

The Group won the “2021 Listed Company” award of o DET TEEGHNG) BeiTs Wi ing lelch

by Bloomberg Businessweek/Chinese Edition in
November 2021, demonstrating that the Group's
strength and development potential were widely
recognized by the industry and investors

9
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SCHOOL NETWORK

PR L T3S
400,000+ SR E MR ANA
< cumulatively cultivated 400,000+
VKLOOO+§$%§S high-quality technical talents

for the society

_________
~-- ~

WA
Luoyang School
------ sy M
Zhengzhou School

. dhsg
Central China School

BN AR
Guizhou School

Guangxi Schools

EHFEH Yunnan School HINEHZ Guizhou School

o EEH T R R R o BB R HY R R R

o BEARR BRI B TAES05R o BERE RSB E IR

 The first private undergraduate university * The largest private college in Guizhou Province
in Yunnan Province * Top 100 universities and colleges with typical

* Top 50 universities in national graduates employment cases recognized by the MOE

employment granted by the MOE
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SCHOOL NETWORK

-

HALEAZ Northeast School

o RATTARAL S B R B4 2058

o JRBETLA B AL U AR AR T B SR AR

o 20%5FEA IR A 50058 43

« Top 20 private universities in China for five
consecutive years

 The first batch of pilot universities for the
Excellent Engineer Education and Training

Scheme in Heilongjiang

20% of graduates employed by Fortune Global

500

[

#2245 1.uoyang School

o BB I T IRBEAR

o MR TERR+HE ) SR ARG

o A AT SRR iR

« Top 100 higher vocational education schools

 Build a “college + academy” education model

 Innovation and entrepreneurship reform
demonstration school in Henan Province

HH# 4% Gansu School

o HAE R B R

o SMEEH—THE

o ZERERREHE

 The first batch of applied technology universities
in Gansu Province

« 5 provincial first-class majors

* No.l employment rate in the province for years

1

g B Central China School

o WALV R E— RO PR AR AR

« BUF [TARGHE ] I H ZHE ) HLAL

o BAEAREERGE AR

* The only private application-oriented undergraduate
university in the west of Hubei Province

* Commissioned and targeted unit of the government’s
“Village Doctor Scheme”

* Education model of cooperative industrial colleges
with famous enterprises

BEVG 4% Guangxi Schools

o JBWIAERE R N RIS —

o BRI E A EAE T AT AL - BB
o TR Py E— 1S

* No.1of its kind in employment rate for two
consecutive years in the province

* Qutstanding unit in employment and entrepreneurship
work for graduates of general colleges, the only one
receiving the honor among its kind in five years

BRI 2% Zhengzhou School
o WREABERE - AALEE - B - BT E
[ BRSEB B R et ] FRE

o BEEETHRR

* “Featured School of Vocational Education in Henan
Province” jointly awarded by the Department of
Education, the Department of Human Resources and
Social Security, the Department of Finance and the
Development and Reform Commission of Henan
Province

* Top ten colleges with best education quality

N
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SCHOOL DESCRIPTION

= s >
Yunnan School 2 9 Top 5 O ” 2

1l 2= 1 7 - i %

o e 5 58 iEl — AR HLAL 2 2 AR SR A i
grand prizes at the secondary teaching National Employment provincial
National E-Commerce, units Award first-class majors
Challenge

EM AR E A - B S BT RIAR KR « BT R BORHAL > WREBCE AR [ B A
A SR A v A B PR 3 AR50 | S o

20214F > BRI AR T A B m A THAR SR ALBEAE - SR 1B RBORBRAEE TR TR - AR RAI%E ] bR 2
AUPRTR o BR A R UK % TR A RO A - RO MIR PR FRAG A > SRS U e N 5 — o 20214F > B
B T VA B 2 R A SRS AR RS B ) I

Yunnan School is one of the first batch of private undergraduate colleges in Southwest China and the first private
undergraduate college in Yunnan Province. The school has 9 secondary teaching units, and was awarded the honor
of “Typical Model School for National Graduate Employment and Top 50 National Employment” by the MOE.

In 2021, the school successfully hosted the National Finals of the 11th “Innovation, Creativity and Entrepreneurship”
Challenge for National University Students in E-Commerce, a top academic competition in national universities,
making it the first private school to host the competition in China and won two grand prizes in the finals, with the
number of awards and winners ranking first in the country. In 2021, the school was identified as the Employability
Training Base for National College Graduates by the MOE.

12
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Guizhou School

LN

B 4

SCHOOL DESCRIPTION

100,

T A20204F
L BIE S
Typical Cases of
Employment in 2020
recognized by the MOE

No.1

R

A4S
Leading employment
rate in Guizhou
Province

AHEITHE 2 AR RS
Plan to upgrade to
undergraduate
university

BRI
HMEH AR T
Provincial Civilized

Campus awarded by the
Education Department
of Guizhou Province

M B R R AR

B T B AR B BOR o H AT B R N A BB ROR - BRI e i R © B AR
A st BT R AR SRR o

20214F > BACRAE N A 248 m A B A MR A 3 T AR ok DI A7 B RS i B 5 ¢ SRR REECE R (2020

MR 10078 | 25 o

20214F > BAAAEHH WG AT B THACR AL BUAR G B TAGHT - AR ] KB IR 2R38 - ALHTEE - AISESE - Al
WEEEREH [RKWH] o W4 > BEPEMEBERRT [HHCCRRE ] Fk -

Guizhou School is the result of the Group’s replication of the school operation model of Yunnan School. Currently,
it has developed into a private college with the largest scale and leading employment rate in Guizhou Province. The
school is expected to be upgraded to an undergraduate vocational university.

In 2021, the representative of the school delivered a speech on typical experience in the Meeting of Graduates’
Employments and Entrepreneurship of Provincial Higher Colleges in Guizhou Province; the school was awarded the
honor of “Top 100 Typical Cases of Employment in 2020” by the MOE.

In 2021, the school won the “Grand Slam”, including the grand prize, innovation award, entrepreneurship award and
creativity award at the “Innovation, Creativity and Entrepreneurship” Competition, a top academic comprehensive
competition recognized by the MOE. In the same year, the school was awarded the “Provincial Civilized Campus” by
the Education Department of Guizhou Province.

13
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SCHOOL DESCRIPTION

HALERAR

5 A 2 O
ELEL TR i #5005
Northeast School SR A BT B A A Top n W AR E20%

JRE PR 3 Engineers: o 5] RS ke 22k 4 20% of graduates
majors were rated Excellent Engineer of Private employed by Fortune
Education and Universities Global 500

application-oriented Training Scheme in China

majors in China

s .

HALEMB BRI R L R A H AR R » PREETLA B 1 B AR A PR BRI - B0 1418 — A B LA

WG B A AT PR BE VLA B [ il TR AR 3 e At i) | OB > DR BETE A4 G P B AR R i SR 4R
BEEHETY [ZEEPGHERORR] [ 2 BIREECE 0 I R sk | W58 - 20134 > 2
FRA A B A A S AR B TAR BT RS HE - 20194F » BURBEILAZ - ABURR T [ SCWIREBEE] -

20224F - JREEANG TR - ZEE b - JCHIRES AR - A TR - R TR RS A B L5 3R AR 20224
THAME R T3 -

Northeast School is a full-time general undergraduate university approved by the MOE and the earliest private
university in Heilongjiang Province to provide undergraduate education, with 14 secondary teaching units.

Northeast School is one of the first batch of universities that provides experimental majors of the “Excellent
Engineer Education and Training Scheme” in Heilongjiang Province and a demonstration specialty cluster of
application-oriented undergraduate university with distinguishing features in Heilongjiang Province. It has been
awarded the title of “National Specialist School of National Defense Education” and “National Key Construction Base
for the Training of Professional Teachers of Vocational Education” by the MOE. In 2013, Northeast School won the
Grand Prize of Outstanding Achievements in Party Construction and ldeological and Political Education of National
Private Universities. In 2019, it was awarded the “Civilized Campus Model” by Heilongjiang Provincial Party
Committee and the Heilongjiang provincial government.

In 2022, five majors were rated as 2022 Top application-oriented majors in China, including welding technology and
engineering, transportation, automobile service engineering, communication engineering and electrical engineering
and automation.
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SCHOOL DESCRIPTION

38 B b

Central China

2 4 7 Y150

18] 455 £2 5 161
S h 1 AT gk st 148 At 1128 % — AR R AL 18 B BB ) 3 3t
C O O targeted training provincial first-class provincial first-class internship training

bases for medicine majors undergraduate DERES
talents courses

v B ORI A BT PR A H RIASRRBEAR > T B0 7MA AR B BLAL o A TR B A A B T 5 1A A 3 B e A 2l B
BUE I NA G AE o et THERIAR IR - BSRAG R - RN MAA SR > AR [ R - =S8
FEHM A - A - FUHTE - RERE ] B [ 2ok | BARAA IR > B R 2T 1M FH 20 B i 1 e
NF o

BACHEA W AR Al - EBLE - BT - E R AR IR RTM A RAR R o B L
HEERBEZ AT - WALE BT ERE WAL E [E AT RS A AR SR () =W R | HH R
M B A AN 38 B 1 5 LA o

Central China School is a full-time undergraduate university approved by the MOE, with 7 secondary teaching units.
'With in-depth school-enterprise cooperation, it has established 5 industrial colleges and 2 targeted training bases for
medicine talents. Central China School highlights its unique talent training features of “leveraging specialties,
vocational orientation and distinctive national features”, and has innovated a “full-chain” model for
application-oriented talent training featured with “general education for early stage, specialized education for later
stage, industry-education integration, excellent talent training, specialized internship and precise employment” to
cultivate novel application-oriented technical and skilled talents for the future.

Central China School has 4 provincial first-class majors, including medical laboratory technology, nursing, financial
management and accounting, and 7 provincial first-class undergraduate courses. It has been recognized by the Health
Commission of Hubei Province and the Department of Education of Hubei Province as an entrusted training unit
targeting for college students as rural doctors of Enshi Prefecture under the project of “Thousands of College Students
as Rural Doctors and the Construction of Grade-A Tertiary Hospitals for Counties (Cities)”.
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SCHOOL DESCRIPTION

AR

L S 1 ] 7 44 A1 Al
uoyang Schoo B P
- . (nnovation and Vocational Academy T
4] £ .
il — BB 5 WAL Entrepreneurship Reform Model School RMBI21 billion sales
secondary Reform Model School achieved in

y A . A e-commerce
teaching units in Henan Province promotional events

r"|

85 6 B R AT T N RIBURF I ~ BRI A S8 A A I A R SR e A - B R M AR £ - IR
B NI ORBLAESEGE ~ AURTOE > oL AT BB - W [ A LALE AR R E SR R ]
[ 6 T BB SR B A1 5 9 e WAL | S5 AR o

T B B B 2 B g R e A A S MU ) B 7 T 5 S > DR A o R R K R o ) LA PR R A SRR > R B
191 5 5556 7 7 5 2 S B e SLBUR B /98 MU AR IR BLIEL © 20214F > W BRI BB 2 B 618 ~ B 113G H) - &
BRUE AN RN 1214850 > frF1] 2B mibs o 7 i B s — o

Luoyang School is a full-time general higher vocational college approved by the People’s Government of Henan
Province and registered with the MOE. The school highly values industry-education integration and has established
the educational model of “government-school-industry-enterprise” by integration of education and talent chain with
industry and innovation chain. The school won various awards such as “Henan Province Demonstration Colleges for
Deepening Innovation and Entrepreneurship Education Reform” and “Luoyang Advanced Institutes for Occupation
and Technology Training”.

Luoyang School has established the largest e-commerce major among higher vocational colleges in China. lt has also
established the first industrial college of credit-based livestream e-commerce among higher vocational colleges in
China, becoming the first cross-border e-commerce industry college cooperating with the government to implement
a comprehensive bonded zone in the country. In 2021, the E-Commerce College of Luoyang School participated in
618 on JD.com and Double 11 online promotional event with sales of RMBI2.1 billion, ranking the first among the
e-commerce major of colleges and universities nationwide.
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SCHOOL DESCRIPTION

UL

. N ét)“ NE
Guangxi Schools 1 . 500. it No.1 9
Fii A= 4% 558 3556 8 48 Uk 5 Outstanding unit in EE[&?&'E%H—; —y o
. a\\ifdgs ?n%f]giz* er:lsloyme%\t ar:d ER i — AR LA

competitions for teachers entrepreneurship employment rate of secondary

and students work for graduates graduates in Guangxi teaching units
Province

Jo B A AR  VGSEI 1 ¥ [A \ ERBORF LY~ ORI SR A 2 ) R SRR B AR o

i W A 2,02 1 47 Ji A4 1t 3 R S Y ST VR I IR S E A 5 — 5 (AR M G LR 11 VR L At 3 T 2% oy B 7 25 S AR 0
VG LR B R I U R A P AR N M — — SRR o AR IIIE H 2518 0 20214315183 [ 1+X ] &M
BEGREE - T BEAGHESTE o Fill A RG2S SE L 2E > SO R AR SETE 32 > B ARBETE 100 o

Guangxi Schools are full-time general higher vocational colleges approved by the People’s Government of Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region and registered with the MOE.

[n terms of the final employment rate of 2021 graduates, Guangxi Schools ranked the first among similar schools in
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region. [n the same year, Guangxi Schools was awarded the title of Outstanding Unit
of Employment in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, which is the only school awarded among similar schools in
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region within 5 years. The school has 25 pilot training programs for certificates. In
2021, it gained 18 “1+X” certificate system pilots and 8 municipal-level projects. Teachers and students actively
participated in professional competitions and won 32 national awards and 110 provincial awards.
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SCHOOL DESCRIPTION

HEiEm

Gansu School

1 5 5 N40.000

W

mgéﬁwg i
115 90 78 0 B 5 B o 3¢ T W61 R LR £ 6 A A

o g Aprovincial . application-oriented
provincial key provincial first-class experimental teaching engineering and
laboratory majors demonstration Yoo oS
centers

P

Hl A (R BN B TR TR ) B MRt B or 9 2 H I ARRLBE AR » b H il 48 41t e P g K 22 g
R - BRERE AT AMERBME - BHESE - 360MM K2 - MY ZRE - FRATY
HES AR - B L AR NLE A ARG S ©

B B B RO ML A L - AR TR R A LS A W - B RBEST - R B4 A
B WRRER - ol A TRE TR MR A 8 AR TR - R BT A B AL O G R A AR R B O

o

Gansu School (formerly known as College of Technology and Engineering) is a full-time undergraduate university
approved by the MOE and one of the first batch of pilot universities for transformation and development of applied
technology universities in Gansu Province. Gansu School focuses on school-enterprise partnership to work in
coordination to educate and jointly foster outstanding talents and the industry-education integration. It has
established several industry colleges, including Huawei Cloud, 360 Network Security, Suzhou Smart Manufacturing
and Chinasoft Artificial Intelligence, with the employment rate of graduates ranking among the top of undergraduate
universities in Gansu Province for consecutive years.

Gansu School has 5 provincial first-class majors, including design and manufacture of machinery and automation,
electric engineering and automation, in addition to 4 provincial first-class courses, including electric power system
analysis and structural mechanics. The Internet of Things Engineering Laboratory has been approved as a provincial
key laboratory and the Electrical Control and Automation Laboratory has been approved as a provincial teaching
demonstration center.
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Zhengzhou School is a general higher vocational college approved by the People’s Government of Henan Province
and registered with the MOE, with 7 secondary teaching units.

Zhengzhou School is one of the top ten schools winning social satisfaction in higher education quality in Henan
Province and a high-quality school in the education industry of Central China in 2020. It has 4 majors listed in
projects of featured school of provincial-wide vocational education, including big data and accounting, with the
employment rate over 98% for three consecutive years.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present to the
Shareholders the annual results report of the Group as of
31 August 2022. | would like to express my heartfelt thanks
to all Shareholders for their frust and support to New Higher
Education Group.

New Higher Education Group has been deeply engaged
in the higher vocational education for 23 years. It has
always been committing to the mission of “Striving for
the career achievements and life happiness of students”,
abiding by ifs corporate social responsibility, creating
value for students, employers, government, faculfies,
partners, investors and other stakeholders, advocating
the core values of “Student-oriented, Contributor-driven
and Putting organization’s interests first”, upholding the
education philosophy of “strengthening morality through
education, teaching students according to their apfitude,
and studying for the sake of application”, actively adapting
to the new requirements of high-quality development of
higher vocational education, vigorously implementing the
high-quality fransformation and development strategy
and striving fo make confributions fo the high-quality
development of national economy and society.
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In the past year, we unwaveringly followed the path
of high-quality development, and strengthened the
connotation construction of faculty, teaching and research,
employment and entrepreneurship, fraining conditions,
student experience, campus environment and social
services. In particular, we focused on the precise investment
in teaching, employment, and service experience with high
attention of students and teachers. The talent cultivation
capability was comprehensively improved, services and
education were integrated into all aspects, the brand
benefit was continuously improved, the strength of
school operatfion was significantly enhanced, and all the
scheduled goals were successfully accomplished. On this
basis, we achieved steady growth in results (24.6% year-
on-year increase in total revenue and 16.4% year-on-year
increase in adjusted net profit attributable to owners of the
parent) with a dividend payout ratio of 50% and a dividend
yield of 9.3% (on 25 November 2022). It can be said that
the pace of high-quality development of the Group is
becoming more stable, and the high-quality precise
investment continues fo make new achievements of high-
quality development, which are mainly reflected in the
following three aspects.

21

N

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED « ANNUAL REPORT 2022



()

ESViE S

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

—EMAHBRERA  HEHBKFEZESE -
BREINBERPL] BRBHBEREEER
BIAR | o 20224 - FAPIHF B 0 KB & AR A
SEFESBMEBMALIERI% SIEREE
550% F AN AV HAD - A A NS BB IS FIS008R K
ENREHZEE UBRY AB2&EL
BTEZ - BRAMB2ABYRELE: RAEDE
HEe BREFBR4E ARITERLH
X EReNERANINEIE M FEMNKE
BHEERRRA OAAR BRI E7EE R —
MEX SEERBERXAE2022PHARERR
Ex FHEEREZEEABRELHBLE
BEHBEAFHEBAEHAR  FEIEAR—R
RERERRE ERHBAEBREERTHE
BREAZIMBEBEKFEMNHRERE KL HEH
HEDBREH-TEARBLIE : EAREHER

ERETR ERNSHEBXILREHZESE
RIEER - W E ZMBPTFA -

Firstly, we increased precise investment in teaching
and significantly improved the level of education and
teaching. We adhered to "Student-oriented” and always
took teaching as the “root” of the Group's development.
In 2022, we continued to increase investment in faculty,
with a 31% year-on-year increase in the number of teachers
with high academic qualifications and professional fitles,
infroduced and frained more than 550 double-qualified
teachers, and organized more than 500 internal and
external trainings; we attached great importance to the
classroom teaching quality, organizing nearly thousands of
front-line teachers of the Group to participate in wonderful
classroom competitions fo promotfe teaching level;, we
deeply promoted the integration of industry and education,
establishing 47 industrial colleges, opening 167 employment
classes for famous enterprises and building 842 on-campus
and off-campus training bases; we contfinued to increase
investment in the building of advantageous majors. Four
undergraduate schools newly set up seven provincial
first-class majors, five advantageous majors were selected
as China's top application-oriented majors in 2022, and
the advantageous majors of Luoyang School were selected
as the first batch of pilots of the Sino-German Advanced
Vocational Education of the Ministry of Education; three
provincial first-class courses and excellent courses were
newly set up, and seven international-level pre-school
education courses were jointly built with the Snow
Laboratory of Harvard Graduate School of Education; and
40 projects successfully applied for the Supply-Demand
Matching Career Development Project of the Ministry
of Education; we implemented the project of quality
enhancement and excellence in education and teaching,
and took the lead in setting up teaching quality assurance
department in private higher education group, which was
set up in 8 colleges and universities.
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Our students won 22 natfional top awards in 56 top
comprehensive academic competitions, hitting a record
high; and students won 2,871 awards at the provincial
level or above, representing a year-on-year increase of
220%; and we made great efforts to improve the teaching
environment, investing RMB235 million in the consfruction/
renovation of experimental training rooms, and the
upgrading of classroom desks and chairs, computers, smart
blackboards and other teaching facilities. The significant
achievements that we made to improve the teaching and
education level have strengthened our determination
fo continue to increase investment in feaching, and we
position the new year as the "Year of Teaching Quality
Improvement”.
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Secondly, we increased precise investment in employment
and high-quality employment was tightly rooted in the
sunrise industries. We adhered to the “Student-oriented”
and the “sustainable high-quality employment” orientation.
This year, given that the total number and increment of
college graduates across the country reached a record
high, the Group thoroughly implemented the strategy of
giving priority to employment, effectively overcame the
dual impacts of the COVID-19 epidemic and the severe
employment sifuations, comprehensively implemented
the project of visiting enterprises to expand jobs led
by principals, and relied on three employment service
centers in the Yangtze River Delta, the Pearl River Delta
and the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Region to ensure high-quality
employment of students; and the Group confinuously
sfrengthened the construction of employment teams,
deepened cooperation with employment service platforms,
improved the quality of employment services, and carried
out more than 50 group-wide employment/education
guidance, so as to continuously improve the
competitiveness of our students. The final employment
rate reached 98% for two consecutive years, and the initial
employment rate reached 89% as of 31 August 2022, higher
than the average of the nationwide level. On the basis of
full employment, the Group contfinued to emphasize high-
quality employment and focused on sunrise industries.
The number of graduates employed in sunrise industries
increased by 45% year-on-year, the rate of high-quality
employment increased by 187% year-on-year, and the
number of graduates employed in famous companies such
as Huawei, SF Express and Tesla, which are among Fortune
Global 500, the top 100 companies in China and A-shares
listed companies continued to increase. Among them,
the number of graduates from Gansu School employed in
famous companies reached 21.4% of the total number of
graduates from Gansu School.
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Thirdly, we increased precise investment in school life and
integrated services and education into various aspects. To
adhere to “Student-oriented”, we must keep students’ needs
coming first, and attach great importance to the student-
teacher experience. We improved students’ experience
fo help them learn, live and grow in a better way. We
improved faculties’ experience to facilitate them to better
serve students. In 2022, the Group has made “enhancing
the overall students’ and teachers’ experience” as the
main line of our effort throughout the year, established a
students’ and teachers’ experience department, precisely
invested in the aspects that students and tfeachers pay most
aftention to, and conducted solid and delicate works. We
renovated student apartments, equipped with full-coverage
hardware, such as washing machines and air conditioners
that students pay most attention to. We invested a total
of RMBI110 million with three major telecom operators
to accelerate the upgrade of 5G and Wi-Fi equipment,
increased the internet speed of campus network, achieved
full coverage of campus signals, and significantly improved
students’ experience of using the network. Meanwhile, we
motivated students to participate in the development and
construction of their schools by building the “Principal’s
Reception Day” into a special campaign for each school
to improve students’ and teachers' experience, and
established the Student Experience Committee with more
than 600 students making suggestions on the development
of their schools. The work system for students’ and teachers’
experience has been preliminarily formed. It has not only
been recognized by the students and teachers, but also
won the attenftion and full affirmation of the government
and education authorities.
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In economic tfransformation and development, science
and technology are the key, talent is the foundation and
education is fundamental. The report of the 20th Party
Congress pointed out “the construction of a high-quality
education system” with overall arrangement for the “trinity”
of education, science and technology, and talents, which
sent a clearer policy signal that education must move
towards high-quality development. It also injected strong
momentum into our high-quality development. To provide
high-level vocational education, we should not only
recognize that we have much tfo do and a long way to go,
but also accelerate the pace of development, strive to
create a new situation of high-quality transformation and
development for the Group, and become a model of high-
quality development of private education and a contributor
fo the construction of a high-quality education system.

Going forward, we are determined to provide education
that saftisfies the people by adhering to student-oriented
and confributor-driven to win respect from students
for high-quality feaching, employment and service
experience, win respect from employers for graduates with
excellent vocational competence and good vocational
qualification, win respect from faculties for competitive
compensatfion package, good work experience and
attractive career development prospects, win respect
from competent authorities for innovative education
model and standardized school operation, win respect
from cooperation units for win-win, honest and friendly
cooperation models and win respect from investors for
consistent and solid returns.

New Higher Education Group has increasingly become a
top-performing utilities stock featuring with sufficient cash
flow, solid investment returns and high dividends payout
and high safety margin. While increasing investment and
developing with high-quality, the Group is confident to
maintain long-term steady growth of performance and
maintain high dividend payout ratfio, actively reward
investors who have supported us for a long fime, create
sustainable and solid investment returns for investors, and
achieve win-win results with investors in the long run.

China New Higher Education Group Limited
Chairman

Li Xiaoxuan

28 November 2022
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HIGHLIGHTS

The Group adheres to “Student-oriented”, and
unwaveringly follows the path of high-quality
development. Guided by high-quality tfeaching,
high-quality faculty, high-quality service experience,
high-quality employment and high-quality campus
environment, the Group strives for the career
achievements and life happiness of students,
continues to cultivate high-quality technical talents
for the economic and social development, and
provides education that satisfies the people.

The Group adheres to the foundation of strengthening
morality through education, focusing development
supportfing, and the orientation of high-quality
employment; attaches great importance fo the
student-teacher experience, and continues to
increase investment in feaching, employment,
and school life with high attention of students and
teachers experiences. The level of education and
teaching has been continuously enhanced; the
Group pays close attention to the latest industry
trends including “industry + information”, “industry +
arfificial intelligence” and “medicine + big data”, to
realize the high-quality employment; and the Group'’s
services and education cover the whole process of
talent cultivation. The satisfaction of studentfs and
teachers has been improved significantly; the brand
effect has become increasingly prominent; and high-
quality development has created new achievement.

The Group always adheres to the development
orientation of "building a high-level application-
oriented colleges and vocational and technical
university”, and comprehensively improves the quality
of talent training. The Group has deepened the
infegration of industry and education and school-
enterprise cooperation to jointly cultivate talents, and
has actively carried out in-depth cooperation with top
enterprises and high-quality educational resources,
such as establishing a high-quality industrial college
in cooperation with scientific research institutes for the
first fime, and striving to build world-class experimental
training laboratories. The Group improves the design of
integrated lessons featuring the synergy between school
and enterprises, and accelerates the establishment of
a channel between the supply and demand for talent
culfivation, so as to promote the integration of industry
and education, set up educational standards and
curriculum system which are available for duplication
and promotion, and explore a new pattern and a new
path for the cultivation of high-quality technical talents
in the new era.
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The Group has obtained remarkable achievements
in majors and courses construction. Seven provincial
first-class majors and three provincial first-class
courses and excellent courses were newly added.
Five advantageous majors were selected as China's
top application-oriented majors in 2022, and the
mechanical manufacturing and automation majors
of Luoyang School were selected as the first batch
of pilots of the Sino-German Advanced Vocational
Education of the Ministry of Education.

Awards received by the students creating
new remarkable achievements in high-quality
development. Our students have won 22 national
tfop awards in 56 top comprehensive discipline
competitions recognized by the Ministry of Education,
hitting a record high.

As of 31 December 2021, the final employment rate
of the Group reached 98%, reaching the high level of
98% for two consecutive years; as of 31 August 2022,
the initial employment rate reached 89%, higher than
the average of the nationwide level. The Group has
thoroughly implemented the employment priority
strategy, increased employment investment, and
strengthened the construction of employment team.
Through a series of new measures such as providing
vocational guidance lessons and practical fraining
to improve employment capabilities, the Group
promotes the professional connection between
policy, school, industry and enterprise as well as
the integrated and deep cohesion of theory and
practice, to support high-end industries, resulting
in the confinuous improvement of development
capabilities of high-end industries and fthe steady
enhancement of employment competitiveness and
employment quality of our students.

For the academic year of 2022/2023, the total number
of enrolled students at the Group's schools amounted
to 140,535. The number of new students recorded a
stable increase; the student structure has been further
optimized; and the Group's high-quality development
strategy has been steadily implemented.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Group is a leading higher vocational education group
focusing on higher vocational education for 23 years which
first put forward and propelled the school operation model
of an application-oriented university. As at 31 August 2022,
the Group's schools covered various regions of China,
cumulatively cultivating over 400,000 high-quality technical
and skilled talents for the society. As a leader of high-quality
employment, the schools of the Group have been awarded
the “Top 50 National Employment (£ Bl &t % T{E5038) " by
the Ministry of Education, with an average employment rate
of approximately 98%, and the employment rate of each
school receiving top ranking from all provinces and regions.

BUSINESS ADVANTAGES

The Group adheres to “Student-oriented”, focuses on the
student-teacher experience, and continues to increase
investment in teaching, employment, school life and other
aspects that students are most concerned about, so as to
create good learning experience, employment experience,
life experience and service experience for students and
teachers. The Group has obtained important achievements
in high-quality development strategy.

CONTINUOUS STRENGTHENING OF CONNOTATION
CONSTRUCTION WITH SIGNIFICANT ENHANCEMENT
OF EDUCATION AND TEACHING LEVEL

(1) Strengthening the investment in connotation
construction to fully support high-quality
development of colleges and universities

The Group has contfinued fo increase investment in
teacher costs. The Group has confinued to improve
the remuneration of department heads and other
professional leaders, and the salaries of core positions
reached the top competitive level in all provinces. The
Group confinuously infroduced industry experts and
double-qualified teachers to increase the proportion
of teachers with high academic qualifications and
professional titles. The Group further strengthened
internal and external training, and organized external
experts and internal tfraining for over 530 times.
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The Group has continued fo increase investment
in education spaces. The Group has continued fo
upgrade experimental fraining rooms and smart
classrooms, efc., such as Central China School Huawei
Cloud Kunpeng Industry Education Integration Base,
Guizhou School Big Health Virtual Simulation Training
Room and 26 new smart classrooms in Guangxi
Schools, achieving a leading level of teaching
facilities and equipment in China.

The Group has continued to increase investment
in the cloud teaching platform. The Group fully
upgraded the function of teaching diary, and real-
fimely monitors the teaching process to ensure
that the quality of teaching and learning has been
enhanced. During the Reporting Period, the cloud
teaching platform has over 3.4 billion clicks in fotal,
and 17 cloud textbooks have been published, one
of which was selected info the textbooks for the 14th
Five Year Plan.

The Group has continued to increase investment
in advantageous majors. The Group and Snow
Laboratory of Harvard Graduate School of Education
shared online and offline teaching resources, and
jointly built seven international-level pre-school
education courses to form a high-level talent fraining
model integrating feaching, learning and research.
The Group and Xi'an Jiaotong-Liverpool University
jointly built advantageous majors to support high-
quality development strategies from the aspects of
education objectives and employee empowerment,
etc. based on the international cerfification
of business majors and engineering education
certification of engineering majors.
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(1)

Focusing on the teaching with remarkable
achievement in majors and courses construction

The Group always attaches importance to the
classroom teaching quality. The Group organized
all front-line teachers of the Group to participate
in wonderful classroom competitions to promote
the improvement of teaching level. During the
Reporting Period, the Group’s schools added seven
provincial first-class majors and three provincial
first-class courses and excellent courses. Five
advantageous majors, including welding technology
and engineering, automobile service engineering,
transportation, communication engineering,
electrical engineering and automation, were
selected as 2022 top application-oriented majors
in China. The Group and strategy scientists in the
“Touyan Team” project group in Heilongjiang
Province jointly built advantageous majors with the
same standards as Project 985. The mechanical
manufacturing and automation major of Luoyang
School has been selected into the first batch of pilotf
universities of the Sino-German Advanced Vocational
Education of the Ministry of Education. The Group
closely follows the construction strategies of New
Engineering, New Medicine, New Agriculture and
New Arts fo comprehensively improve the quality of
talent training. For example, the Northeast School
successfully applied for the topic of “Exploration and
Practice of School-enterprise Co-operative Education
Model for Welding Technology and Engineering in the
Context of New Engineering”.

The teaching quality has been recognized by the
state and society, and the top national competition
awards have reached a new high in history. The
students of the Group have won 22 national
top awards in 56 top comprehensive discipline
competitions, hitting a record high. Yunnan School
ranked first in Yunnan Province in the “National
Undergraduate Competition List of Newly Built
Undergraduate Colleges” in terms of the number of
competition awards, and the capability to operate
schools with high quality was significantly enhanced.
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(1)

(1v)

Continvously upgrading the integration of industry
and education and closely connecting with sunrise
industries

The Group has always focused on the national
strategy, closely connected with the sunrise industries,
and vigorously promoted the integration of industry
and education. The Group has built high-quality
industrial colleges on the platform of industrial
colleges jointly built by schools and enterprises, and
newly added 5 Global 500 industrial colleges. In
addition to famous enterprises, the Group cooperated
with scienfific research institutes for the first fime in
the construction of industrial colleges. For example,
through jointly building Harbin Welding Institute
Industrial College with Harbin Welding Institute that
ranks the second in the world, the Group cultivates
application-oriented talents who can meet the needs
of industry and post development and have the
ability of industry growth and career development
potential.

Synchronizing quality assurance and teaching, and
forming a closed loop for connotation construction

The Group has a dedicated teaching quality
assurance organization to assess the teaching
quality. The Group has built an information platform
for monitoring and evaluating the quality of
education and teaching, and carried out major
quality evaluation, course quality evaluation,
classroom teaching and learning quality evaluation
and employment quality evaluation according
to the requirements of the competent education
department. In particular, as the only private
university project, the “Monitoring and Analysis of
Talent Training Quality in Private Higher Vocational
Colleges of China” project of the Group was
approved as one of the top ten key projects of the
China Association for Non-Government Education
for the year. Other project units are well-known
universities and top educational research institutions
such as Peking University, Beijing Normal University
and National Institute of Education Sciences.
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EMPLOYMENT IS TIGHTLY ROOTED IN THE SUNRISE
INDUSTRIES, AND THE EMPLOYMENT RATE REACHED
98% FOR TWO CONSECUTIVE YEARS

It is the Group’s long-term strategic goal of “helping every
student to get a high-quality job"”. The Group has been
strengthening the construction of employment teams,
increasing employment investment, and focusing on the
sunrise industries including digital creativity, biotechnology,
new energy automobile, new generation information
technology, and high-end equipment manufacturing.
The Group has joined hands with the Central Committee,
Zhaopin (& Bt 48 B8), and Shixiseng (& & &) to provide
more than 300,000 jobs for our graduates, continued to
develop the core function of employment service in the
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei center, the Pearl River Delta center
and the Yangtze River Delta center (“Three Centers”),
and proactively invited experts to provide guidance on
career and further education to all graduates of the
Group's schools, so to continuously improve students’
competitiveness and employment quality.

The Group’s employment results continued to be impressive.
The final employment rate as of 31 December 2021 reached
98%, and the employment rate was 98% for two consecutive
years. The employment rate of each school received top
ranking in all provinces, of which the employment rate of
Gansu School and Guangxi Schools ranked the first among
similar schools in its province. The initial employment rate
as of 31 August 2022 reached 89%, higher than the national
average. The high quality employment rate increased by
187% year-on-year, 23% of the high quality employment was
in famous companies such as Huawei, SF Express and Tesla,
which are among the top 500 companies in the world, the
top 100 companies in China and A-shares listed companies.
The schools of the Group were awarded 40 projects under
the Supply-Demand Matching Career Development Project
of the Ministry of Education, and our Guizhou School
was selected as the “Typical Case of Employment and
Entrepreneurship for Graduates of National Universities” by
the Ministry of Education, and it was the only university in
Guizhou province to be selected.
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FOCUSING ON HIGH-QUALITY DEVELOPMENT
STRATEGY, STUDENTS’ AND TEACHERS' EXPERIENCE
WORK WAS CARRIED OUT THROUGHOUT THE YEAR

The Group has made “enhancing the overall students’
and teachers’ experience” the main line of our effort
throughout the year, practiced the value of “Student-
oriented” from top to bottom, established a students’ and
teachers’ experience department, focused on areas of
high concern for students and teachers, and continued to
increase investment in students’ and teachers’ experience.
The Group has continued to upgrade classroom desks
and chairs, computers, smart blackboards, and others,
and effectively improved the teaching infrastructure; and
accelerated the upgrade of campus network technology,
increased the internet speed of campus network, achieved
full coverage of campus signals, and significantly improved
students’ experience of using the network. The Group has
also further renovated student apartments, equipped with
full-coverage hardware, and continuously improved the
student accommodation environment; and set up the “Staff
House” to enhance staff welfare and protect the personal
interests of staff.

In addition, the Group's schools motivated students
and teachers to participate in the development and
construction of their schools. During the Reporting Period,
the schools of the Group launched the “lI do something
practical for students and teachers” campaign, established
the "Student Experience Committee”, organized the
“Principal’'s Reception Day”, achieved 80 great things and
implemented 227 student opinions. The overall improvement
of students’ and teachers’ experience has been recognized
and supported by the students and teachers. The Group
has conducted experience satisfaction surveys for three
consecutive years, and the students’ and teachers’
satisfaction level contfinues to increase. The students’ and
teachers’ experience work of each school was highly
evaluated by its higher authorities; and our Gansu School
actively practiced “doing practical things for the public”
and paid close aftention to the sfudents’ and fteachers’
experience, which was commended by the Department of
Education.
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&

E THE BRAND EFFECT OF OUR SCHOOLS IS
INCREASINGLY PROMINENT AND HIGHLY

RECOGNIZED BY THE SOCIETY

The Group has achieved remarkable results in quality
development. The brand effect of our schools is increasingly
prominent and highly recognized by the authorities, the
society and the industry. The following table shows the
representative recognitions or awards of each school:

it

RA K EIE
Recognition or Award

BETERBEXNEBEREZELHBERBEE -
The standard of admissions work was praised by Yang Chuncheng (15 & #) , Party
Secretary of the Provincial Examination and Recruitment Institute.

MEIEREEBIREE  ERXLERITRYEBAEEHERIEAT -

The employment work was praised by Minister Huai Jinpeng (IZ # ), and the
graduates were evaluated as typical of university students’ employment and
entrepreneurship by the Ministry of Education.

B FR5008 P EFANR0QIFEEFEGIESNM] -
Awarded "Excellent Cooperation Unit of 2021"” by the world’s top 500 enterprises.

BEZF \EXESRBMEERFAFTAELZEREIE 28RO EREKI00% °
Won many awards in the 8th National BIM Graduation Design Innovatfion
Competition, with 100% of the participating feams winning awards.

ANBHEHRPRLEBREHESFREEHAREREE  A2BEE-ABRRER -
Selected as the first batch of pilot schools for the Sino-German Advanced
Vocational Education Cooperation Project by the Ministry of Education, and is the
only private school in China to be selected.

HEETFUNEEBEANAGSERNM 2B GNEERMBEERERNE -

Participated in the Blue Bridge Cup National Soffware and Information Technology
Professional Competition as the champion of the provincial competition for five
consecutive years.

EHRHEABHRZEKRER ARERTEFLOHEE  ARAHBRRIBEFHEALE -
Awarded the fitle of provincial-level teaching team, provincial-level experimental
demonstration center, and established provincial-level feaching achievement
cultivation project.

ERAHEH - LR REMMTEESCEXARIMMERERE] -

Conducted "Basic Cloud Classroom for Resistance Materials” for leading enterprises
in the resistance materials industry such as Sinosteel Luonai (F /& fi¥) and Beijing Lier
(L RFER) .
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CONTINUOUS OPTIMIZATION OF STUDENT STRUCTURE
AND STEADY IMPLEMENTATION OF HIGH-QUALITY
DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

For the academic year of 2022/2023, the total number
of enrolled students at the Group's schools amounted to
140,535. The number of new students recorded a stable
increase; the student structure was further optimized; and
the Group's high-quality development strategy has been
steadily implemented.

Encouraged by a series of national vocational education
policies including the report of the 20th Party Congress and
the "Opinions on Promoting the High-quality Development
of Modern Vocational Education” ({8 5 #E &) 3/ K B % %
EmEE%EMNE R)) recently, the Group will continue to
set sustainable and high-quality development as its base,
create and provide high-quality vocational education
opportunities with high quality teaching, high quality
employment and high-quality experience for more
students, and cultivate more talents equipped with quality
techniques and skills to provide talent support for the
coordinated regional development strategies and make our
contribution to the construction of high-quality education
system.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

FAVORABLE AND STABLE NATIONAL POLICY, AND
GREAT POTENTIAL ON DEVELOPMENT OF PRIVATE
HIGHER VOCATIONAL EDUCATION

In October 2022, the report of the 20th Party Congress
pointed out “insisting on the priority development of
education”, "accelerating the construction of an education
power”, “accelerating the construction of a high-quality
education system”, “providing education that satisfies the
people”, and “implementing the strategy of giving priority
to employment”. The Group will always adhere to the
strategy of high-quality development, insist on connotation
construction, take “helping every student to get a high-
quality job” as its long-term strategic goal, strengthen the
construction of employment team, and actively implement
the "Customized Training Program for Famous Enterprises”,
so as fo contribute to the high-quality development of
higher vocational education.
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The new Vocational Education Law, which came info effect
on 1 May 2022, for the first time clearly staftes in law that
vocational education enjoys the same importance as
general education; supports the extensive participation
of social forces in vocational education; encourages,
guides and supports enterprises and other social forces
tfo organize vocational schools and vocational training
institutions in accordance with the law; and encourages
entferprises to deeply participate in the integration of
industry and education and cooperation of schools and
enterprises. In February 2022, the Ministry of Education
announced the focus of vocational education in 2022,
clearly supports vocational education and the private
higher education sector. In October 2021, the “Opinions
on Promoting the High-quality Development of Modern
Vocational Education” was published, which clearly
supports and encourages listed companies and industry
leaders to organize vocational education, and encourages
applied undergraduate schools to develop vocational
undergraduate education. The Group will continue
to benefit from the favorable policies on vocational
education.

PERSEVERANCE IN THE “THREE SUSTAINABILITY",
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT CAN BE EXPECTED

(1) Continve to pursue high-quality development and
focus on endogenous development

The Group has always insisted on being a long-term
runner in the higher vocational education industry.
The Group will continue to increase its investment
and steadfastly follow the path of high-quality
development supported by national policies, so as to
create and provide high-quality vocational education
opportunities with high quality teaching, high quality
employment and high-quality experience for students
of all our schools.
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(1)

(1)

Strengthen the attributes of a top-performing utilities
stock to continue to generate stable returns

The Group has the attributes of a top-performing
utilities stock in Hong Kong: stable performance
growth, solid investment returns, sufficient cash flow,
high safety margin and stable dividends payout.
In the future, the Group will continue to be a
government-supported higher vocational education
group with long-term sustainability and high-quality
development, so to achieve a win-win situation with
investors in the long run.

Continve to implement the concept of “Student-
oriented” and provide education that satisfies the
people

In the face of the new development stage and
new development pattern of higher education, the
Group will follow the frends closely, insist on the
concept of “Student-oriented”, steadily carry on
high-quality development, and will be committed
to the philosophy of “strengthening morality through
education, feaching students according to their
aptitude, and studying for the sake of application”,
with the mission of “striving for students’ career
success and happiness in life”, and provide the
society with high quality technically skilled talents
with innovative spirit and practical ability, frustworthy
and social responsibility. We will create more value for
the society, and provide education that satisfies the
people.
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The financial results for the year ended 31 August 2022 and

RN the same period of last year are as follows:
BETHABLEE
Year ended
20224 8H31H 20214 8H31H
31 August 31 August
2022 2021
AREBER ARKEBEET &
RMB million RMB million Change
(%)
B AA Total revenueh 2,262.5 1,815.5 +24.6%
PN Revenue 1,921.7 1,497.5 +28.3%
FERAR Cost of sales 1171.3 830.3 +41.1%
ER Gross profit 750.4 667.2 +12.5%
Hip iz ks Other income and gains 340.8 318.0 +7.2%
HERD AL Selling and distribution expenses 28.7 20.2 +42.1%
TBAY Administrative expenses 87.7 84.7 +3.5%
HiFx Other expenses 112.5 60.3 +86.6%
BMEK A Finance costs 14.7 142.1 -19.3%
B %% A0 % A PROFIT BEFORE TAX 747.6 677.9 +10.3%
FEREL Income tax expense 117.4 86.1 +36.4%
FFE Net profit 630.2 591.8 +6.5%
KABFRE Adjusted net profitt 671.2 591.8 +13.4%
5 8FHE Net profit attributable to owners
of the parent 620.0 567.8 +9.2%
BRERIFAB Adjusted net profit attributable to owners
of the parent* 661.0 567.8 +16.4%
A AU A= A+H U g 2 4 5 A Total revenue = revenue + other income and gains

# KB BENE= 20228 FFHH A R®6302 F
BETINEETREERELEBRXARELHO
BETT

* KRABEEFNE= 2020 FBRFFFABEAR  *
B0 0B B ME X THRBEERE KB LA
REMN0EE T

Adjusted net profit = net profit of RMB4630.2 million for FY2022
plus exchange loss of RMB41.0 million arising from the USD
syndicated loans

Adjusted net profit attributable to owners of the parent =
net profit attributable to owners of the parent of RMB620.0
million for FY2022 plus exchange loss of RMB41.0 million
arising from the USD syndicated loans

39

N

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED « ANNUAL REPORT 2022



LN

B B i B0 A
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

A

BE202248A31ALFE AEERABAR
1921 7B 8T BREFRHPNHARK497.58
BITiEm283% TEHRAR()HENSEHENRN
BMAER - RESBBRANEEERARTE R
RRQFBEEEELHBEY HRER X
MNEBRBER

-5 N

H E2022F8A3IHIEFE - AEBEHETENK
BARBINIIZEE L REXFRBEHARE
830.3E BT MAI%  TEHR (1) AEES S
RARANEEBREEREESERAL - NEAS

BHER REBBIRMN: QQAXAEEHRFEE
ML -E BLEBRFARERRA HB

HEKAREFRIEN52.7% : R (3)HABER -
WM ERPEE -

EMNRERNR

B E2022F8A3IALFE  AEEBEN/AR
K7504B8 B REFREHAHARK72EE
TLIENN12.5% ° E £ 20229 8A31H L FER EF|
K139.0% WEFRBMOENKL44.6% [[ET5.6
EE H AETRIZHNRAEEEFNRN
BEREE  MAATMHER A iR ERK
AWEREBERNTIERANIEERE  USEERX
MBERREEEAARARANEERETREAR -

REVENUE

The Group's revenue reached RMB1,921.7 million for the year
ended 31 August 2022, increased by 28.3% as compared to
RMB1,497.5 million for the same period of last year, which
was mainly attributable to (1) steady growth of revenue from
tuition fees and boarding fees driven by continuous high
quality connotation development; and (2) the consolidation
of financial statements of Gansu School and Zhengzhou
School as continuing to leverage the advantages of
centralized school operation.

COST OF SALES

The Group's cost of sales was RMB1,171.3 million for the year
ended 31 August 2022, increased by 41.1% as compared
to RMB830.3 million for the same period of last year, which
was primarily due to (1) each school of the Group devoted
great effort to the infroduction of subjects and majors for
cultivating high-end tfalents, strengthening talent echelon
construction and improvement of benefits for staff; (2) the
Group continued to increase its investment in connotation
construction such as teaching, employment, and students’
experience, and such teaching cost increased by 52.7% as
compared with the same period of last year; and (3) the
consolidation of financial statements of Gansu School and
Zhengzhou School.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

The Group’s gross profit was RMB750.4 million for the year
ended 31 August 2022, increased by 12.5% as compared
fo RMBé67.2 million for the same period of last year. The
gross profit margin for the year ended 31 August 2022 was
39.0%, representing a decrease of 5.6 percentage points
as compared fto the gross profit margin of 44.6% for the
same period of last year. The decrease was mainly due
to the Group’'s adherence to connotation development
stfrategy and fthe increased investment in talents and
teaching. As such, the growth of revenue for current stage
was tfemporarily lower than the growth of cost of sales. The
development strategy based on high quality will lay a solid
foundation for future organic growth.
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OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

The Group's other income and gains reached RMB340.8
million for the year ended 31 August 2022, increased by
7.2% as compared fo RMB318.0 million of last year, which
was mainly due to (1) the integration of ifs training resources
accumulated over the years and the exploration of best
practices to actively provide training services for vocational
skills improvement to the society and students; service
income increased by 22.0% year-on-year; (2) leveraging
the advantages of centralized school operatfion, the
logistics service model was continuously replicated and
the commercial layout was improved, contributing to an
increase in logistics revenue; rental income increased
by 20.4% year-on-year; and (3) the decrease in revenue
from the school-enterprise cooperation due to the closed
management model adopted by the schools in response to
the pandemic prevention and control.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

The Group's selling and distribution expenses were RMB28.7
million for the year ended 31 August 2022, increased by
42.1% as compared to RMB20.2 million for the same period
of last year. This increase was primarily attributable to (1)
increased investment in new media with full expansion
of new media matrix and the confinuous strengthening
of the Group and school branding; (2) the consolidation
of financial statements of Gansu School and Zhengzhou
School. The expenses accounted for approximately 1.3% of
the Group's total revenue for the Reporting Period, which
was basically the same with historical level.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses were RMB87.7 million
for the year ended 31 August 2022, increased by 3.5% as
compared to RMB84.7 million for the same period of last
year. This is primarily because (1) the Group has engaged
professional institutions to carry out deep cooperation
and explore centralized school operation model and
governance system, high-end talents introduction and
increase investment in organization development,
leadership enhancement and performance management
which support the Group’s high-quality development;
and (2) the Group has engaged professional institutions to
provide tax consulting services and invested more resources
in fax compliance and optimization to further strengthen
the concept of compliant education.

41

N

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED « ANNUAL REPORT 2022



LN

L B

53 #r

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

H it B X

HE202F8A3ALFE  AEEMNEMAX
BARBINSEETL REFRPHARESL.3
BELEMNGs.6% BEEBENEERAR()E
i R F M EERORE M (2 FFHR
EEE¥e BESIABERF BRRASLERE
BEERARRB)IELABAEEREE LR
BIEETHNREERTFRARENEE L
EHIBX -5k ElESBATYE HHEX

=

R/RARBNSAET  BEFRHENMNG.6% -

il & B A

B OE2022F68A3HEFE - AEEHRE K
ABEARBEI47TBE T REFRABANARYE
12188 TRP193%  TBREAA(NAEET

BRCBmESE ARELARERE BEFN
FKRFTHRERLZE: QQXAFEFHEERE

EUEPIERAE  BRERN L AR S B
memHBAHEAREE BARKREF
R 3.4% ERBEAMER  BERE
HEEIL -

B B Al & 7

IMLWA MAREANGATE  RNRSH
CAEEBRBANEFN ABARKET7476BE T B
ziﬂﬁmAEMwmﬁﬁﬁiﬂmﬁ%

OTHER EXPENSES

The Group’s other expenses were RMB112.5 million for
the year ended 31 August 2022, increased by 86.6% as
compared fo RMB40.3 million for the same period of last
year, which was primarily due to (1) increased expenses
resulted from fthe increase in other income and gains;
(2) upgrade of the campus commercial business, active
infroduction of high-quality merchants, and continuous
investment in sfudent experience improvement; and (3) the
provision for exchange loss of RMB41.0 million arising from
the Group's syndicated loans with a total amount of US$100
million as a result of the sharp appreciation of the United
States dollar. If the impact of the aforesaid exchange loss
were eliminated, other expenses would be RMB71.5 million,
representing an increase of 18.6% as compared fo those for
the same period of last year.

FINANCE COSTS

The Group's finance costs were RMB114.7 million for the year
ended 31 August 2022, decreased by 19.3% as compared to
RMB142.1 million for the same period of last year, which was
mainly due to (1) the Group's continuous optimization of its
financing structure and expansion of high quality financing
channels, and the financing interest rates contfinued to
decrease at a record low level; (2) the increase of the
inferest capitalization amount of borrowing costs as the
new loans for the year were mainly specific borrowings. If
the impact of the inferest capitalization were eliminated,
finance costs would increase by 3.4% as compared to
those for the same period of last year, lower than the
growth of interest-bearing debt, indicating the confinuous
opfimization of finance costs.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Due to the combined influence of revenue, cost and
expenses above, the Group recognised a profit before tax
of RMB747.6 million for the Reporting Period as compared
with RMB6477.9 million for the same period of last year,
representing an increase of 10.3%.

42

N

TR R BEREA IR AT o 4R 2022



LN

B B i B0 A
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

=R E

BN ERA-KARBRANGATZE HE
2022 8A3IAIEFE AEEMNFFEAAR
H6302B BT BEFRPHARBIEEHE
T FH6.5% °

RSB

B ERA- RARBEBEANSKATE BE
2022 8A3IHILFE - AEEBEHF & FFNHE A A
R#62008 &L BREFRBHARKES67.88
BT EF9.2% o

R EFER B

B E2022F8A3B L FE - SEKLHEFRN
BRARKGI2BEE T BEFREOARE
591.8BA &L * L7H13.4% -

NET PROFIT

As a result of the combined effect of revenue, costs and
expenses above, the net profit of the Group was RMB630.2
million for the year ended 31 August 2022, an increase of
6.5% as compared to RMB591.8 million for the same period
of last year.

NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
PARENT

Due to the combined effects of the above revenue, costs
and expenses, the Group's net profit attributable to owners
of the parent was RMB620.0 million for the year ended
31 August 2022, increased by 9.2% as compared to RMB567.8
million for the same period of last year.

ADJUSTED NET PROFIT

The adjusted net profit of the Group was RMB671.2 million for
the year ended 31 August 2022, representing an increase of
13.4% as compared fo RMB591.8 million for the same period
of last year.

A B
o RTIREERE LB X

Net profit

Add: Exchange loss arising from
the USD syndicated loans

BETIHEHLEEE
Year ended

20224 8H31H 20218 HA31H
31 August 31 August
2022 2021
ARBEER ARBBHETT
RMB million RMB million
630.2 591.8
41.0 -
671.2 591.8
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ADJUSTED NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE PARENT

The Group's adjusted net profit attributable to owners of the
parent was RMBé661.0 million for the year ended 31 August
2022, representing an increase of 16.4% as compared to
RMB567.8 million for the same period of last year.

& FNE

m:ETREERERBX

BETIHEHLEEE
Year ended

Net profit attributable to owners
of the parent

Add: Exchange loss arising from
the USD syndicated loans

20224 8H31H 20219 8H31H
31 August 31 August
2022 2021
ARBBEER AR®BEET
RMB million RMB million
620.0 567.8

41.0 -

661.0 567.8

B8

B E2022F8A31IH AEEESRBER/RARK
1,568 1EETL  EeHBENACNREFEY -
MEMER > MEBREIRFHK - MRAIF
EfAEZNEREE  RE E2021548A31H
MARKILI80.08 ST EM32.9% TERHER
SEART - E2FNEEEEEREFRELM -

MBEERMERLL R

AEENGFERTERAREMERIEZERERE
HEBE2eENR BEREFARRENVNRYEEE
oo B E202268A310  AAERITER K A
fERUAREEBEBRARKS333.18 & (2021
F8A3NH: ARM2362988T) HFPUETT
FHEMERRI0AEXT  EBRUAARKEE -

TOTAL CAPITAL

The total capital of the Group, which equals to the
aggregate of cash and cash equivalents plus time
deposits, pledged and restricted deposits, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss was RMB1,568.1 million
as of 31 August 2022, increased by 32.9% as compared
to RMB1,180.0 million as of 31 August 2021, mainly due to
the increase in the tuition and boarding fees received
in advance for the next academic year by the Group as
compared to the same period of last year.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING RATIO

The Group's interest-bearing bank loans and other
borrowings primarily consisted of short-term working
capital loans and long-term project loans for our school
buildings and facilities. The interest-bearing bank loans
and other borrowings as well as lease liabilities amounted
to RMB3,333.1 million as of 31 August 2022 (31 August
2021: RMB2,362.9 million), among which US$100 million was
denominated in United States dollar, while the remaining
was denominated in Renminbi.
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Interest-bearing debt equals to the tofal amount of interest-
bearing bank loans and other borrowings and lease
liabilities as of 31 August 2022. The Group's interest-bearing
debt/total assets increased from 29.8% as of 31 August 2021
to 36.7% as of 31 August 2022, which was mainly due fo that
the Group increased RMB970.2 million of interest-bearing
debts to redeem US$100 million convertible bonds and
replenish the liquidity of the Group. If considering interest-
bearing debts which included the convertible bonds in the
same period of last year, the Group's interest-bearing debts
(including convertible bonds)/total assets decreased from
37.9% as of 31 August 2021 to 36.7% as of 31 August 2022.

Net interest-bearing debt equals to the fotal intferest-
bearing bank loans and other borrowings and lease
liabilities net of ftoftal capital as of 31 August 2022.
The Group’s net interest-bearing debt/total equity
increased from 37.1% as of 31 August 2021 to 55.6% as of
31 August 2022, which was primarily atfributable to the
aforementioned influence of convertible bonds and the
Group's further acquisition of 26.09% equity interest of
Haxuan Company, the sole sponsor of the Northeast School,
and an open market share buyback. If considering interest-
bearing debts which included the convertible bonds in the
same period of last year, the Group’s net interest-bearing
debts (including convertible bonds)/fotal equity decreased
from 57.3% as of 31 August 2021 fo 55.6% as of 31 August
2022.

Gearing ratio equals to ratio of inferest-bearing debt divided
by fotal equity as of 31 August 2022. The Group's gearing
ratio increased from 74.0% as of 31 August 2021 fo 104.9%
as of 31 August 2022, primarily due to the combined effects
of the aforementioned increase of interest-bearing debt
and further acquisition of 26.09% equity interest of Haxuan
Company, the sole sponsor of the Northeast School, and the
decrease in equity due to the open market share buyback.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

For the year ended 31 August 2022, the Group's capital
expenditures were RMB865.1 million, which was primarily
used for the construction of our school buildings, facilities,
land acquisition and purchase of equipment and software.

45

N

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED « ANNUAL REPORT 2022



LN

B B i B0 A
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEXEE CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

REBNEARETEARSIMNTERKERE The Group's capital commitments were primarily used in
HERTLEIERE - TRFHNWRBEMRBEHY  the payment of construction and maintenance of school

REREERE building and purchase of facilities. The following table sets
out a summary of our capital commitments as of the dates
indicated:

BZE BZE
2022%8H31H 20214 8H31H
LEE IEFE

Year ended Year ended
31 August 31 August
2022 2021
ARBBEETR AR®BESET
RMB million RMB million

BEIHBERBE: Contracted but not provided for:

ME BERRE Property, plant and equipment

—F R Within one year 244.2 312.2

—F L E Over one year 175.5 347.3

419.7 659.5

HE2022F8A31H AEBITEFTMSHEMEE  As of 31 August 2022, the Group had no significant capital

RETAME RERALE - commitment authorized but not contracted for.

EAREREXREENARRKREE FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

BRAFRAMBPESEIN  HEAREHMB - AEE  Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not

BMEAMEAKRENEREEE o have any other plans for material investments and capital

assets as of the Reporting Period.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

On 28 September 2021, the Group completed the
acquisition of 100% interests in the Zhengzhou School.
On 19 November 2021, the Group enfered into an equity
tfransfer agreement for further acquisition of 26.09% interest
in Haxuan Company, the sole shareholder of the Northeast
School. Upon completion of the aforesaid events, each of
the Zhengzhou School and the Northeast School, together
with its respective school sponsor and its respective newly
appointed directors designated by its school sponsor,
entered into a supplemental agreement to the Structured
Conftracts with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group, the
current registered shareholders of Yun Ai Group, to reflect
the Group's change of interest in them. Accordingly, each
of the Zhengzhou School and the Northeast School became
a 100% consolidated affiliated entity of the Company.
Please refer fo the announcements dated 13 April 2021,
19 April 2021, 28 September 2021 and 19 November 2021
respectively, for details of the aforesaid events.

Save as disclosed, there were no other significant
investments held by the Group, no material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during
the period, nor was there any plan authorized by the Board
for other material investments or additions of capital assets
as of the Reporting Period.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The functional currency of the Group is RMB and HKD.
The majority of the Group’s revenue and expenditures
are denominated in RMB. As at 31 August 2022, certain
bank loans and bank balances were denominated in USD
and HKD. The Group currently does not have any foreign
currency hedging policies. The management will continue
to pay attention on the Group’'s foreign exchange risk
exposure and consider adopting prudent measures as
appropriate.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 August 2022, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities, guarantees or any litigations or claims
of material importance, pending or threatened against any
member of the Group.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS AND
ARRANGEMENTS

As of the date of this annual report, the Group has not
entered into any off-balance sheet transactions.

FAVOURABLE POLICIES TO FACILITATE THE
DEVELOPMENT OF PRIVATE HIGHER VOCATIONAL
EDUCATION

On 12 October 2021, the General Office of the Chinese
Communist Party Central Committee and the General
Office of the State Council issued the Opinions on
Promoting the High-quality Development of Modern
Vocational Education (R EB BB EXRESEEER
7 = &) (the “Opinions”), and issued a nofice requiring
serious implementation. The Opinions put forward that
(1) speeding up the establishment of the “vocational
education college entrance examination” system, to
promote the verfical connection of vocational education
at different levels, and strengthen the penetration
and integratfion of general education and vocational
education at all levels; (2) adherence to major national
strategies, to encourage schools setting up more scarce
and market-oriented majors; (3) improving the diversified
school operation pattern, to encourage listed companies
and industry leading enterprises to establish vocational
education, encourage all kinds of entferprises to parficipate
in the establishment of vocational education according to
law, and enrich the school operation forms of vocational
schools; (4) governments at all levels should coordinate
the scale, structure and level of vocational education and
human resources development, and include the infegration
of production and education into the economic and social
development plan. Local governments should take the
promotion of enterprises’ participation in school-enterprise
cooperation and the cultivation of fechnical and skilled
talents as the important contents of industrial development
plans, industrial incentive policies and rural revitalization
plans, to provide “financial + fiscal + land + credit”
incentives to industry education integrated enterprises, and
implement the relevant tax and fee policies in accordance
with the regulations; (5) realizing the innovation of school
enferprise cooperation mechanism, deepening the
reform of education and teaching, building the brand of
vocational education with Chinese characteristics, and
exploring the international development mode of “Chinese
+ vocational skills”.
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In December 2021, the Opinions on the Authorization
and Awarding of Bachelor's Degrees in Vocational
Schools at the Undergraduate Level KB » # #F & &l
ABEERETEMEEEAR TIHENE R)) were issued
by the Academic Degree Office of the State Council,
which makes it clear that the authorization, awarding
and management of bachelor’'s degrees in vocational
education at the undergraduate level will be subject to
the same rules as those for general undergraduates, while
highlighting the characteristics of vocational education.
The undergraduate-level vocational education degree
certificate will thus be given the same status as the general
undergraduate degree in terms of effectiveness and
application value. The Group’s development direction has
been in line with the Group’'s commitment to strengthen
the educational characteristics of vocational education,
emphasize vocational competence and qualification, and
promote high-quality development.

In January 2022, the Ministry of Education and other four
departments issued the “14th Five-Year Plan for Vocational
Skills Training” which was the first “Five-Year Plan” of
vocational fraining of the Central Government, aiming to
improve the capability of workers and relieve the pressure
of employment. Such policy setfs up key goals for the year of
2021 to 2025: (1) conducting subsidized vocational training
with no less than 75 million persons, in which no less than 30
million persons for farmers; (2) no less than 40 million persons
for newly obtained vocational qualification certificates
or vocational skill level certificates; (3) no less than 200 of
newly built public training bases. The higher education
industry will continue to benefit from the favorable policy
on vocational education.

In February 2022, the Ministry of Education announced
the work focus of vocational education in 2022, proposed
fo promote fuller and higher quality employment for
college graduates, supported and regulated the healthy
development of private education and accelerated the
digital fransformation and smart upgrade of education. It is
expected that the Group will continue to benefit from the
favorable policies of vocational education.
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The Vocational Education Law promulgated by the Standing
Committee of the National People's Congress in April 2022,
which became effective on 1 May, clarifies that vocational
education and general education have the same important
status, supports the social forces to extensively participate
in vocational education, fosters, guides and backs up
enterprises and other social forces to sponsor vocational
schools and vocational training institutions in accordance
with the law, and encourages enterprises to participate
deeply in the integration of industry and education, as well
as school-enterprise cooperation. The new law also makes
it clear that when government, public institutions, state-
owned enterprises are in the recruitment of technical skills
positions, the level of technical skills should be an important
criteria and public institutions can appropriately lower
educational requirements when publicly recruit positions
with vocational skills level requirements. From which we
can observe that the new law continues the consistent
policy direction of the state to support the development
of vocational education. And through the improvement
of the protection mechanism and measures of vocational
education, it focuses on improving the recognition of
vocational education and the quality of technical skills
personnel training. The new law will definitely promote the
high-quality development of vocational education, and
the higher vocational education groups will also welcome
a new round of development opportfunities in a more sound
and friendly legal environment.

In October 2022, Xi Jinping, General Secretary of the
Communist Party of China (CPC) Central Committee,
pointed out in the report to the 20th National Congress of
the Communist Party of China that China will continue to
give high priority to the development of education, build
a strong educational system, and move faster to build a
high-quality educational system. It is clear that the focus
of vocational education, higher education, and continuing
education is collaborative innovation. China will promote
integration between vocational education and general
education, between industry and education, and between
science and education. China will also better establish
vocational education as a category in the educational
system, setting out the direction for the future development
of higher vocational education.
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RECENT DEVELOPMENTS OF REGULATORY
FRAMEWORK

Q)

CLASSIFIED REGISTRATION

According to the Several Opinions of the State
Council on Encouraging Social Powers to Set up
Education to Promote the Healthy Development of
Private Education (29 December 2016), a classification
registration and management system shall be
applicable to private schools, and private school
sponsors can choose to run non-profit or for-profit
private schools. The revised Laws for Promoting Private
Education of the PRC (implemented on 1 September
2017) also promulgated the same provisions.

According to the Implemental Rules on Private School
Classified Registration (30 December 2016), if an
existing private school chooses to register as a non-
profit private school, it should modify its article of
association, continue to run the school and complete
new registration procedures in accordance with
relevant laws. If it chooses to register as a for-profit
private school, it should conduct financial settlement,
clarify the ownership of school land, school premises,
school accumulation, and pay related taxes and fees,
obtain a new permit in running a school, re-register
and continue the operations for education.

In order to further implement the above requirements,
government and relevant competent departments
in the region where the Group runs schools have
successively issued supporting measures, including
(1) Implementation Opinions Issued by the People’s
Government of Yunnan Province on Encouraging
Social Powers to Seft up Education to Promofe
the Healthy Development of Private Educatfion
(18 December 2017), Nofice of the Five Departments
including Education Department of Yunnan Province
on Steady and Orderly Promotion of Classified
Registration and Management of Private Schools
(12 June 2019); (2) Implementation Opinions Issued
by the People's Government of Guizhou Province
on Supporting and Regulating Social Forces to Set
up Education to Promote the Healthy Development
of Private Education (3 August 2018), Measures
for the Implementation of Classified Examination
and Approval of Registration and Supervision and
Management of Private Schools in Guizhou Province
(Trial) (11 June 2019); (3) Implementation Opinions
Issued by Heilongjiang Province on Encouraging
Social Powers to Set up Education to Promote the
Healthy Development of Private Education, Measures
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for the Implementation of Classified Registration
of Private Schools in Heilongjiang Province, and
Measures for the Supervision and Administration of
For-profit Private Schools in Heilongjiang Province
(26 February 2019); (4) Implementation Opinions
of the People's Government of Gansu Province on
Further Promoting the Healthy Development of Private
Education (8 November 2017), Measures for the
Implementation of Classified Registration of Private
Schools in Gansu Province (15 November 2018); (5)
Implementation Opinions Issued by the People’s
Government of Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region on Encouraging Social Powers to Set up
Education to Promote the Healthy Development of
Private Education (2 July 2018), Measures for the
Implementation of Classified Registration of Private
Schools in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region
(10 October 2018), Measures for the Implementation
of Supervision and Administration of For-profit Private
Schools in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region
(16 October 2018), Measures for the Implementation
of Classified Registration of Existing Private Schools in
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (19 April 2022);
(6) Implementation Opinions Issued by the People's
Government of Hubei Province on Encouraging Social
Powers to Set up Education tfo Promote the Healthy
Development of Private Education (20 December
2017); (7) Implementation Opinions Issued by
the People's Government of Henan Province on
Encouraging Social Powers to Set up Education to
Further Promote the Healthy Development of Private
Education (2 February 2018).

The above local regulations only provide a procedure
framework for the classification and registration of
existing private schools in relevant provinces as for-
profit private schools or non-profit private schools, but
do not further specify the various preferential taxes
and land use policies that can be enjoyed by for-
profit and non-profit schools.
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(1

As of the date of this annual report, except that the
Northeast School, Guangxi Schools, Yunnan School
and Guizhou School are currently in the process of
classified registration according fo the guidance of
the relevant provincial authorities, the Company has
not commenced the process of classified registration
for other schools under the Group. However, due to
the uncertainties in the interpretation and application
of the above requirements , there are uncertainties
as to when the private schools under the Group
can complete the classified registration, whether
the relevant taxes and fees will need to be paid in
accordance with local supporting rules in the process
of classified registration in the future, and what kind
of tax and land use policies and other aspects of
government supports such schools will enjoy in the
future.

THE 2021 IMPLEMENTATION RULES

On 14 May 2021, the State Council promulgated
the Implementation Rules for the Laws for
Promoting Private Education of the PRC (the “2021
Implementation Rules”), which has been implemented
since 1 September 2021. The 2021 Implementation
Rules stipulate that: (1) private schools may enjoy
the preferential tax policies stipulated by the State,
among which non-profit private schools may enjoy
the same preferential tax policies as public schools;
(2) for the construction or expansion of non-profit
private schools, the local people's governments shall
grant preferential treatments in terms of land use by
means of allocation in accordance with the principle
of treating non-profit private schools equally as public
schools. For the land use of private schools that
implement preschool education and education for
academic credentials, the governments may provide
lands by means of agreement, bidding, auction
and etc. according to the laws. Lands may also be
supplied by long-term lease, lease and assignment,
and combination of sale and rental. Charges for
the assignment or rental of land may be paid in
instalments within the specified time limit as agreed in
the contract.

The 2021 Implementation Rules do not involve specific
provisions on preferential taxation and land use
policies. Therefore, there are still uncertainties as
to what kind of tax and land use policies and other
aspects of government supports the private schools
under the Group will enjoy in the future.
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The 2021 Implementation Rules further stipulate that:
(1) the State encourages enterprises to establish or
participate in the establishment of private schools
that implement vocational education in various
forms, such as sole proprietorship, joint venture
or cooperation according to law; institutions that
implement nationally recognized educationa
examinations, vocational qualification examinations
and vocational skill level examinations shall comply
with the relevant provisions of the State in the
establishment or participation in the establishment
of private schools related to the examination
implemented by them; (2) private schools that
provide compulsory education are not allowed to
enter into transactions with their interested parties,
and other private schools shall conduct transactions
with their interested parties in a manner that is
open, justified and fair, shall price such transactions
reasonably, shall establish standardized decision-
making for such transactions and shall not harm
the interests of the State, schools and teachers and
students. Private schools shall set up an information
disclosure mechanism for dealing with their interested
parties. The relevant governmental authorities, such
as the education department, the human resources
and social security departments and the financial
departments, shall strengthen the supervision of
the agreements entered info between non-profit
private schools and their interested parties, and
shall review the connected fransactions annually;
(3) if the sponsor is a legal person, its controlling
shareholder and the actual controller must meet the
requirements stipulated by laws and administrative
regulations for the establishment of a private school,
and any change of the controlling shareholder or the
actual controller must be reported to the competent
department for record-filing and publicity. Any social
organizations and individuals shall not control private
schools which provide compulsory education or non-
profit private schools which implement preschool
education through mergers and acquisitions or
contractual agreements; and (4) the start-up capital
and registered capital of a private school shall be
compatible with the type, level and scale of the
school and shall be paid in full when it is formally
established.
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(1)

Pursuant to the 2021 Implementation Rules, the
Group is not prohibited from acquiring non-profit
private schools providing higher education services
or confrolling them through structural confracts. As
the Group has no plans to acquire private schools
providing compulsory education or non-profit private
schools providing preschool education, we do not
consider that the 2021 Implementation Rules will
have any adverse impact on the Group's future
acquisitions.

The Structured Contracts may be considered as
fransactions with inferested parties of private schools
under the Group, and we may incur significant
compliance costs due to the establishment of a
disclosure mechanism. If the private school under
the Group chooses to register as a non-profit private
school, the competent government department
shall review ifs relevant transactions annually. These
processes may not be under our confrol and may
be very complex and cumbersome, and may divert
management attenfion. During the review process,
government departments may require us fo modify or
terminate the Structured Conftracts, which may lead
to penalfies, resulting in a material adverse impact on
the operation of the Structured Contracts.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company’s
operations have not been affected by the 2021
Implementation Rules.

FOREIGN INVESTMENT LAW

The Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (/1 #E A &
H A0 B SN B 3% & R)) (the “Foreign Investment Law”)
approved by the National People's Congress on
15 March 2019 has been implemented since 1 January
2020, and has become the basic law for foreign
investment in China. According to this law, existing
foreign-invested enterprises may maintain their
existing organization structure within five years from
the effective date of the Foreign Investment Law.

On 26 December 2019, the State Council issued the
Implementation Regulations of the Foreign Investment
Law of the PRC (the “Implementation Regulations”),
which also came intfo effect on 1 January 2020,
aiming to implement the legislative principles and
purposes of the Foreign Investment Law.
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The Foreign Investment Law clearly specifies three
forms of foreign investment, but neither the Foreign
Investment Law nor the Implementation Regulations
explicitly stipulate contractual agreements as a
form of foreign investment. As confirmed by our
PRC Legal Advisors, as the Foreign Investment
Law and the Implementation Regulations do not
define contractual agreements as a form of foreign
investment, if future laws, administrative regulations,
and regulations of the State Council do not include
contractual agreements as a form of foreign
investment, the Structured Confracts as a whole and
the agreements constituting the Structured Contracts
will not be affected, and will continue to be legally
valid, effective and binding on the parties. However,
if future laws, administrative regulations, and
regulations of the State Council stipulate contractual
agreements as one of the ways of foreign investment,
the Group may need to take relevant measures
in accordance with the requirements of the laws,
regulations and regulations of the State Council at
that time. There will be uncertainty as to whether we
can complete these measures in a timely manner
or at all. Failure to take appropriate measures in a
timely manner to address any of the compliance
requirements in the above provisions may have a
significant effect on our current group structure,
corporate governance and business operations.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company’s
operations have not been affected by the Foreign
Investment Law.

The Board will continue to monitor any updates
regarding the Foreign Investment Law and seek
guidance from our PRC Legal Advisors to ensure that
the Company meets all relevant laws and regulations
in China.
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PAYMENT OF FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to make the payment of a final
dividend of RMB0.093 per Share for the year ended 31 August
2022 (for the year ended 31 August 2021: RMB0.083 per
Share). The final dividend will be declared in Renminbi and
paid in Hong Kong dollars. The exchange rate adopted
for conversion was the average middle exchange rate
published by the People’'s Bank of China of the five
business days prior to the declaration of the final dividend
(i.,e. 21 November 2022 to 25 November 2022) (RMB1.0 to
HK$1.09519). Accordingly, the amount of the final dividend
payable in Hong Kong dollars will be HK$0.10185 per Share.
The final dividend will be paid on Wednesday, 22 March 2023
to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Tuesday, 7 March 2023.

hHIR B (AR¥T)
EHEAMIKRE(AREET)

Interim dividend (RMB)
Proposed final dividend (RMB)

& E£20224F HE2021F
8A3IHLFE 8HIIBILFE
Year ended Year ended
31 August 31 August
2022 2021

0.106 0.054

0.093 0.083
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote
at the annual general meeting tfo be held on Friday,
24 February 2023, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Tuesday, 21 February 2023 to Friday,
24 February 2023, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order
to be qualified for attending and voting at the annual
general meeting, all tfransfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company's share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong for registration not later than Monday, 20
February 2023.

The register of members of the Company will be closed by
the Group from Friday, 3 March 2023 to Tuesday, 7 March
2023, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to be
qualified for the final dividend, all share transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Group's branch share registrar and fransfer
office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 2 March 2023.
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TRENFEENTIETHELR:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (ZZ &), aged 48, the founder of the Group,
master degree in business administration (MBA), senior
economist. He was appointed as the Chairman, executive
Director of the Company on 8 July 2016. Mr. Li has more than
20 years of experience in education and is responsible for
the overall management and strategic development of the
Group.

The following table shows the key working experience of
Mr. Li:

HA A B %

Period Company Position

19994 £ 20044 55 Ak %

1999 to 2004 Training Station Director

20056 45 EREHEH FE

2005 to present Yun Ai Group Chairman

2016 &5 FEFEHREEGRAA EEBXRF  PITESF

2016 to present

China New Higher Education Group Limited

Chairman of the Board of
Directors, Executive Director

FEER10F3ARTERNAEH G EE
BlER  AR208F2AZRFEARKMESE
TZE2EARKRAERR - BR/EAR
MAB(BR)BEAREER TEBREERBE
EgRlek PERRHEHEISR  URH
BRERTHEZEEHKEE -

% 4 £ H2009F10AMBE REEMELR « &
5 1 FA20104F 6 3 2 o [ 71 B A 58 9 4% T 7 8 38
B i -

BEED SR 425% 0 F2004F4AMARNEER - I
MN201658R1IVEEEZEE AAARTNEERITE
HATEZ - BMELEHEBI/ENHRBELR T
EEHEFELEEZERHOEEE -

Mr. Li became the first vice president of The China
Association for Non-Government Education in March 2010,
and a member of the Thirteenth National People's Congress
of People's Republic of China in February 2018. He is
currently the vice chairman of the Association of Universities
(Colleges) of Applied Science, the vice chairman of the
Chinese Society of Educational Development Strategy,
the vice chairman of The China Associatfion for Non-
Government Education and the managing director of The
Chinese Society for Technical and Vocational Education.

Mr. Li obtained the qualification as senior economist in
October 2009. Mr. Li was awarded a master degree in
business administration from Nankai University (F 5 KE),
the PRC, in June 2010.

Mr. Zhao Shuai (#Eb) , aged 42, joined the Group in April
2004, and was appointed as the chief executive officer and
an executive Director of the Company on 19 August 2016.
Mr. Zhao has more than 17 years of experience in education
and is responsible for setting annual operational targets and
day-to-day management.
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The following table shows the key working experience of

Mr. Zhao:
5 7 N W5
Period Company Position
2004 4H £200848H EMER REFEMFE
April 2004 to August 2008 Yunnan School Student recruitment director
2008F9H £ 20145 3H EMER 2l bt &
September 2008 to March 2014 Yunnan School Associate dean
2014F4H E 201554 H EEEH 17 BUEB 48 4% 38
April 2014 to April 2015 Yun Ai Group General manager of
administration department
2015654 20163 A EMBR BTk &
May 2015 to March 2016 Guizhou School Executive dean
2016F3HES EEEHE = AR B
March 2016 to present Yun Ai Group Senior president
2016F 245 PREFSHEEER AT BREMITE
2016 to present China New Higher Education Chief executive officer

Group Limited

HAEER0B3FI2ENESSHEEMEE - % Mr. Zhao obtained the qualification as senior economist

R2004F7RER+TEERBET KE#M TR E in December 2013. He was awarded a bachelor degree
BB LB RR2017F6AEBETMAEH  in Mechanical Engineering Automation from Kunming

HIRBELR-

University of Science and Technology (BRBRE T A£), the
PRC, in July 2004, and in June 2017 awarded a master
degree in software engineering at Jilin University (& #k K £2) .
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Ms. Shen Chunmei, aged 39, joined the Group as vice
president in early 2020 and was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 27 August 2020. She has over
10 years of professional experience in investor relations
management, initial public offering, fundraising, merger
and acaquisition, strategic consulting and infernational
financial media of companies listed in Hong Kong and the
United States, as well as internationally renowned strategic
consulfing firm.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Shen was the director of
corporate finance and investor relations of TCL Electronics
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1070), taking up the overall
responsibility of its capital market related matters. From 2016
fo 2018, Ms. Shen was the general manager of the group
strategic communication department of Grab Holdings
Inc., a multinational company offering ride-hailing transport
services and payment solutions based in Singapore, during
which she participated in and assisted with its series G
financing of USD2.5 billion which is the largest single
financing fransaction in the history of Southeast Asia af that
fime. From 2015 to 2016, Ms. Shen was the investor relations
director of Xinyuan Real Estate Co., Ltd., a top 100 real
estate company in China and listed on the New York Stock
Exchange (stock code: XIN). From 2012 to 2015, Ms. Shen
was a director at FTI Consulting, one of the largest financial
consulting firms in the world and headquartered in the
United States, leading a team and in charge of projects
relating to initial public offering and investor relations
consulting of Chinese companies seeking a listing in Hong
Kong and the United States. In 2014, she led the team to
win the Sabre Awards (Global Campaign of the Year). From
2009 to 2012, Ms. Shen was the investor relations manager at
Feihe International, Inc. (now known as China Feihe Limited,
a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock
code: 6184)).

Ms. Shen received her bachelor’s degree from University of
Leeds in the United Kingdom in 2005. She also received her
master’'s degree in business administration from University of
Aberdeen in the United Kingdom in 2006.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (B{&15) , aged 57, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company
on 20 March 2017. Mr. Kwong has more than 10 years of
experience in corporate finance and equity capital markets
in Asia. Mr. Kwong is an executive director of China Metal
Resources Utilization Limited (stock code: 1636), in charge
of its corporate and strategic development. Mr. Kwong was
the president of Gushan Environmental Energy Limited, a
company whose American depositary shares were listed
on the New York Stock Exchange from December 2007 to
October 2012. He is also an independent non-executive
director of Shunfeng Infernational Clean Energy Limited
(stock code: 1165) since 16 July 2014, C.banner International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1028) since 26 August 2011,
China Outfitters Holdings Limited (stock code: 1146) since
8 June 2011 and Koolearn Technology Holding Limited (stock
code: 1797) since 15 March 2019, all of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since 13 July 2011,
23 September 2011, 9 December 2011 and 28 March 2019,
respectively. Prior to joining Gushan Environmental Energy
Limited in 2006, he was the managing director of investment
banking and he held the position as the head of Hong Kong
and China equity capital markets at CLSA Equity Capital
Markets Limited from March 2004 to July 2006. Mr. Kwong
was a director from 2002 to 2003, and the general manager
of the corporate finance department from 1997 to 2003 for
Cazenove Asia Limited. Affer graduating from University
of Cambridge, England with a bachelor's degree in Arts
in 1987, he qualified as a chartered accountant in the
United Kingdom in 1990. Mr. Kwong is currently an associate
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales and the Hong Kong Instifute of Certified
Public Accountants.
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Mr. Hu lJianbo (# 2 ). aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on
22 December 2017. Mr. Hu has over 20 years of experience
in the education industry. He received his bachelor degree
in engineering from Northwest Institute of Architecture and
Engineering* (FAdL £ T 2F:), now known as Chang'an
University* (K % K ), in July 1984, and his executive
master degree in business administration from China
Europe International Business School* (B E B T £ Ft) in
September 2007. From July 1984 to July 1992, Mr. Hu worked
at Xi'an University* (FA&Z KX2) , now known as Xi'an University
of Art and Science* (A& X322 Ft), as a teacher. From July
1992 to July 1996, Mr. Hu served as the vice chairman of the
board of Xi'an International University* (78 % 9 & 2 %) . From
June 2014 to June 2017, Mr. Hu served as an independent
director of Ginwa Enterprise (Group) Inc* (&> 2 (5 H)
EmABERAFT), alisted company on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600080). Since July 1997, Mr. Hu has
been the dean and chairman of the board of Xi'an Eurasia
University* (FaZ B 22 £ 7 ) . He is currently the vice chairman
of The China Association for Non-Government Education
and the vice chairman of 21st Century Education Research
Institute* (21t &L H B A7) .

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (R4 38), aged 53, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 26 August 2019.
He holds a bachelor’'s degree in Economics from Jinan
University. He is currently the chairman of the board of
directors of Soar Industries Limited (& B & ¥ B R QA 7 &
% &) and the chairman of the board of directors of BC
International Investment Ltd. (B)IIEHBEEERAFGEER).
He served in the Yunnan Provincial Committee of CPPCC
(EFm % BB Z E) during 2013 to 2018, served as the vice
chairman of the Yunnan Province Youth United Association
(EmESFHA SR EFE) from 2010 to 2018 as well as the
chairman founder of the Hongkong-Yunnan-Macau-Taiwan
Youth Exchange Association (E# R & & F X it (& # &) in
2010. He is currently the life honorary chairman of The
Y. Elites Association (B & Rg k& E B X ®), the vice
president of the Yunnan Chinese Overseas Friendship
Association (EE B/ BE ERIEK), a CPPCC of Yunnan
Province (2 M % B % % %) and the supervisor of the
Association of Hong Kong and Macau Members of CPPCC
In Yunnan Province Lid (EME BB EREZEHRESEER).
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Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter, aged 53, is currently an independent
non-executive Director of the Company. Dr. Pang received
his master degree in business administration from University
of Wesfern Sydney in 1999. He also obtained a degree
of doctor of philosophy in business administration from
Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in 2010
as well as a postdoctorate from University of Oxford in
2015. He is a fellowship member of CPA Australia, and
fellowship member of the Financial Services Institute of
Australasia, and a member of the expert committee of
the task group of “Financial Regulation and Financial
Reform and Development Strategy” in the Institute of
Finance of the Development Research Center of the State
Council (Bl Bt B RFOCRMEMEMEEHL S @
NEHEEBKIRBEZEXRZELZES®), and has been a council
member of the Guangdong Council for Investment and
Development (Foshan, Guangdong) (B R & & & % B {2 #
& (E®R - 1)) since 2017. Dr. Pang has over twenty years
of experience in banking, financial and consulting industry
and has served in senior management positions in various
renowned financial institutions. From 1993 to 1998, he was
the head of the settlement department of Dresdner Bank
(Hong Kong). From 1998 to 2003, he worked in Northeast
Asia region of the Standard Chartered Bank. From 2003
to 2005, he served as the senior manager in BearingPoint
Management Consulting (formerly KPMG Management
Consulting) (Beijing). He was the head of operation design
and development department of Dah Sing Financial Group
(Hong Kong) from 2005 to 2006. From 2006 to 2014, he
served as the consulting partner of global financial market
in China in Deloitte Management Consulting (Beijing). He
then served as leading partner of financial business in China
for Roland Berger Strategic Consulting (Beijing) from 2014
to 2016. He was the external senior advisor to Zhangjiakou
Financial Holding Group (Beijing, Zhangjiakou) from 2016 to
2018, and he was an independent director at Metropolitan
Bank (China) from 2017 to 2018, and was re-invited fo
the board of directors by the bank as an independent
director from August 2020 and to be chairing its Related
Party Transactions Control Committee. During late 2018,
he was also the general manager headed the group risk
management department of Citic Bank (International). He
was the partner, head of financial industry consulting and
investment services in China and Beijing office head of
YCP Solidiance Strategy and Management Consultant from
October 2019 to June 2020. He is the founder and currently
a director of Liquid Gold Development Strategy Co., Ltd. ([&
HERKERAERDA).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Teng Jingnan, aged 41, joined the Group as the chief
investment officer in April 2019. He has more than 10 years
of extensive experience in the insfitutions.

Prior to joining the Group, from January 2011 to April 2019,
Mr. Teng served as secretary of the Secretariat of the
General Office of the Central Committee of the China
Association for Promoting Democracy. From August 2004 to
December 2010, he held his position at the Research Office
of the Central Committee of the China Association for
Promoting Democracy.

Mr. Teng graduated from Nanjing Agricultural University
in August 2004 with a bachelor’s degree in international
economics and frade. He atftended the Postgraduate
Course on the United Front Theory organized by the Central
Institute of Socialism from August 2008 to August 2010.
Currently, he is studying for a master’s degree in agricultural
and forestry economics and management at Nanjing
Agricultural University.

Ms. Liv Fengming (81@E 8H), aged 52, joined the Group in
September 2002. She was appointed as a vice president of
the Company on 19 August 2016 and was appointed as a
senior vice president on 4 December 2020.
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TERHEIN LT ET 2 THELER The following table shows the key working experience of

Ms. Liu:

HE A B %
Period Company Position

AN MM E (T
Teacher and director of
education research office

2002F9H £ 20034 10H 55l uh
September 2002 to October 2003 Training Station

HEBEERARE
Director of education
department and

vice principal

20034 10H 200551 A BEEK
October 2003 to January 2005 Zhuan Xiu School

20051 H £201143H
January 2005 to March 2011

20114 3HA E 20155 9A
March 2011 to September 2015

2015F9H £ 20165 7R
September 2015 to July 2016

2016F7RES

EHER
Yunnan School

BE2R

Zhuan Xiu School

RS

Beijing Lianhe

ZERE

g bt &
Associate dean

bt &
Dean

RRIR
General manager

Bl B

July 2016 to present Yun Ai Group Vice president
20168 H E 20205124 PR SHEEER AT Bl A &
August 2016 to December 2020 China New Higher Education Vice president

Group Limited

PR SHEEER AT = AR B
China New Higher Education Senior vice president
Group Limited

2020F12A&ES
December 2020 to present
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Ms. Liu was awarded a master degree in business
administration from Yunnan University, the PRC, in
December 2009, and awarded a doctor degree in
management science and engineering af Kunming
University of Science and Technology in December 2017. She
obtained the qualification as senior economist from Yunnan
Township Enterprise Senior Professional and Technical
Position Evaluation Committee in November 2012 and the
qualification as associate professor from Yunnan Higher
Education Institution Professor and Associate Professor
Evaluation Committee in October 2013.

Mr. Xu Xiaogiang (#/)58) , aged 43, joined the Group as a
senior vice president in November 2020. He has more than
10 years of experience in the education industry as well
as strong experience in administration and management
in listed companies. He has been the vice chairman and
the secretary general of the Higher Education Professional
Committee of The China Association for Non-Government
Education since January 2021.

Prior to joining the Group, from April 2019 to November
2020, Mr. Xu served as a director and vice executive
general manager of Dalian My Gym Education Technology
Co., Lld.(REEXEB/HEMKZ KRG AR LDF, 002621.57).
From November 2017 to January 2019, he served as a vice
general manager of Dalian Sunlight Machinery Co., Ltd. (X
B S2MERMABMRAE, 002621.52) and served as director
and vice executive general manager from January 2019 to
April 2019.

From June 2004 to September 2017, he worked in the
Department of Development Planning of the Ministry of
Education of the PRC.

Mr. Xu graduated from Zhejiang University in July 2001
with a bachelor’'s degree in Engineering Mechanics, and
he obtained a master's degree in Fluid Mechanics from
Zhejiang University in April 2004. Currently, he is studying
for an Executive Master of Business Administration (EMBA)
degree in the School of Economics and Management in
Tsinghua University.
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TRENFEENTETIELR

Mr. Qin Hongkang (£ % ), aged 46, joined the Group in
December 2004, and was appointed as a vice president of
the Company on 19 August 2016.

The following table shows the key working experience of

Mr. Qin:
A N H B %
Period Company Position
19996 7H = 200412 H B R At MteRELE EEZFERILEH

July 1999 to December 2004

2004128 £2009F 11 A
December 2004 to November 2009

2009F 12 A =2013F12 A
December 2009 to December 2013

2013F12A &R 5
December 2013 to present

2016F8AE S
August 2016 to present

Dianchi Morning News Agency

ZEER
Yunnan School

B2 R

Guizhou School

Yun Ai Group

FEeRHEEBERAR
China New Higher Education

BHET

Reporter of social news, director
of important news and
economic news

g8 bt &
Associate dean

WITh &
Executive dean

EFCES
Vice president

Bl

Vice president

Group Limited

RAELER2008FIANREMHBHPRBHIEL
EGRBHEMER KR9VF/TAETEHER
AEREERCEELRMN -

BEBELLT 425 M2013F6AMAKRER -
PABRETZERERVERER SEBRER
RN EAAKLIE o WHR2017F12H20HEZE
EAREEBFEVBE - RIMAKXEER @ L+
ﬁézoo3¢&£%z%‘%'€ﬁ@ﬂfﬁ%d‘l\lﬁ-&j}/&aﬂﬂﬂ%
AL B - M2005F R E T B R R BB BT BT %5 30
A8 R010FFATERERRVEBRSBERE -
78 27 T R2003F Y )I| K2 AR £ % - R201947
ARESILERERHTREEBE T E( - 12022
E7TARBETREE IER T EaRIEE
B HE T 27 (EMBA) °

Mr. Qin obtained the qualification as lecturer from
Intermediate Title Evaluation Committee* (b 4 B 8 :F &
% B &) of Software College in September 2008. He was
awarded a bachelor degree in applied chemistry from
Yunnan University (£ KX 2), the PRC, in July 1999.

Ms. Luo Yuanyuan (ZE ), aged 42, joined the Group in
June 2013 and held various positions including the head
of the finance division of Yunnan School and the head
of the budget division and the general manager of the
finance department of the Group. She was appointed as
a joint financial officer of the Group on 20 December 2017.
Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Luo worked at the Finance
Department of Chuzhou Branch, Anhui Electric Power
Co.(ZBAENRAMBINE N A F)In 2003. She worked
at the Finance Department of Wuhan Aier Eye Hospital
in 2005 and re-designated to Kunming Aier Eye Hospital
for participating in preparation of construction in 2010.
Ms. Luo graduated with a bachelor’s degree from Sichuan
University in 2003 and gof her Master's degree in Software
Engineering from Shandong University in July 2019. Since
July 2022, she has been studying for an Executive Master of
Business Administration (EMBA) degree in the China Europe
International Business School.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Group is Ms. Wong Wai Ling.

Ms. Wong Wai Ling (E £ %), was appointed as a joint
company secretary on 19 August 2016. She has over 10
years of experience in providing company secretarial
services in Hong Kong. Ms. Wong is the vice president of
SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited and
is responsible for assisting listed companies in professional
company secretarial work. Prior to joining SWCS Corporate
Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, she worked in a
corporate service provider and the company secretarial
department of an international accounting firm. Ms. Wong
is an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance
Institute.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 August 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group (i) operated Yunnan School and Guizhou School;
and (ii) completed the investments in the following schools,
including: Central China School, Northeast School, Luoyang
School, Guangxi Schools, Gansu School and Zhengzhou
School. The analysis of the principal activities is set out in
the note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

The business review of the Group for the year ended
31 August 2022 is stated in the sections of “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”. The
description of principal risks and uncertainties exposed to
the Group is stated in the section of the “Principal Risks and
Responses” in Corporate Governance Report. The details
of significant events subsequent to the end of the financial
year, which would affect the Group, and discussion on
future business developments of the Group are set out in
the sections of "Chairman’s Statement” and “"Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report. The “Financial
Summary” on pages 280 to 281 of this annual report sets out
the analysis on the Group's performance for the year by key
financial performance indicators. A separate Environmental,
Social and Governance Report will set out the Group's
environmental policies and performance, compliance with
relevant laws and regulations and the discussion on the
relationship between the Group and students, employees,
suppliers and other stakeholders. The aforementioned
contents form parts of this Report of Directors.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 August 2022
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on
page 151 of this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at
31 August 2022 are set out in nofe 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to make the payment of a final
dividend of RMBO0.093 per Share for the year ended
31 August 2022 (for the year ended 31 August 2021:
RMBO0.083 per Share). The final dividend will be declared in
Renminbi and paid in Hong Kong dollars. The exchange rate
adopted for conversion was the average middle exchange
rate published by the People’s Bank of China of the five
business days prior to the declaration of the final dividend
(i.,e. 21 November 2022 to 25 November 2022) (RMB1.0 to
HK$1.09519). Accordingly, the amount of the final dividend
payable in Hong Kong dollars will be HK$0.10185 per Share.
The final dividend will be paid on Wednesday, 22 March
2023 to the Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Tuesday, 7 March
2023.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Reporfing Period are set outf in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 155
fo 156 of this annual report and notfe 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 August 2022, the Company’s reserve available
for distribution was RMB148,047,000 (as at 31 August 2021:
RMB131,951,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Shares during the Reporting
Period are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the charitable and other
donations made by the Group amounted to RMB27,057,800.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note
14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 August 2022 and as
at the date of this annual report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Zhao Shuai
Ms. Shen Chunmei

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson
Mr. Hu Jianbo

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi

Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter

In accordance with artficle 84(1) of the Articles of
Association and the Corporate Governance Code under
the Listing Rules, one-third of the Directors shall retire from
office at each annual general meeting, and every Director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, Mr. Hu Jianbo and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Petfer
shall retire by rotation, and being eligible, have offered
themselves for re-election at the 2023 annual general
meeting in accordance with the above requirements.
Details of re-election will be set out in the circular in
conjunction fo this annual report dispatched to the
Shareholders.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
section headed "Directors and Senior Management” of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
2023 annual general meeting has a service contfract which
is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than normal
statutory obligations.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company was entered into or existed during
the Reporting Period.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS'
MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed "Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions”
and otherwise disclosed in this annual report, no Director
or its connected entity (within the meaning of section 486
of the Companies Ordinance) had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any direct or indirect
major fransaction, arrangement or confract to which the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was
a party during the Reporting Period. During the Reportfing
Period, there was no provision of services to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries by the Controlling Shareholder of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and no contract of
significance was entered into.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As af 31 August 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required
tfo be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers were as follows:

(I) LONG POSITION IN THE COMPANY

ESRAUNEIN: ¢
" E B EEHE vl =] BHAES K
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares the Company
FHREN XESEEER BEaBEAAR
2REEFEAIMA 756,340,225 48.41%
Mr. Li Interest in a controlled corporation,
beneficial owner and founder of
a discretionary trust 756,340,225 48.41%
jt fb @) EmEBA 1,087,500 0.07%
Zhao Shuai @ Beneficial owner 1,087,500 0.07%
B EEF EmEBA 224,000 0.01%
Kwong Wai Sun Wilson ® Beneficial owner 224,000 0.01%
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FEAARRE
" E B EEMHE IR % & B BAES T
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares the Company
A R EmnEBEA 210,100 0.01%
Hu Jianbo Beneficial owner 210,100 0.01%
PR &g ) EmnEBEA 169,200 0.01%
Chan Tung Hoi ® Beneficial owner 169,200 0.01%
ZF e EmnEBEA 169,200 0.01%
Pang Tsz Kit Peter Beneficial owner 169,200 0.01%
RAERD EmnEBEA 350,000 0.02%
Shen Chunmei ) Beneficial owner 350,000 0.02%

a Notes:

(M

(2)

(3)

Z % 4 2 Aspire Education Management
MM —RRE - FULIREEH RS OE
1% 5 % A Aspire Education Management
FERMHBOER T % E£HF A Aspire
Education Technology 61.48% /& 17 -

AEUHBEBHFLRBEKRNIERAESR
Aspire Education Technology FT 3 i
W &= o T %4 R ¥F B Aspire Education
Consulting 79.19% & 1o &) 2 # 1§ 5t 2
BIMARBMERTA BURBEESFR
H & & 0 % 1R A ¥ B Aspire Education
Consulting FT#E RO M m - TREHER
A RITE D B HR20184E9A3H » 2019410
A218 K2020%F7H238 & ¥ & 709,300
5~ 122,90017 }620,30017 B A% #E 14 7] A&
[l E B 1TH91,452,500 % x5 R EE BE &= o

HWE R AEWER BRITESD B 2018510
A268 -~ 2019454818 - 20194 10A218
F2020%F7H238 & F H #9680,5001% -
14,4001 ~ 72,7007 % 148,90017 85 A% 4 1%
A] B [A) £ 2 17 791,016,500 0% f% 17 o 7% B 1
P

BEELEERR RRVITE D B R2018%10
A268 - 20194 4R1H - 2019410H21H
K& 202067H238 & T H 69114,4001) -
57,2001 ~ 12,1007 £ 40,3007 i i #& 1% 7]
BE M E B 1TH9224,000k IR fh R HE B 2= ©

(M

(2)

(3)
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Mr. Li is the sole shareholder of Aspire Education
Management and he is therefore deemed fo be
interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education
Management under the SFO. Mr. Li holds 61.48% shares
in Aspire Education Technology and he is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Aspire
Education Technology under the SFO. Mr. Li is the
founder and settlor of a discretionary trust which holds
79.19% shares in Aspire Education Consulting and he is
therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by Aspire Education Consulting under the SFO. Mr. Li
is deemed to be interested in 1,452,500 Shares which
may be issued to him upon exercise of the 709,300,
122,900 and 620,300 share options granted to him on
3 September 2018, 21 October 2019 and 23 July 2020,
respectively.

Mr. Zhao Shuai is deemed to be interested in 1,016,500
Shares which may be issued to him upon exercise of
the 680,500, 114,400, 72,700 and 148,900 share options
granted to him on 26 October 2018, 1 April 2019,
21 October 2019 and 23 July 2020, respectively.

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is deemed to be interested
in 224,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon
exercise of the 114,400, 57,200, 12,100 and 40,300 share
options granted to him on 26 October 2018, 1 April 2019,
21 October 2019 and 23 July 2020, respectively.
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(4) BB BEEEWE BRITED B HR20184F10
A26H - 20194818 -~ 2019410821
H }&2020%7H238 #% T £ #114,4001)
57,20017 - 8,700 }.29,8001) k& A% #E 1% 7]
BE A H B 1T HI210,100 8 B 1D R B HE2S ©

(5) BRXEGEEHRABRITED B R2019F10
A218 20204 7H238 % F & #135,600
15 33,6001 BE M i Al e M H BT
169,200/% & 10 A % B &= ©

(6) ZFHEBLHIR R/RITED B R2019410
A218 &k202067H23H & T A #9135,600
7 }33,60010 fE W R AT gL M KX 3 1T &Y
169,200 B fn h A #E a5 o

(7) MEBZTHEE RBNITER2020F7723
B # 7 H #9350,00017 & M4 12 7] 88 (M) H 2%
F7#9350,000% I 0 R B 2 -

(4)  Mr. Hu Jianbo is deemed to be inferested in 210,100
Shares which may be issued to him upon exercise of the
114,400, 57,200, 8,700 and 29,800 share options granted
tfo him on 26 October 2018, 1 April 2019, 21 October 2019
and 23 July 2020, respectively.

(5)  Mr. Chan Tung Hoi is deemed to be interested in 169,200
Shares which may be issued to him upon exercise of
the 135,600 and 33,600 share options granted to him on
21 October 2019 and 23 July 2020, respectively.

(6) Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter is deemed to be interested in
169,200 Shares which may be issued to him upon
exercise of the 135,600 and 33,600 share options
granted to him on 21 October 2019 and 23 July 2020,
respectively.

(7)  Ms. Shen Chunmeiis deemed to be interested in 350,000
Shares which may be issued to her upon exercise of the
350,000 share options granted to her on 23 July 2020.

EFEHE Yun Ai Group
FEEESR
R FE B A
" E B REHE EMEXNEHE Ao
Approximate
percentage of
Amount of shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of interest registered capital Yun Ai Group
FHRAEN RESEEEE A R #24,720,5237C 70.8305%
Mr. Li Interest in a controlled corporation RMB24,720,523 70.8305%

B ot BT AR BB E S - 202248 A318 - i #E K Save as disclosed above, as at 31 August 2022, none of the

RAEERRFTERAEBRIE R SR ARF H
HEBEB RN  HEROIERES  #HE
REZBFLPEGRIEIS2GEREARARTNATH
FORELMALE  HAREBEFSETAAMNE RN
RAINBZAHEMEERIAR -

EEWNEROIEEZNER

BAFHREMIBOMABEESN  RBEHE - K
ANAEEEAMBRRY EELERZEE > AE
EXMEBWEARRA A EMBEE R D
SEREMESER B ESEN A AE
BRISEATZFREREMBEARAREM
HpCXERB RGSIESFBNADITEE
EEEN R R

Directors or the chief executive of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations that was required to be recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no fime
during the Reporting Period was the Company or any of ifs
subsidiaries a party fo any arrangement that would enable
the Directors to acquire interests by means of acquisition
of shares in, or debenfures of, the Company or any other
corporations, and none of the Directors or any of their
spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any
right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the
Company or any other body corporate or had exercised
any such right.
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M20224F8A31H - RIFEFEF N HE P EXV I
F2REIDHMZENARAARARE  KEER
NREARBHRBEGOIEBERERTFZER
MR sr - HEME AR R P2 sk
BT

() REXARGEEBROFNERK

SHARES

As at 31 August 2022, interests or short positions which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, are as
follows:

(1) INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

KRB

REXAHWIFE Long Position in the Company
FrEARARE
R HE 48 49
mE LB B REEEE R&© &R BAL
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares the Company
Aspire Education Management 1 Bz A A 522,727,625 33.46%
Aspire Education Management (' Beneficial owner 522,727,625 33.46%
Aspire Education Technology ExBEEAA 176,160,100 11.28%
Aspire Education Technology Beneficial owner 176,160,100 11.28%
FRAEN XEGEEER BEaBEAAR
ZREFFTAIIA 756,340,225 48.41%
Mr. Li Interest in a controlled
corporation, beneficial owner
and founder of a discretionary
frust 756,340,225 48.41%
TX Capital (HK) Limited @ wEKRE 110,139,000 7.05%
TX Capital (HK) Limited @ Investment manager 110,139,000 7.05%
EMEEEREBERAAP KREKIER 98,099,000 6.28%
Greenwoods Asset Management Investment manager
Hong Kong Limited @ 98,099,000 6.28%
Invest Partner Group Limited @ =P A B R 98,099,000 6.28%
Invest Partner Group Limited © Interest in a controlled
corporation 98,099,000 6.28%
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B &t

Z % 4 2 Aspire Education Management (1)
W —-—RE ALEBEERAEER

B % 5 &k B & 1§ Aspire Education
Management Fi7 £ i% 17 &) 1 &5 -

(M

Z % & 4% 45 Aspire Education Technology
V& BT #61.48% 2 B 1T R D - B it 1
BREREBEREZEF K BHE K Aspire
Education Technology fT 5 J& 1D F #E 25 ©

FHRERZEGERAPARVER TAR
E Aspire Education Consulting # & &f
D79.19% 28 TRG - AUEBEH R BES
1B 1% % % & 21 & & ] Aspire Education
Consulting AT £ i& 15 8 4 75 ©

FREERBR BN TE R2018F9A3A -
20194 10H21H &% 20209 7H23H 7 5l &% F
H 1709,30013 * 122,90015 }620,30017 &
% # 1% BT B2 [A) K 85 1T 891,452, 500F% Ak 7 &

mAEEZ -
(2) TX Capital Value Fund B TX Capital (HK) (2)
Limited 100% % f% - It + TX Capital
(HK) Limited R #&FE 5 R I E &GO R &
MTX Capital Value FundFf # & B 7 &
BREm -
(3) Golden China Master Fund K& (3)

Greenwoods China Alpha Master Fund
EEESMNEAEEERABAERARERE
& 432 - fHInvest Partner Group Limited
100% # A&)100% & A% - It + Invest
Partner Group Limited & & & & & &
EEBERAAZERBEESFRBEHH
18 B 7 Golden China Master Fund &
Greenwoods China Alpha Master Fund
FrEERDFPHEERER -

Notes:

Mr. Li is the sole shareholder of Aspire Education
Management and he is therefore deemed fo be
interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education
Management under the SFO.

Mr. Li holds approximately 61.48% of the total issued
shares in Aspire Education Technology and he is
therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Aspire Education Technology under the SFO.

Mr. Li is the founder and settlor of a discretionary trust
which holds approximately 79.19% of the total issued
shares in Aspire Education Consulting and he is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Aspire
Education Consulting under the SFO.

Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in 1,452,500 Shares
which may be issued tfo him upon exercise of the
709,300, 122,900 and 620,300 share options granted to
him on 3 September 2018, 21 October 2019 and 23 July
2020, respectively.

TX Capital Value Fund is 100% conftrolled by TX Capital
(HK) Limited, and therefore TX Capital (HK) Limited
is deemed to be inferested in the Shares held by TX
Capital Value Fund under the SFO.

Each of Golden China Master Fund and Greenwoods
China Alpha Master Fund is 100% controlled by
Greenwoods Asset Management Hong Kong Limited as
the investment manager which is in turn 100% owned
by Invest Partner Group Limited. Therefore, each of
Invest Partner Group Limited and Greenwoods Asset
Management Hong Kong Limited is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Golden China Master Fund
and Greenwoods China Alpha Master Fund under the SFO.

(I1) LONG POSITION IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

REZEZEEHIFE Long position in Yun Ai Group
FEEER
& R A fiR A B 49
wE /A8 B REEME WEHE Bok
Approximate
percentage of
Amount of registered shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of interest share capital the Yun Ai Group

SHEE
Songming Dexue

EnBEAA
Beneficial owner

Em#AA
Beneficial owner

PEH B
Pai Dui Pai

AR #24,720,5237T 70.8305%
RMB24,720,523 70.8305%

A K #7,000,0007T 20.0568%
RMB7,000,000 20.0568%
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HEESHEBEEALSEEBERENTRNER
E’J*Em

5/\2017£E3H20E| HﬂHXHX%LXZ’K jiﬁjmn]—i
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m}l &

BIYNNTESCENERRRERMERS - 8
RIELME()ZERBRREBBEERNBEHBRE
Eau—rT IR N (b) 45 Ik R R S B
VERESEMNRRFUERER - BUFRNTES
EH RBEEHEIBEFRENGERCEZE
BT RAT »

On 19 November 2021, Yun Ai Group entered info an equity
fransfer agreement with Ningde Company pursuant to
which 26.09% equity interest in Haxuan Company held by
Ningde Company was transferred fo Yun Ai Group. Such
equity fransfer was registered with the market supervision
department in the PRC on 26 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 August 2022, the Directors
were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors
or chief executive of the Company) who had an interest
or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required,
pursuant tfo Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING OF THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 August 2022, none of the Conftrolling Shareholders
had any other interests in any business which is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of
the Group.

The Controlling Shareholders have entered into the Deed of
Non-competition on 20 March 2017 in favor of the Company.
For the details of the Deed of Non-competition, please refer
to the Prospectus and previous annual reports.

The Company has received confirmations from the
Controlling Shareholders confirming their compliance with
the Deed of Non-competition during the Reporting Period
for disclosure in this annual report.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the declarations made by the Controlling Shareholders,
confirmed and notfed that (a) the Controlling Shareholders
declared that they had fully complied with the Deed of
Non-competition throughout the Reporting Period; and
(b) no new competing business was reported by the
Controlling Shareholders throughout the Reporting Period.
The independent non-executive Directors were satisfied
that the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition had been
duly complied with and enforced throughout the Reporting
Period.
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RO EEREBESHAR -

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their
respective associates had engaged in or had any infterests
in any business which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period and fill the date of this annual
report, the following transactions carried out by the Group
and the connected persons of the Company constifuted
non-exempt continuing connected fransactions of the
Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rule:

STRUCTURED CONTRACTS
A. BACKGROUND AND OVERVIEW

As the PRC laws and regulations generally restrict
foreign ownership involve in the private education
industry in the PRC, therefore we currently conduct
our private higher education business, secondary
vocational education business and senior secondary
education business through the PRC Operating Schools
in the PRC. The PRC laws and regulations currently
restrict the operation of higher education institutions,
secondary vocational education business and senior
secondary education business under Sino-foreign
cooperation ownership, in addition fo imposing
qualification requirements on the foreign owners. We
do not hold any sponsor's interest in the PRC Operating
Schools. The Structured Contracts, through which
we obtain control over and derive the economic
benefits from the PRC Operating Schools, have been
narrowly tailored to achieve our business purpose and
minimize the potential conflict with relevant PRC laws
and regulations. We had entered into the Structured
Conftracts for the PRC Operating Schools and expect
to enter info structured contracts for the schools to
be newly established or invested in, the terms and
conditions of which shall be the same as the Structured
Contracts in all material aspects.
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BEBETHBERER  RRHEERMEA
BREAMSERAERZERMBELE B
MEEMBAREIEQANR2016F9A8H -
2018410A8H - 2018412 A10H ~ 20194
1A1TH R201968A268 7 5l &2 (E /£ #E)
REFEHEEERLEEEREMNEEE
ZEEBEXNBRBEEBESYO RS Bt
REFEHZESEREEEEREMRENHE
BEENBEEIHEAZEESERENAM
BRBENEUNREFHEEERRREE
REBREMBEAANINTREENEAE
EEBEQG  MAEGSFREERERNT
A -BRELERRELESHAEEE—F
S BEDAEREBEEHEAONSE THha=
METHT  UREREESENRRENE
B EdRBE QA EE o

REEBUEANAE TERIL B R HE
S HEEMN2019F8H26H K2019F12H6H
IV EEZGEMEBE - RBEE
MEHVERRIE RFLERE -BEFEH
RABMEER BEARNKETEECH
Y RIGEmEERTEEEEGLN) - 4
BHAEAOMKEIREGEHEBEEBEESLD
ANEHERB - THEBUHEEHNRAREE DRI
2020 5H88H + 20204 7A29H + 202048
A278 ~ 202142548 - 202148208 -
20214E5H25H ~ 2021498288 K 2021411
AORKENERNERES B AIBRE

—H LT -

HFER2HEERERANAIEBUHEESY]—5
LA K AN A 7 B 81 A£201810H8H ~ 20184
12A10H ~ 201941118 « 201948726
H - 2019412868 - 20204 548H + 2020
78298 - 2020 8A278 ~ 2021924
4H -~ 20214 H20H - 2021458258 -
20214F9H28H K2021F 1M AIPER A & -

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations
while availing ourselves of intfernational capital
markefs and maintaining effective control over all of
our operations, on 8 September 2016, 8 October 2018,
10 December 2018, 11 January 2019 and 26 August
2019, respectively, our wholly-owned subsidiary,
Huihuang Company, entered into various agreements
that constitute the Existing Structured Contracts with,
among others, the Existing PRC Operating Schools
and the Existing School Sponsors, under which all
economic benefits arising from the business of the
Existing PRC Operating Schools and the Existing School
Sponsors held directly or indirectly by Yun Ai Group
are fransferred to Huihuang Company to the extent
permitted under the PRC laws and regulations by
means of service fees payable by the Existing PRC
Operating Schools and the Existing School Sponsors
to Huihuang Company. Although the Registered
Shareholders are not consolidated as part of the
Group, they are parties to certain agreements which
constitute the Structured Contracts to ensure that
the shareholders’ rights of Yun Ai Group are actually
controlled by Huihuang Company.

The Existing Structured Confracts were amended
due to the equity transfer agreements entered into
between certain then Registered Shareholders and
Songming Dexue on 26 August 2019 and 6 December
2019. The Existing Structured Contracts were terminated
and a series of agreements comprising the New
Structured Conftracts were entered into between
New Registered Shareholders, the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Enfities, Huihuang Company
and Yun Ai Group. The terms and conditions of the
New Structured Conftracts are substantially the same as
those under the Existing Structured Contracts. The New
Structured Contracts were further amended by various
supplemental agreements due fo the acquisition
of interest in new schools by the Group on 8 May
2020, 29 July 2020, 27 August 2020, 4 February 2021,
20 April 2021, 25 May 2021, 28 September 2021 and
19 November 2021, respectively.

Please refer to the section headed “Structured
Contracts” in the Prospectus, as well as the
announcements of the Company dated 8 October
2018, 10 December 2018, 11 January 2019, 26 August
2019, 6 December 2019, 8 May 2020, 29 July 2020,
27 August 2020, 4 February 2021, 20 April 2021, 25 May
2021, 28 September 2021 and 19 November 2021 for
details.
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Structured Conftracts

During the Reporting Period, Zhengzhou New
Higher Education, Beijing New Higher Education
(a company holding 100% equity interest of
Zhengzhou New Higher Education and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Yun Ai Group), the Zhengzhou
School and the newly appointed directors of the
Zhengzhou School designated by Zhengzhou
New Higher Education entered info the eighth
supplemental agreement to the New Structured
Confracts with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group
and the registered shareholders of Yun Ai Group,
to reflect the Group’s interests in the Zhengzhou
School.

(2) The Ninth Supplemental Agreement to the New
Structured Contracts

During the Reporting Period, Haxuan Company,
the Northeast School and the newly appointed
directors of the Northeast School designated
by Haxuan Company enfered into the ninth
supplemental agreement with Huihuang
Company, Yun Ai Group and the registered
shareholders of Yun Ai Group, to reflect the
change in shareholding of Haxuan Company.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow
of economic benefits from the PRC Operating
Schools and/or the School Sponsors to the Group
stipulated under the New Structured Contracts:

NN

The Company
100% T
v v |
IEE QT @)O)7) | RERR :

Huihuang Company Registered shareholders ' (4)65)
A : i |
1) 1 1 (2)(8 100% |
(): 6()() ° | prC :
HEGESHEER
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities

EYRENERSERESMAR

denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest

----- EEBIAR

denotes Structured Contracts
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Notes:
1. Payment of service fees.

2. Provision of exclusive tfechnical and management
consultancy services.

3. Exclusive call option to acquire all or part of the
school sponsors’ interest in the PRC Operating
Schools and all or part of equity infterest in the
School Sponsors.

4. Entrustment of school sponsors’ rights in the PRC
Operating Schools by the School Sponsors.

5. Entrustment of directors’ rights in the PRC
Operating Schools by directors of the PRC
Operating Schools including directors’ powers of
attorney.

6. Entrust of Shareholders’ right including
Shareholders’ power of attorney.

7. Pledge of equity interest by the Registered
Shareholders of their equity interest in Yun Ai
Group.

8. Provision of loans by Huihuang Company fo Yun Ai
Group.

9. According to PRC laws and regulations, entities
and individuals who establish private schools are
commonly referred to as “school sponsors” instead
of "owners” or “shareholders”.

As of the date of this annual report, no regulatory
authority has interfered or prevented us from adopting
the new structured confracts as planned, and the
consolidated financial results of the PRC Operating
Schools engaged in higher education services have
been consolidated into the results of the Group.

B. SUMMARY OF THE MATERIAL TERMS OF THE NEW
STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

A description of each of the specific agreements
that comprise the New Structured Conftracts is set out
below.

(1) Business Cooperation Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement
(2019), Huihuang Company shall provide technical
services, management support and consulting
services required for the private education
business, and the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities shall pay the corresponding fees
accordingly.
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To ensure the due performance of the New
Structured Conftracts, each of the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities agreed to comply
with, and procure any of its subsidiaries fo comply
with, and the New Registered Shareholders
agreed to procure the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to comply with the obligations
as prescribed under the Business Cooperation
Agreement (2019) set forth as follows:

(a) to carry out its private education operations
in a prudent and efficient manner in
accordance with proper financial and
business standards while maintaining the
assets value of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and the quality and
standard of private education;

(b) to prepare school development plans and
annual working plans in accordance with the
instructions of Huihuang Company;

(c) to carry out its private education activities
and other relevant business under the
assistance of Huihuang Company;

(d) to carry out and manage its daily operations
and financial management in accordance
with the recommendations, advice, principles
and other instructions of Huihuang Company;

(e) to execute and act upon the recommendations
of Huihuang Company in terms of employment
and removal of senior management and staff;

(f) to adopt the advice, guidance and plans
given by Huihuang Company in relation to
their respective strategic development; and

(g) to carry out its business operations and renew
and maintain its relevant requisite licenses.
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In addition, pursuant to the Business Cooperation
Agreement (2019),

(q)

(b)

Mr. Li undertakes to Huihuang Company
that, in the event of death, loss of or
restriction on capacity, divorce or other
circumstances which may affect the exercise
of his direct or indirect equity inferest in the
New Registered Shareholders, he shall have
made all necessary arrangements and sign
all necessary documents such that their
respective successor, guardian, spouse, and
any other person which may as a result of
the above events obtain the equity interest
or relevant rights shall not prejudice or hinder
the enforcement of the New Sfructured
Confracts;

the New Registered Shareholders undertake
to Huihuang Company that, in the event
of a merger and subdivision of the New
Registered Shareholders, any application
for winding up, liquidation, winding up
restructuring or reconciliation by the New
Registered Shareholders or a third party,
dissolution and liquidation of the New
Registered Shareholders pursuant to an
order, application for involuntary dissolution
of the New Registered Shareholders or
for other reasons, or other circumstances
which may affect the New Regisfered
Shareholders in exercising their direct or
indirect interest in Yun Ai Group, they shall
have made all necessary arrangements
and sign all necessary documents such that
the successor, administrator, liquidation
committee and any other person which may
as a result of the above events obtfain the
direct or indirect interest or relevant rights in
Yun Ai Group shall not prejudice or hinder
the enforcement of the New Sfructured
Contracts;
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the New Registered Shareholders undertake
that, in the event of the dissolution or
liguidation of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities, (i) Huihuang Company shall
have the right to exercise all school sponsor’s
interests/shareholders’ rights on the Existing
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities (except
for the Existing PRC Operating Schools) on
behalf of the Existing School Sponsors; (ii)
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Enfities
and/or Existing School Sponsors and/or the
shareholders or sponsors of the Existing
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall
fransfer all assetfs received or receivable in
their capacity as school sponsor of each
of the Existing PRC Operating Schools/as
shareholders of each of the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities (except for
the Existing PRC Operating Schools) as a
result of the dissolution or liquidation of the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities
to Huihuang Company or other persons
designated by us at nil consideration, and
instruct all of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to transfer such assets
directly to Huihuang Company before such
dissolution or liquidation; (iii) if consideration
is required for such transfer under the then
applicable PRC laws, the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and/or the
shareholders or sponsors of the Existing
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall
compensate Huihuang Company or the
person as designated by us the amount and
guarantee that Huihuang Company or other
persons as designated by us do not suffer any
loss; and

the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities agreed that, without the prior written
consent of Huihuang Company, the Existing
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall
not declare or pay to the New Registered
Shareholders any school-running balances
(B 45 82) or other interest or benefit. In the
event that the New Registered Shareholders
receive any school-running balances (iff 2
48 ) or other interest or benefit, the New
Registered Shareholders shall unconditionally
and without compensation transfer such
amount to Huihuang Company.
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Exclusive Technical Service and Management
Consultancy Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical Service
and Management Consultancy Agreement
(2019), Huihuang Company agreed to provide
exclusive technical services to the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities, including but
not limited to, (a) design, development, update
and maintenance of software for computer
and mobile devices; (b) design, development,
update and maintenance of webpages and
websites necessary for the education activities
of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities; (c) design, development, update and
maintenance of management information systems
necessary for the education activities of the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities; (d)
provision of other technical support necessary
for the education activities of the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Enftities; (e) provision of
technical consulting services; (f) provision of
technical training; (g) engaging technical staff
to provide on-site technical support; and (h)
providing other technical services reasonably
requested by the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities.

Furthermore, Huihuang Company agreed to
provide exclusive management consultancy
services to the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities, including but not limited to, (a) design
of curriculum; (b) preparation, selection and/or
recommendation of course materials; (c) provision
of teacher and staff recruitment and training
support and services; (d) provision of student
recruitment support and services; (e) provision of
public relation services; (f) preparation of long
term strategic development plans and annual
working plans; (g) development of financial
management systems and recommendation
and optimization on annual budget; (h) advising
on design of internal structures and internal
management; (i) provision of management
and consultancy training; (j) conduct of market
research; (k) preparation of market development
plan; (I) building of marketing network; and
(m) providing other management technical
services reasonably requested by the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities.
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In consideration of the technical and
management consultancy services provided by
Huihuang Company, each of the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities agreed to pay
Huihuang Company a service fee equal to an
agreed percentage of their respective amount of
surplus from operations (after deducting all costs,
expenses, taxes, losses from the previous year (if
required by the law) and the legally compulsory
education development fund of the respective
school (if required by the law)). The compulsory
education development fund is included as
statutory surplus reserve at the Group’s level and
retained at schools’ level. Huihuang Company
has the right (but not the obligation) to adjust
the amount of such service fee by reference
to the actual services provided and the actual
business operations and needs of the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities, provided that any
adjusted amount shall not exceed the amount
mentioned above. The Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities do not have any right to make
any such adjustment.

Exclusive Call Option Agreement (2019)

Under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement
(2019), the New Registered Shareholders have
irrevocably granted Huihuang Company or its
designated purchaser the right to purchase all or
part of the school sponsor’s interest of the Existing
School Sponsors in the Existing PRC Operating
Schools and equity inferest in the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Enftities (except for
the Existing PRC Operating Schools) (“Equity
Call Option”). The purchase price payable by
Huihuang Company in respect of the transfer of
such school sponsor’s interest or equity interest
upon exercise of the Equity Call Option shall
be the lowest price permitted under the PRC
laws and regulations. Huihuang Company or
its designated purchaser shall have the right
to purchase such proportion of the school
sponsor’s interest of the Existing PRC Operating
Schools and/or equity interest in the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities (except for the
Existing PRC Operating Schools) as it decides at
any fime.
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School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ and Directors’
Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019), the Existing
School Sponsors have irrevocably authorized and
entrusted Huihuang Company to exercise all their
rights as school sponsor of each of the Existing
PRC Operating Schools to the extent permitted by
PRC laws. These rights include, but are not limited
to: (a) the right to appoint and/or elect directors
or council members of the schools; (b) the right to
appoint and/or elect supervisors of the schools;
(c) the right to understand the operation and
financial situation of the schools; (d) the right to
review the resolutions and records of the board
of directors and financial statements and reports
of the schools; (e) the right to obtain school-
running balances as school sponsor of the schools
in accordance with the laws and the articles of
association of each school; (f) the right fo acquire
residue assets upon liquidation of the schools
in accordance with the laws and the articles of
association of each school; (g) the right to transfer
school sponsors’ interest in accordance with the
laws; and (h) other school sponsor’s rights pursuant
to applicable PRC laws and regulations and the
articles of association of each school as amended
from time to time.

Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ and Directors’
Rights Entrustment Agreement, each of the
directors of each school (the “Appointees”) has
irrevocably authorized and entfrusted Huihuang
Company to exercise all his/her rights as
directors of the Existing PRC Operating Schools
as appointed by the Existing School Sponsors
and to the extent permitted by PRC laws. These
rights include, but are not limited fo: (a) the right
to afttend meetings of the board of directors as
representatives of the directors appointed by the
Existing School Sponsors; (b) the right to exercise
voting rights in respect of all matters discussed
and resolved at the board meeting of each of
the Existing PRC Operating Schools; (c) the right
to propose to convene interim board meetings
of each of the Existing PRC Operating Schools;
(d) the right to sign all board minutes, board
resolutions and other legal documents which
the directors appointed by the Existing School
Sponsors have authority fo sign in their capacity
as directors of the Existing PRC Operating Schools;
(e) the right to instruct the legal representative
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and financial and business responsible persons
of the Existing PRC Operating Schools to act in
accordance with the instruction of Huihuang
Company; (f) the right to exercise all other rights
and voting rights of directors as prescribed
under the artficles of association of the Existing
PRC Operating Schools; (g) the right to handle
the legal procedures of registration, approval
and licensing of the Existing PRC Operating
Schools, as the case may be at the education
department, the department of civil affairs or
other government regulaftory departments; and
(h) other directors’ rights pursuant to applicable
PRC laws and regulations and the articles of
association of the Existing PRC Operating Schools
as amended from time fo time.

School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)

Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ Powers of
Attorney (2019) executed by the Existing School
Sponsors in favor of Huihuang Company,
the Existing School Sponsors authorized and
appointed Huihuang Company (none of whom is
a director of any of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and therefore does not give
rise to any conflicts of interest), as their agent to
act on their behalf to exercise or delegate the
exercise of all their rights as school sponsor of
each of the Existing PRC Operating Schools.

Huihuang Company shall have the right to further
delegate the rights so delegated to the directors
of Huihuang Company or other designated
person. The Existing School Sponsors irrevocably
agreed that the authorization appointment in
the School Sponsor’'s Powers of Attorney shall not
be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise adversely
affected by reason of the Existing School Sponsors’
subdivision, merger, winding up, consolidation,
liguidation or other similar events. The School
Sponsors’' Powers of Attorney (2019) shall constitute
a part and incorporate terms of the School
Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement (2019).
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Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)

Pursuant to the Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)
executed by each of the Appointees in favor of
Huihuang Company, each of the Appointees
authorized and appointed Huihuang Company
(none of whom is a director of any of the Existing
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and therefore
does not give rise to any conflicts of interest), as
his/her agent to act on his/her behalf to exercise
or delegate the exercise of all of his/her rights as
directors of the Existing PRC Operating Schools.

Huihuang Company shall have the right to further
delegate the rights so delegated to the directors
of Huihuang Company or other designated
person. Each of the Appointees irrevocably
agreed that the authorization appointment in
the Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019) shall not
be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise adversely
affected by reason of his/her loss of or restriction
on capacity, death or other similar events.
The Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019) shall
constitute a part and incorporate terms of the
School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement (2019).

Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement (2019), each of the New Registered
Shareholders, Yun Ai Group, Daai Shuren,
Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue has
irrevocably authorized and entrusted Huihuang
Company to exercise all of his/their respective
rights as shareholders of the Existing School
Sponsors (together, “the Relevant Subsidiaries”)
to the extent permitted by the PRC laws. These
rights include, but are not limited to: (a) the right
to attend shareholders’ meetings of the Relevant
Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (b) the right
to exercise voting rights in respect of all matters
discussed and resolved at the shareholders’
meeting of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case
may be; (c) the right to appoint directors or
legal representative of the Relevant Subsidiaries,
as the case may be; (d) the right to propose to
convene interim shareholders’ meetings of the
Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (e)
the right to sign all shareholders’ resolutions and
other legal documents which the New Registered
Shareholders and Yun Ai Group have authority
fo sign in his or their capacity as shareholders of
the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be;
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(f) the right to instruct the directors and legal
representatives of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as
the case may be to act in accordance with the
instruction of Huihuang Company; (g) the right
fo exercise all other rights and voting rights of
shareholders as prescribed under the articles of
association of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the
case may be; (h) the right to handle the legal
procedures of registration, approval and licensing
of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be
at the education department, the department
of civil affairs or other government regulatory
departments; and (i) other shareholders’ rights
pursuant fo applicable PRC laws and regulations
and the articles of association of the Relevant
Subsidiaries as amended from time o time.

In addition, each of the New Registered
Shareholders, Yun Ai Group, Daai Shuren,
Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue has
irrevocably agreed that (i) Huihuang Company
may delegate its rights under the Shareholders’
Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019) to the
directors of Huihuang Company or its designated
person, without prior notfice to or approval by
the New Registered Shareholders and Yun Ai
Group; and (ii) any person as successor of civil
rights of Huihuang Company or liquidator by
reason of subdivision, merger, liquidation of
Huihuang Company or other circumstances shall
have authority fo replace Huihuang Company to
exercise all rights under the Shareholders' Rights
Entrustment Agreement (2019).

Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney (2019)

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney
(2019) executed by each of the New Registered
Shareholders, Yun Ai Group, Daai Shuren,
Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue in favor
of Huihuang Company, each of them authorized
and appointed Huihuang Company, as his or their
agent to act on his or their behalf fo exercise or
delegate the exercise of all his or their rights as
shareholders of the Relevant Subsidiaries.

N

TR R BEREA IR AT o 4R 2022



(%)

LN

BEARARE—SERETHES
S HIEE A LHRF - BFRER

EEEE AEHA SRHE
BUARAESSTAMMLAE B
REME(2019%) F7 5 BIES 5118
B B A B0 %8 5 17 /8 B 0 317 B B
PR T o A F L T SR
FRATHRBHANTALE - |
R 4518 B (2019%F) /8 /B B 0B I 5 3
15 3% (20194 ) — # 15 B @ & % & ¥
15320 B 15 3 -

R 3 -f 8
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

Huihuang Company shall have the right to
further delegate the rights so delegated fo its
directors or other designated person. Each of
the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai Group,
Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai
Gaoxue irrevocably agreed that the authorization
appointment in the Shareholders’ Powers of
Attorney (2019) shall not be invalid, prejudiced
or otherwise adversely affected by reason of
his/her loss of or restriction on capacity, death
or other similar events. The Shareholders’ Powers
of Attorney (2019) shall constitute a part and
incorporate terms of the Shareholders’ Rights
Enfrustment Agreement (2019).

B 18 # &% (2019 4F) (9) Spouse Undertakings (2019)

RAEER B AEQ019F) TR ENE Pursuant to the Spouse Undertakings (2019), the

18 1 A 43R M R R spouse of Mr. Li has irrevocably undertaken that:

() EEBE2MBUIREZTREER (a) the spouse has full knowledge of and
FEBEAY  EBIETER has consented to the entering into of the
HENMBEEEREEESEENE New Structured Contracts by Mr. Li, and in
B HEERERXEE - E K particular, the arrangement as set out in the
HENEEEENEZLHER New Structured Contracts in relation to the
BINEMEMERANEEREE restrictions imposed on the direct or indirect
EEMEENEEREZ T equity interest in Yun Ai Group, pledge or

fransfer the direct or indirect equity interest in
Yun Ai Group, or the disposal of the direct or
indirect equity inferest in Yun Ai Group in any
other forms;

(b) MBYELE. . Tg2HE XK (b) the spouse has not participated, is not
TR2HEEHERAETRHEEH B participating and shall not in the future
TENEE - B B8 WA participate in the operation, management,
FEAMEIE: liguidation, dissolution and other matters

in relation to the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities;

(c) MEBEEZTTAESEREALTDT (c) the spouse authorizes Mr. Li or his authorized
KARBREREREEBREBRE person to execute all necessary documents
BEENRE(EERIBE) &3] and perform all necessary procedures from
FRENEXHRANTHELER time to time for and on behalf of the spouse
FrAREFLEBEESHNETE in relation to the spouse’s equity interest in
BAGNESITEKRMIRE - Yun Ai Group (direct or indirect) in order to
fic 18 B 22 K [R] &= — ) A8 B S safeguard the interest of Huihuang Company
IERS under the New Structured Contracts and

give effect to the fundamental purposes
thereunder, and confirms and agrees to all
such documents and procedures;

91
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(d) any undertaking, confirmation, consent and
authorization under the Spouse Undertakings
(2019) shall not be revoked, prejudiced,
invalidated or otherwise adversely affected
by any increase, decrease, consolidation or
other similar events relating tfo the direct or

indirect equity inferest in Yun Ai Group;

any undertaking, confirmatfion, consent and
authorization under the Spouse Undertakings
(2019) shall not be revoked, prejudiced,
invalidated or otherwise adversely affected
by death, loss of or restriction on capacity of
the spouse, divorce or other similar events;

all undertakings, confirmations, consents and
authorizations under the Spouse Undertakings
(2019) shall continue fo be valid and binding
until otherwise terminated by both Huihuang
Company and the spouse of Mr. Li in writing;
and

The Spouse Undertakings shall have the same
term as and incorporate the terms of the
Business Cooperation Agreement (2019).

(9)

(10) Equity Pledge Agreement (2019)

92

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019),
each of the New Registered Shareholders
unconditionally and irrevocably pledged and
granted first priority security interests over all
of its equity interest in Yun Ai Group together
with all related rights thereto to Huihuang
Company as security for performance of the
New Structured Contracts and all direct, indirect
or consequential damages and foreseeable loss
of interest incurred by Huihuang Company as a
result of any event of default on the part of the
New Registered Shareholders, or each of the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and
all expenses incurred by Huihuang Company as
a result of enforcement of the obligations of the
New Registered Shareholders and/or each of
the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities
under the New Structured Confracts (the “Secured
Indebtedness”).
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Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019),
without the prior written consent of Huihuang
Company, the New Registered Shareholders shall
not transfer the equity interest or create further
pledge or encumbrance over the pledged equity
interest. Any unauthorized transfer shall be invalid,
and the proceeds of any fransfer of the equity
interest shall be first used in the payment of the
Secured Indebtedness or deposited to such third
party as agreed to by Huihuang Company. The
New Registered Shareholders also waived any
pre-emptive rights upon enforcement and agreed
to any fransfer of the pledged equity pursuant o
the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019).

The pledges under the Equity Pledge Agreement
(2019) and the First Supplemental Agreement to
the New Structured Contracts were registered with
the relevant Administration for Market Regulation
of the PRC on 2 Sepftember 2019 and 2 January
2020 and became effective on the same date of
the registration of the pledge.

Loan Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement (2019), Huihuang
Company agreed fto provide interest-free loans
fo Yun Ai Group in accordance with the PRC laws
and regulations and Yun Ai Group agreed fo
utilize the proceeds of such loans to confribute as
capital of the Existing PRC Operating Schools in
its capacity as school sponsor or the shareholder
of the school sponsors in accordance with our
instructions. Both parties agree that all such
capital contribution will be directly settled by
Huihuang Company on behalf of Yun Ai Group.

The ferms of the Loan Agreement (2019) shall
continue until all interest of the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities are transferred fo
Huihuang Company or its designee and/or the
Company or designee of the Company and the
registration process required thereafter has been
completed with the relevant local authorities.
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Each loan to be granted under the Loan
Agreement (2019) will be for an infinite term unfil
fermination at the sole discretion of Huihuang
Company. The loan will become due and
payable upon Huihuang Company’s demand
under any of the following circumstances:
(i) a bankruptcy application, bankruptcy
reorganization or bankruptcy settlement has been
filed by or against Yun Ai Group, (ii) a winding-up
or liquidation application has been filed by or
against Yun Ai Group, (iii) Yun Ai Group becomes
insolvent or incurs any otfher significant personal
debt which may affect its ability to repay the loan
under the Loan Agreement (2019), (iv) Huihuang
Company or its designee exercises in full its option
to purchase all the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities interests to the extent permitted
by PRC laws and regulations, or (v) any of the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Enftities
commits any breach of any obligations under
the New Structured Contracts, or any warranties
provided by any of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities under the New Structured
Contracts is proved incorrect or inaccurate. As
advised by the PRC Legal Advisors, interest-free
loans granted by Huihuang Company to Yun Ai
Group is not in violation of the applicable PRC
laws and regulations.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE PRC OPERATING
SCHOOLS AND THE SCHOOL SPONSORS

The PRC Consolidated Affiliated Enfities of the Group
are Yunnan School, Guizhou School, Central China
School, Northeast School, Luoyang School, Guangxi
Schools, Gansu School and Zhengzhou School, their
respective school sponsors, and other schools and
other investment holding companies which were
consolidated fo the Group by virtue of the Structured
Confracts, as amended from fime to time. Their
business activities are primarily engaged in higher
education services. All of the School Sponsors are
investment holding companies.
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SIGNIFICANCE AND FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS
OF THE PRC CONSOLIDATED AFFILIATED ENTITIES
TO THE GROUP

Pursuant to the New Structured Contracts and the
various supplemental agreements in relation thereto,
the Group obtains control over and derives the
economic benefits from the PRC Operating Schools
and the School Sponsors. The table below sets out the
financial contribution of the PRC Operating Schools
and the School Sponsors to the Group:

HAREBEMEZH K Significance and financial
contributions to the Group

# 15 E B

HEAKRENEEERMEBEER

Significance and financial contributions to the Group

(' ON e EEHE

Revenue Net profit Total Assets

B ZE2022%F B £2022%F 720224

8A31H 8H31H 8A31H
LtEE LtFE

For the For the As of

year ended
31 August 2022

year ended
31 August 2022

31 August 2022

100% 132% 97%

HEBESNFTSIBAREE E.

TR N E E2022F8A3NHIEFEH
LESERMERBREMS RO ()KRA R
(MEERE FHRARBEEBREN&
BHEEAONEEAENS O T WHHE A
REBENBEHRE:

REVENUE AND ASSETS INVOLVED IN THE NEW
STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

The table below sets out (i) revenue; and (ii) fotal assets
involved in the PRC Operating Schools and the School
Sponsors for the year ended 31 August 2022, which
would be consolidated into the Group's financial
statements pursuant to the New Structural Contracts
and the various supplemental agreements in relation
thereto:

PELESR NEBREPE PRC Operating Schools and

School Sponsors

L@N EE
Revenue Assets
AR T AR¥TT

RMB RMB

1,921,752,497 8,804,742,892
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REGULATORY FRAMEWORK
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Higher Education

Pursuant to Special Administrative Measures for
Access of Foreign Investment (Negatfive List)
(2021 Edition) (the "Negative List"), the provision
of higher education in the PRC falls within the
“restricted” category. In particular, the Negative
List explicitly restricts higher education fo
Sino-foreign cooperation, which means the foreign
investor shall be an educational institution and
shall operate higher education in the PRC through
cooperation with a PRC educational institfution
in compliance with the Sino-Foreign Regulation.
In addition, the Negative List also provides that
the domestic party shall play a dominant role
in the Sino-foreign cooperation, meaning that
(a) the principal or other chief executive officer
of the school shall be a PRC national; and (b)
the representatives of the domestic party shall
account for no less than half of the total members
of the board of directors, the executive council
or the joint administration committee of the
Sino-foreign cooperative educational institution
(the "Foreign Control Restriction”). We had fully
complied with the Foreign Control Restriction in
respect of the PRC Operating Schools on the basis
that (a) the principals and the chief executive
officers of the aforementioned schools are all PRC
nationals; and (b) all the members of the board of
directors are PRC nationals.

In relation to the interpretation of Sino-foreign
cooperation, pursuant fo the Sino-Foreign
Regulation and its Implementation Regulations,
if we were to apply for any of the Schools to be
reorganized as a Sino-foreign joint venture private
school for PRC students (a "“Sino-Foreign Joint
Venture Private School”), the foreign investor in
the Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private School
must be a foreign educational institution with
relevant qualification and high quality education
(the *Qualification Requirement”). Furthermore,
pursuant to the Implementation Opinions,
the foreign portion of the total investment in
a Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private School
should be below 50% (the “Foreign Ownership
Restriction”) and the establishment of these
schools is subject to approval of education
authorities at the provincial or national level.
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Our PRC legal advisors have advised that as
of the date of this annual report, there are no
implementing measures or specific guidance on
the Qualification Requirement in accordance
with the existing PRC laws and regulations and
therefore it is currently uncertain as fo what
specific criteria must be met by a foreign investor
(such as length of experience required and
form and extent of ownership in the foreign
jurisdiction) in order fo demonstrate fo the
relevant educational authority that it meets the
Qualification Requirement. Accordingly, as a
matter of policy, due to the lack of implementing
measures or specific guidance on the Sino-Foreign
Regulation and its Implementation Regulations,
including the Qualification Requirement, the
relevant education authorities will not accept an
application to convert the PRC Operating Schools
or the schools fo be newly established or invested
by us intfo Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private
Schools.

Plan to Comply with the Qualification Requirement

The foreign investor in a Sino-foreign joint venture
private school must be a foreign educational
institution with relevant qualification and
high quality of education (the "Qualification
Requirement”). Foreign portion of the total
investment in a Sino-foreign joint venture
private school should be below 50% and the
establishment of these schools is subject to
approval of education authorities at the provincial
or national level. We are committed to working
towards meeting the Qualification Requirement.
We have adopted a specific plan and had taken
concrete steps which the Company believes
are meaningful endeavors to demonstrate
compliance with the Qualification Requirement.

As advised by the Company’'s PRC legal
advisors, there have been no updates fo
the implementation rules in relation to the
Qualification Requirement since the Listing Date
and up fo the date of this annual report.

Please also refer to the section headed
“Structured Contracts” in the Prospectus and the
annual report for the year ended 31 December
2018 for the Group's efforts and actions
undertaken to comply with the Qualification
Requirement. As of the date of this report, we are
still waiting for approval from the BPPE to establish
the new school in the State of California.
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3. Recent Development

For details, please refer to section headed
“Recent Developments of Regulatory Framework”
in Management Discussion and Analysis of this
annual report.

RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE ARRANGEMENTS
AND THE ACTIONS TAKEN TO MITIGATE THE
RISKS

We entered into a series of agreements in which our
wholly-owned subsidiary, Huihuang Company receives
economic benefits from the PRC Operating Schools
pursuant to relevant clauses under the agreements.

Foreign investment in the education industry in China
is extensively regulated and subject to numerous
restrictions. We have been and are expected fo
continue to be dependent on the New Structured
Confracts to operate our education business.

If the New Structured Contracts that establish the
structure for operating our China business are found
fo be in violation of any PRC laws or regulations in the
future or fail to obtain or maintain any of the required
permits or approvals, the relevant PRC regulatory
authorities, including the MOE, which regulates the
education industry, would have broad discretion in
dealing with such violations, including:

. revoking the business and operating licenses of
our PRC subsidiaries;

. discontinuing or restricting the operations of
any related-party transactions among our PRC
subsidiaries;

o imposing fines or ofther requirements with which
we or our PRC subsidiaries may not be able to
comply;

o requiring us to restructure our operatfions in such
a way as to compel us to establish new entities,
re-apply for the necessary licenses or relocate our
businesses, staff and assets;

. imposing additional condifions or requirements
with which we may not be able to comply; or

. restricting the use of proceeds from our additional

public offering or financing to finance our business
and operations in China.
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If any of the above penalties are imposed on us, our
business, financial condition and results of operations
may be materially and adversely affected.

The Group has adopted the following measures to
ensure the effective operation of the Group with the
implementation of the New Structured Contracts and
our compliance with the New Structured Contracts:

(a)

(b)

major issues arising from the implementation and
compliance with the New Structured Confracts
or any regulaftory enquiries from government
authorities will be submitted to our Board, if
necessary, for review and discussion on an
occurrence basis;

our Board will review the overall performance
of and compliance with the New Structfured
Contracts at least once a year;

the Company will disclose the overall
performance of and compliance with the New
Structured Contracts in its annual reports and
inferim reports to update the Shareholders and
potential investors;

the Company will engage external legal advisors
or other professional advisors, if necessary, to
assist the Board fo review the implementation of
the New Structured Contracts, review the legal
compliance of Huihuang Company and the
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities to deal with
specific issues or matters arising from the New
Structured Contracts.

In addition, notwithstanding that our executive Director,
Mr. Liis also the sole shareholder of Songming Dexue, we
believe that our Directors are able to perform their roles
in the Group independently and the Group is capable
of managing its business independently after the Listing
under the following measures:

(a)

99

the decision-making mechanism of the Board as
set out in the Arficles includes provisions to avoid
conflict of interest by providing, amongst other
things, that in the event of conflict of interest in
such contract or arrangement which is material,
a Director shall declare the nature of his or her
inferest at the earliest meeting of the Board af
which it is practicable for him or her to do so, and
if he or she is to be regarded as having material
intferest in any contracts or arrangements, such
Director shall abstain from voting and not be
countfed in the quorum;
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(b) each of our Directors is aware of his or her
fiduciary duties as a Director which requires,
amongst other things, that he acts for the benefits
and in the best interests of the Group;

(c) we have appointed four independent
non-executive Directors, comprising over one-third
of our Board, to provide a balance of the number
of interested and independent Directors with a
view fo promoting the interests of the Company
and our Shareholders as a whole; and

(d) we will disclose in our announcements, circulars,
annual and interim reports in accordance with
the requirements under the Listing Rules regarding
decisions on matters reviewed by our Board
(including independent non-executive Directors)
relating to any business or interest of each Director
and his or her associates that competes or may
compete with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interest which any such person
has or may have with the Group.

MATERIAL CHANGES

On 26 August 2019, pursuant to tfermination of the
Existing Structured Contracts, a series of agreements
comprising of the New Structured Contracts
were entered info beftween the New Registered
Shareholders, the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and Huihuang Company.

On 6 December 2019, a supplemental agreement to
the New Structured Contracts was entered into among
Pai Dui Pai, Ba Mu Pu, Songming Dexue, Zhongyi
Company, Shanghai Taifu and Huihuang Company,
pursuant to which, among other things, all the rights
and obligations attached to Shanghai Taifu's equity
interests in Yun Ai Group will be fransferred to Songming
Dexue (the "First Supplemental Agreement”).

On 8 May 2020, Henan Rongyu, Luoyang School, the
newly appointed director of Luoyang School and
Beijing Daai Gaoxue entered intfo a supplemental
agreement to the New Structured Contracts with
Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group, the then Registered
Shareholders, to reflect the Group’s further acquisition
of interest in the Luoyang School (the “Second
Supplemental Agreement”).
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On 29 July 2020, Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju, the
Guangxi School Sponsor and Guangxi Schools entered
info a supplemental agreement to the New Structured
Conftracts with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group, the
then Registered Shareholders, to reflect the Group's
further acquisition of inferest in the Guangxi Schools
(the “Third Supplemental Agreement”).

On 27 August 2020, Songming Gaoxue, Beijing Fangzhi,
the school sponsor of Yunnan Vocational School,
Yunnan Vocational School and the newly appointed
director of the Yunnan Vocational School entered into
a supplemental agreement to the New Structured
Conftracts with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group, and
the registered shareholders of Yun Ai Group, to reflect
the acquisition of the Yunnan Vocational School (the
“Fourth Supplemental Agreement”).

On 4 February 2021, Songming Gaoxue and Beijing
Lianhe entered info a supplemental agreement to the
New Structured Contracts with Huihuang Company,
Yun Ai Group, and the registered shareholders of Yun Ai
Group, to reflect the acquisition of 100% equity interest
in Beijing Lianhe (the “Fifth Supplemental Agreement”).

On 20 April 2021, Bei Ai Company, the Gansu School
and the newly appointed directors of the Gansu
School designated by Bei Ai Company entered info
a supplemental agreement to the New Structured
Contracts with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group, and
the registered shareholders of Yun Ai Group, to reflect
the Group's acquisition of 100% interest in the Gansu
School (the "Sixth Supplemental Agreement”).

On 25 May 2021, Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju, the
Guangxi School Sponsor, and the Guangxi Schools
entered into a supplemental agreement to the New
Structured Contracts with Huihuang Company, Yun
Ai Group, and the registered shareholders of Yun
Ai Group, to reflect the Group's further acquisition
of interest of the Guangxi Schools (the “Seventh
Supplemental Agreement”).
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On 28 September 2021, Zhengzhou New Higher
Education, Beijing New Higher Education (the
company holding 100% equity interest of the school
sponsor of the Zhengzhou School and a wholly owned
subsidiary of Yun Ai Group), the Zhengzhou School and
the newly appointed directors of the Zhengzhou School
designated by Zhengzhou New Higher Education
enfered into a supplemental agreement to the
New Structured Confracts with Huihuang Company,
Yun Ai Group, and the registered shareholders of
Yun Ai Group, to reflect the Group’s acquisition of
100% interest in the Zhengzhou School (the “Eighth
Supplemental Agreement”).

On 19 November 2021, Haxuan Company, the Northeast
School and the newly appointed directors of the
Northeast School designated by Haxuan Company
entered into a supplemental agreement to the New
Structured Confracts with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai
Group and the registered shareholders of Yun Ai Group
to reflect the Group's further acquisition of interest in the
Northeast School (the “Ninth Supplemental Agreement”).

Save as the principal terms of the First Supplemental
Agreement, the Second Supplemental Agreement,
the Third Supplemental Agreement, the Fourth
Supplemental Agreement, the Fifth Supplemental
Agreement, the Sixth Supplemental Agreement,
the Seventh Supplemental Agreement, the Eighth
Supplemental Agreement and the Ninth Supplemental
Agreement, the clauses of the New Structured
Contracts remained unchanged.

UNWINDING OF THE STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

As of the date of this annual report, there has not been
any unwinding of any Structured Contracts, nor has there
been any failure to unwind any Structured Contracts
when the restrictions that led to the adoption of the
Structured Contracts are removed. For more details,
please refer to the section headed “Structured Contracts
— Operation of the Structured Contracts — Termination
of the Structured Contracts” of the Prospectus and
the section headed “Unwinding of the New Structured
Contracts” of the announcement of the Company dated
26 August 2019. In the event that the PRC regulatory
environment changes and all of the Qualification
Requirement, the Foreign Ownership Restriction and the
Foreign Confrol Restriction are removed (and assuming
there are no other changes in the relevant PRC laws
and regulations), Huihuang Company will exercise the
Equity Call Option in full fo unwind the contractual
arrangements so that the Company will be able to
directly operate the schools without using the Structured
Contracts, as permitted by the applicable PRC laws and
regulations af the relevant time.
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Confirmation of independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the aforesaid Structured Contracts and
confirmed that, during the relevant financial year:

(i)  the Structured Contracts have been entered info
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(i) the Structured Contracts are on normal
commercial terms; and

(iii) the Structured Confracts have been entered
into in accordance with relevant agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole.

Confirmation of auditor of the Company

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged
to report on the Group's Continuing Connected
Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

The auditor of the Company has performed certain
pre-determined audit procedures regarding the
Structured Contracts and confirmed that:

(i) the transactions carried out during the year
ended 31 August 2022 have been entered into in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the
Structured Contracts, and have been operated so
that the profit generated by the PRC Operating
Schools and the School Sponsors have been
substantially retained by the Group;

(i) no dividends or other distributions have been
made by the PRC Operating Schools and the
School Sponsors to the holders of its school
sponsor's interest which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group;
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(iii) the Structured Confracts and if any, any new
confracts entered info, renewed or reproduced
between the Group and the PRC Operating
Enfities and the School Sponsors during the
relevant financial period are fair and reasonable,
or advantageous, so far as the Group is
concerned and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole; and

(iv) no dividends or other distributions have been
made by the PRC Operating Schools and the
School Sponsors to the holders of its school
sponsor's interest which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected party transactions entered into by
the Group during the year ended 31 August 2022 are set out
in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the connected party fransactions constitutes
a connected fransaction as defined under the Listing
Rules that is required to be disclosed, except for those
described in the section headed "Connected Transactions
and Continuing Connected Transactions” of this report, in
respect of which the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied
with.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on
20 March 2017 (“Adoption Date”) for the purpose of giving
the eligible persons an opportfunity to have a stake in the
Company and help motivate them to optimize their future
contributions to the Group and/or to reward them for their
past contributions.

104

N

TR R BEREA IR AT o 4R 2022



LN

R

REPORT OF DIRECTORS

B &

BREAERSIEBEBINEM T A GEHES
BRALTHEIERE UEREAEENESE &
EHAY - ZORITBRAB(EERTIXOME -
BREETRIIABELREEAABTEN
AL R/ASEEBENER G TEE -

BERBAL

BEBALERE () AEBEFAKE QR O ER
WITES KB HEETHR - BEE EEXE
B EMLREE((TTBRARD  EEEAE
ERUE2BLFBEES  HEAETLAEEEAK
BRAAEEZBAFRBIEOAL(EED : (b)
AEEEIMKERRNESAREES(BREE
VHERTESR)  (C)AEEEAKERARNER
FEERR: (dRAEETRAKELAAHES
MR HER: (e) NEBEEMKE QAN
P EBRH - EBAAERMN  MBER - A8R -
RBIREK: (AAEEEFKBRREHRZS

M MESIEMIERERNES  #EH - X
g EMRBEOEARER: (9) £X(a)E(f) A
MERALTHBEA R(hEM2ERQFED
EEHMEFSETEAR2BBREFENAL -

AHBITROHBE LR

B 7T AR IR B A A 5t 8 X A & B F 7] & b 51 2
BPREHNMEEREMITREETN &S BRHD
HE AATESBAEE LTRAENEHITRNG
10% (B1143,110,000 & 5 » fh AN F 5 B Hi B 8
TR #99.16%) °

PURPOSE

The Share Option Scheme is to aftract and retain or
otherwise maintain on-going relationships with eligible
persons, to facilitate the performance, growth or success of
the Group. In addition, in the case of executives (as defined
below), the Share Option Scheme may enable the Group
to attract and retain individuals with experience and ability
and/or to reward them for their past contributions.

ELIGIBLE PERSONS

Eligible persons include (a) any executive director,
manager, or other employee holding an executfive,
managerial, supervisory or similar position in any member of
the Group (“Executive”), any proposed employee, any full-
fime or part-time employee, or a person for the time being
seconded to work full-time or part-fime for any member of
the Group (“Employee”); (b) a director or proposed director
(including an independent non-executive director) of any
member of the Group; (c) a direct or indirect shareholder
of any member of the Group; (d) a supplier of goods or
services to any member of the Group; (e) a customer,
consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee,
contractor, agent or representative of any member of the
Group; (f) a person or entity that provides design, research,
development or other support or any advisory, consultancy,
professional or other services fo any member of the
Group; (g) an associate of any of the persons referred to in
paragraphs (a) to (f) above; and (h) any person involved
in the business affairs of the Company whom the Board
deftermines to be appropriate to partficipate in the Share
Option Scheme.

MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE FOR
ISSUANCE

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Group shall
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as of
the Listing Date, which is 143,110,000 Shares, representing
approximately 9.16% of the issued shares as at the date of
this annual report.
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MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH PARTICIPANT

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the number of shares
subscribed by an eligible person upon exercise of options,
plus the total number of shares issued and fto be issued
upon exercise of all options (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) granted to such eligible person
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue at that date,
failing which separate approval of the Shareholders shall
be obtained and such eligible person and his or her close
associates (or his or her associates if such eligible person is
a connected person) shall abstain from voting.

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director of the Group
(or any of their respective associates) would result in the
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options already granted and to be granted to him
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% (or such other
higher percentage as may from time to time be
specified by the Stock Exchange) of the Shares in issue;
and

(i) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, in excess of HK$5 million (or such other higher
amount as may from time to time be specified by the
Stock Exchange), such grant must be first approved in
a general meeting.

VESTING AND EXERCISE PERIOD

At any fime within 10 years from the Adoptfion Date, the
Group may propose to the Board, in its absolute discretfion,
tfo grant options to any eligible person to subscribe at the
subscription price for (subject to the terms of the Share
Option Scheme) such number of Shares as determined
(provided the same shall be a board lot for dealing in
the Shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple
thereof).
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Subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may
determine (including such terms and conditions in relation
fo their vesting, exercise or otherwise), there is no minimum
period for which an option must be held before it can
be exercised and no performance ftarget which must
be achieved by the grantee before the option can be
exercised.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years from the Adoption Date, after
which no further options will be granted or offered but
the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in
force and effect in all other respects. All options granted
prior to such expiry and not then exercised shall confinue
to be valid and exercisable subject fo and in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme. The remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme, which will expire on 19 March 2027, is
approximately four years and four months from the date of
this annual report.

AMOUNTS PAYABLE FOR APPLICATION OR
ACCEPTANCE OF SHARE OPTIONS

An eligible person can accept an option within 28 days
from the date of the offer of grant of the option, sign the
offer leftter comprising acceptance of the optfion and
submit it fo the Company, and pay a remittance of HK$1.00
(as the consideration for the grant of the option) in favor of
the Company.

EXERCISE PRICE

The amount payable for each Share to be subscribed for
under an option shall be determined by the Board but shall
not be less than whichever is the highest of:

(a) the nominal value of a Share;

(b) the closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the offer date;
and

(c) the average closing price of a Share as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the 5 business days (as defined in the Listing Rules)
immediately preceding the offer date.

107

N

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED « ANNUAL REPORT 2022



LN

R

REPORT OF DIRECTORS

H 1t

REREEIR - RRQFEEAB13,924,42010 5 R 1T 16
ERECEREBEREATE) HERSETRN
20.89% °

B E202258A3HILFE  ARBREZAA
BREZATERARBOL BEIIIKTE
ENBEMTEEREZENESTRABR) ZERE
ZBEARBOTE ARKOT -

OTHERS

During the Reporting Period, the Company had 13,924,420
outstanding share opfions (granted but not yet exercised),
representing 0.89% of the issued shares.

The fair value of all the share options granted by the
Company during the year ended 31 August 2022 was RMBO,
comprising of RMBO and RMBO, being the value of the share
options granted to the Directors and employees (excluding
directors and chief executives) respectively.

SERY ®2021% R2022F
BROKE BHAKTE 9A1R N )| 8A31H
SEALER R A (Br) (B7) METE AHEEL APHECHE  ZH/&X R AT
Closing price
Exercise immediately Outstanding Cancelled/  Outstanding
price before the at Granted Exercised Lapsed at
Category of per share date 1September  duringthe  during the during the 31 August
participants Date of grant” (HKS) of grant (HKS) 2021 Period Period Period 2022
Ex
Directors
TZH 2018F9A3H 5.92 5.43 709,300 - - - 709,300
Li Xiooxuan 3 September 2018
2019F10A218 3.1 3 122,900 - - - 122,900
21 October 2019
2020F7A23R 5.33 5.33 620,300 - - - 620,300
23 July 2020
B 2018107 26H 4.202 3.950 680,500 - - - 680,500
Zhao Shuai 26 October 2018
201954R1R 3.64 3.64 114,400 - - - 114,400
1 April 2019
2019F10A218 3. 3N 72,700 - - - 72,700
21 October 2019
2020F7A23R 5.33 5.33 148,900 - - - 148,900
23 July 2020
Al 2020F7A23R 5.33 5.33 350,000 - - - 350,000
Shen Chunmei 23 July 2020
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BERM R2021F #2022%
BRITEE HEMAUTE 9A1A y-) 8A31H
SEALER RegH (B (#7) MAAR ABERL AEBECE  H8/4X i K17
Closing price
Exercise immediately Outstanding Cancelled/  Outstanding
price  before the at Granted Exercised Lapsed at
Category of per share date 1 September during the during the during the 31 August
participants Date of grant’’/ (HKS) of grant (HKS) 2021 Period Period Period 2022
BER 2018%10A26A 4.202 3.950 114,400 - - - 114,400
Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 26 October 2018
201954517 3.64 3.64 57,200 - - - 57,200
1 April 2019
2019F10A218 3.0 30 12,100 - - - 12,100
21 October 2019
202057A23R 5.33 5.33 40,300 - - - 40,300
23 July 2020
BRK 2018%10A26A 4.202 3.950 114,400 - - - 114,400
Hu Jianbo 26 October 2018
201954517 3.64 3.64 57,200 - - - 57,200
1 April 2019
2019F10A218 3.0 3 8,700 - - - 8,700
21 October 2019
202057A23R 5.33 5.33 29,800 - - - 29,800
23 July 2020
T 2019F10A218 3.0 3. 135,600 - - - 135,600
Pang Tsz Kif Pefer 21 October 2019
202067A23R 5.33 5.33 33,600 - - - 33,600
23 July 2020
&S 2019F10A218 3.0 3. 135,600 - - - 135,600
Chan Tung Hoi 21 October 2019
202057A23R 5.33 5.33 33,600 - - - 33,600
23 July 2020
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BERM R2021F R2022%
BRITEE HEMAUTE 9A1R A 8A31H
SEALER RegH (B (%7 MAGR AHERL AEBECE  H8/4X W R AT
Closing price
Exercise immediately  Outstanding Cancelled/  Outstanding
price  before the at Granted Exercised Lapsed at
Category of per share date 1 September during the during the during the 31 August
participants Date of grant’’ (HKS) of grant (HKS) 2021 Period Period Period 2022
TH 2018E10A426H 4.202 3.950 240,250 - - - 240,250
*Ding Yu 26 October 2018
HELR 2018E10A426H 4.202 3.950 57,200 - - - 57,200
**Wong Man Chung 26 October 2018
Francis
]
Employee
= 2018E10A426H 4.202 3.950 3,475,060 - - 9,800 3,465,260
Employee 26 October 2018
20185 11A2R 4.320 4.320 19,700 - - - 19,700
2 November 2018
201954417 3.64 3.64 2,147,290 - - 16,860 2,130,430
1 April 2019
2019F10A218 30 3N 1,772,240 - 37,320 49,440 1,685,480
21 October 2019
202057A23R 5.33 5.33 2,754,800 - - 20,200 2,734,600
23 July 2020
# ¥ Total 14,058,040 - 37,320 96,300 13,924,420

* R2019F4A30B BT ES
*  FAD019FI12A6H BT ES

* Ceased to be a director on 30 April 2019

**  Ceased to be a director on 6 December 2019
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Notes:
FLR2018F9AE R EMBEREMS * 258 (1) For share options granted on 3 September 2018, all of them
KEVDAERRBTEN EF@EEBERHER are with the same exercise period commencing from the
2023F9H2H Ik relevant vesting date and ending on 2 September 2023:
BTFEEZ
BEREBSE
Percentage of
the share
FEBAH “ERBAH options
Vesting date Ending date to be vested
20194 9H3H 20234 9H2H 50%
3 September 2019 2 September 2023
20204 9H3H 20234 9H2H 30%
3 September 2020 2 September 2023
20214 9H3H 20234 9H2H 20%

3 September 2021

FMNR2018FI0A26A R IEWEREMS - B6H (2
GEARELERABZITESE  FIROT:

2 September 2023

For share options granted on 26 October 2018, the exercise
period commencing from the relevant vesting date and

ending date are shown as follows:

#19,692,10010 BE AR i & o + 5,726,30017 i A% #%
(BIEE THED 2343,20010 BERL#E - B BERE
114,400 B IR #E - B T HAE K 2114,40010 f#
PERE T T m* 24805000 BERELRFETEX
RA 214,400 B E) AZ AT RBEATARR -

Among the 19,692,100 share options, 5,726,300 share options
(including 343,200 share options granted to Zhao Shuai,
114,400 share options granted to Kwong Wai Sun Wilson,
114,400 share options granted to Hu Jianbo, 480,500 share
options granted to Ding Yu* and 114,400 share options
granted to Wong Man Chung Francis**) shall be subject to a

vesting period as followings:

BFEEZ

EREBSE

Percentage of

the share

=R ERAH options

Vesting date Ending date to be vested

20194 3A1H 20234 10A25H 50%
1 March 2019 25 October 2023

202046 3H1H 20234 10A25H 30%
1 March 2020 25 October 2023

20214 3A1H 20234 10A25H 20%
1 March 2021 25 October 2023

m
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M19,692,1001) & IR # & =+ - 1,319,100 B Ak # Among the 19,692,100 share options, 1,319,100 share options
(BERTFHEA 21373000 ERERETT B * (including 137,300 share options granted to Zhao Shuai and
222,90010 f% BR #E & X T BR 4 ** 2 114,40010 B8 22,900 share options granted to Ding Yu* and 114,400 share
R#E)BXUNTHB AR : options granted to Chen Shuo**) shall be subject to a vesting

period as followings:

BFrEBZ
BREBDL
Percentage of
the share
FEEH ERAHY options
Vesting date Ending date to be vested
20194 9H3H 20234F10A25H 50%
3 September 2019 25 October 2023
20204 9H3H 2023 10A25H 30%
3 September 2020 25 October 2023
20219 9A3H 2023 10H25H 20%
3 September 2021 25 October 2023
#19,692,10017 & % # & & - 600,00017 f& % 1 Among the 19,692,100 share options, 600,000 share options
(B R T # A 22000000 B E)BZUTH (including 200,000 share options granted to Zhao Shuai) shall
BHIFT IR - be subject to a vesting period as follows:
KTFHEEZ
BREBSL
Percentage of
the share
FEAH “RAHY options
Vesting date Ending date to be vested
201949 A3H 20234 10A25H 20%
3 September 2019 25 October 2023
2020 9AH3H 20234 10A25H 20%
3 September 2020 25 October 2023
202194 943H 20234 10A25H 20%
3 September 2021 25 October 2023
2022%9A3H 20234 10A25H 20%
3 September 2022 25 October 2023
2023%F 6 A3H 20234 10A25H 20%
3 June 2023 25 October 2023
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#19,692,10017 & B # & & 12,000,00017 8 i
BESUTHEBHMRARELD S BREDK

Among the 19,692,100 share options, 12,000,000 share options
shall be subject to a vesting period as follows (Such part of

KH) - the share option has lapsed):

BTFrHEBEZ

EBREBSE

Percentage of

the share

HEAH ERAH options

Vesting date Ending date to be vested

201949 A11H 2023 10H25H 20%
11 September 2019 25 October 2023

20209 9A11H 2023 10H25H 20%
11 September 2020 25 October 2023

202149A11H 2023 10H25H 20%
11 September 2021 25 October 2023

20224 9R11H 20239 10A25H 20%
11 September 2022 25 October 2023

2023%F6A11H 2023 10H25H 20%
11 June 2023 25 October 2023

Tl #246,70010 EIREBAZ U T BB HATHRR - The remaining 46,700 share options shall be subject to a
vesting period as follows:

BFHEBZ

BEREBSH

Percentage of

the share

FEAEH ERAHY options

Vesting date Ending date to be vested

201910/ 26H 20234 10A25H 50%
26 October 2019 25 October 2023

2020 10A26H 20234 10A25H 30%
26 October 2020 25 October 2023

2021F10A26H 2023 10H25H 20%

26 October 2021

25 October 2023

(3) FR208FNABEEEMEREMS 258  (3) For share options granted on 2 November 2018, all of them
BREHDAERRTESN B EHMEBERHER are with the same exercise period commencing from the
2023F11A18 IE: relevant vesting date and ending on 1 November 2023:

BTEEZ

EREBSE

Percentage of

the share

FEAH “RAHY options

Vesting date Ending date to be vested

201911 A28 2023F11A1H 50%
2 November 2019 1 November 2023

2020411 A2H 202311 A1H 30%
2 November 2020 1 November 2023

202111 A28 2023F11A1H 20%

2 November 2021

1 November 2023
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(4) BP0 F4F B EMBEREMS %258 (4 Forshare options granted on 1 April 2019, all of them are with
BESEAHERTES BFEEEREHELR the same exercise period commencing from the relevant
2024%3H31H IE: vesting date and ending on 31 March 2024:

Y] ¥

BREBDL

Percentage of

the share

EEAH “RBEH options

Vesting date Ending date to be vested

2020 4A1H 20243 A31H 50%
1 April 2020 31 March 2024

2021 4A1H 2024 3A31H 30%
1 April 2021 31 March 2024

202294718 20243 H31H 20%
1 April 2022 31 March 2024

(5) FBER2019F10A2IHBENBEREMS - 258 (5 Forshare options granted on 21 October 2019, all of them are
REHAEBHRRBITES B ﬁ HMEBHHER with the same exercise period commencing from the relevant
20245 10H20H Ik : vesting date and ending on 20 October 2024:

BTFHEBZ

BEREBSEL

Percentage of

the share

HEBAH “ERAH options

Vesting date Ending date to be vested

20204 10H21H 2024410H20H 30%
21 October 2020 20 October 2024

2021F10A21H 2024F10A20H 30%
21 October 2021 20 October 2024

20224 10A21H 2024108208 40%

21 October 2022

20 October 2024

(6) FER2020F7AEREMEREMS @ %25 % (6)  For share options granted on 23 July 2020, all of them are
BEHABFBHERATES BF@%ERH with the same exercise period commencing from the relevant

fe:]

2025%7R22H IF: vesting date and ending on 22 July 2025:
BTFEBZ
BEREBSL
Percentage of
the share
FEAH #“RAH options
Vesting date Ending date to be vested
2020 10A21H 2025%7R22H 30%
21 October 2020 22 July 2025
202247H23H 2025%7H22H 30%
23 July 2022 22 July 2025
20234 7A23H 20254 7A228 40%
23 July 2023 22 July 2025
* MR2019F4A30H BB ITES * Ceased to be a director on 30 April 2019
o R2019F 12 AARFITES **  Ceased to be a director on é December 2019

BEXHEZEEN RREHEMERDE - 77# - X Save as disclosed above, no share option was granted, exercised,
RSk L S AT RS AR R - lapsed, or cancelled for the Reporting Period.

BEREAGRAANTEHAERIE TRRABIRR Exercise of the share options is conditional upon the achievement
AIAT{E - of certain performance targets during the relevant exercise period.
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B 47 8 th =%

BRAFERIBRETS] —HABREEIN RE
E£20229F8A31A L FE - A A sk E AL [ KB
RAEY ET MK E KA ERARRETERD
B B 10 B 80 167 5% o

BARBUFATESNE LM

ARRIERBZBIFATESRE TR A
EIBHFBENFEBUMERE  BXARAR
REBUFPTESTARZEEHRBILAL
VYRBERFHRARDRBILAL -

Bo HEREEAQR LEHES

R E2022F8A31R L FE » KRR N R
BEARRRASE 235090008 kfh - 21+
ZHEREGNBRRAXA) R66.SABETL - IALE
BEZRMDERKIHE - R202268A31H © &
NEIB BT B BR1,562,350,630% -

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” of this annual report, during the year ended
31 August 2022, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had entered info any equity-linked agreement
that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
from each of the independent non-executive Directors and
the Company considers each independent non-executive
Director to be independent since his appointment and
remain so as of the date of this annual report.

REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 August 2022, the Company
repurchased a tofal of 23,509,000 Shares in the share capital
of the Company on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate
consideration paid of HK$66.5 million before expenses. All
of the repurchased Shares were subsequently cancelled. As
at 31 August 2022, the Company’s total issued Shares was
1,562,350,630 Shares.

BEROHEA &S E Frit &K B TR E

Month of Aggregate

repurchase during No. of Shares Highest Lowest consideration

RBEHBEVERE A the Reporting Period repurchased price paid price paid paid
(FB7L) (BT (BmL)

(HK$) (HK$) (HKS$)

2021412 R4 December 2021 6,851,000 3.2100 2.8000 20,805,145
20224F1 A January 2022 11,561,000 3.2200 2.1600 31,567,694
202242 A February 2022 5,097,000 2.8700 2.5900 14,084,602
Rk Total 23,509,000 66,457,441

E=ZRA BOBERSESERROAFN - AT
MERREEESREEFE -

B EXHIWEESIN  REE202298A31H L F
EAR AR EEAHBARMERD  HE
HBEIARB I EHESF e

The Directors considered the share repurchase will improve
earnings per Share and increase net assets per Share
attributable to the Shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries has repurchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 August 2022.
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BEBERE

HBERANAFASHE LA ATLERERE
FEBERGX RARFARLHIRBREARRE
2BEHRND -

ITEEFRHER
AEBZEFPIERSEE - HE202268H31R Ik
G AEBALRKEF 5 EE QYA L
E7030% + 4 B — % 5 {5 75 % B 6 A £ )3
S5%IA E -

B E2022F8A3BLFE - AEBA AR ER
HAEBERRBEIBI% MAEEE K AMH
EEEAEEERBERR2.8% -

7202278A310  BEEFREEAEDH B
A S5 7] B 3RO 6 B A KA A EL B 4T IR
15 BB 5% b4 1 %) BOA 5 I A 44 FE 75 o 5 £
EER

HES HEBEREFNBE

AEEERES HEBREFPRBREBER A
THEXENSBETRFRIBEEEEER
EAHBEERLREZ - RHREHME ~A&EEHRE
BE HEBLR SAFFPFIBYBEEAREKS

ERERX

REARBEBERMAA  ARAEFNEFX
HMEMABEZALTERTSARE » HEFLH
TERAESABREBER BMEL  BENER
ITNESMBRARZHMARR - BF - WE -
BR BERAX AJEBREARFANEER
HAESBERE HABREREITHEML
Al PREMALTRFRTIAEFENEE -

ARAREMBANERFNEREFEERR -
BARARAEEHBATEER LS AW S
R 408 R E -

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would
oblige the Company fo offer new Shares on a pro rata basis
to existing Shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's customers are mainly students. For the year
ended 31 August 2022, the Group's five largest customers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group's revenue and
none of single customer accounted for more than 5% of the
Group's revenue.

For the year ended 31 August 2022, the Group's five largest
suppliers accounted for 38.3% of the Group's total purchases
and the Group's single largest supplier accounted for 12.8%
of the Group's total purchases.

As at 31 August 2022, none of the Directors or any of their
close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest
in the Group's five largest suppliers.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group maintains a good relatfionship with employees,
suppliers and customers and understands that maintaining
a good relationship with such stakeholders is critical to the
Group’s sustainable development in long term. During the
Reporting Period, there was no material and significant
dispute between the Group and ifs employees, suppliers
and/or customers.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company,
the Directors or other officers etc. for the time being of
the Company shall be indemnified out of the assets and
profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall
or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or trusts,
provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter
in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to
any of said persons.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries have
maintained director liability insurance to provide the
Directors and other officers of the Company and the
Group's subsidiaries with adequate security.
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RITERK HArfER
7K % 8 7020224F 8 31 B #) 3R 17 B 30 % K A 18 3
B MR A B MR 525 -

7% %1 ¥ [=1100,000,0003% Jt1.0/E2021
FRHNBERRUTBRES

M2021569H28 AR R ERBEAARKESH
REME TN RBRESNERLEHIZBES
& W AR % %8100,000,0003 T #9100% & [
B - #[F H R2021F97288 2 Hi H M BT & JE 51
RANFMEBHERRLNOABRKRES - 7]
BREFREBZHARFNEEZEWNBE AR
Goldensep Investment Company Limited * &
NAEE T {EEEB)BR QT N2020F9H16
BRI e Bt - RARIZEITR2021F IR 2 A2
#8%5100,000,000% JT1.0E A ER AT BRI E F -
MPBRRELETRCINIBIL(TTHAE) - B
fEEE  ATRREFSBHETH MARTR
MREFTREEGENBERET OB ®EE -

BB E

AEERNBENEYREFENRE BEERARE
BMEHNAFREB0=281ENHHMEIA -
HMBU I EAEESZEE M HREN 2D -

B K 0 538 F 5 8
A1 AR R R R B4R LB B e B8 ML 6 & Bt
5 9 % I 23R8 -

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the
Group as at 31 August 2022 are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FULL REDEMPTION OF USS$100,000,000 1.0%
GUARANTEED CONVERTIBLE BONDS DUE 2021

On 28 September 2021, the Company has redeemed the
outstanding Convertible Bonds in full in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the Convertible Bonds under the
CB Subscription Agreement at a redemption price equal to
100% of the outstanding principal amount of US$100,000,000
together with all accrued and unpaid interests thereon on
the maturity date of 28 September 2021. The Convertible
Bonds Subscription Agreement was entered info by and
among Goldensep Investment Company Limited, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the Company
and Credit Suisse (Hong Kong) Limited on 16 September
2020, pursuant to which, the Company issued 1.0%
guaranteed convertible bonds due 2021 in the aggregate
principal amount of US$100,000,000 at an initial conversion
price of HK$6.313 per Share (subject to adjustments).
Following the Full Redemption, the Convertible Bonds have
been cancelled in full and the Company is discharged
from all of the obligations under and in respect of the
Convertible Bonds.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results, assets and liabilities for
the last four financial years is set out on pages 280 to 281
“Financial Summary” of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme
of the Company are set out in note 3 and 8 to the
consolidated financial statemenfs.
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RIKE TS

FEAM-AREETEAMELEXRBEONER
AMEEBEZ2EM T TRFEFNTRENKRSE
AHE - REWNBRRAEREF SR AREE L
REhRBRAREF SR - RERERI - KK
By EINBRABAOEL - HAKRERR
BARESFAERURENEERIMEE -

EB-AEFECLER000FNRAREE BB
FIEABETEEOIR T 2 @b RAEEE (T8
Beitdl)) ZEFAEEERASEBCEED A
BE ABUSTALZFZESHF HrE:
ElzKEME  ASEZARRESTEIEZES
ERFSMSBIELER - ZERREREE ZH#
FE—H BARRZESELRASMNES
1,500 7T °

L EECLE LES G EES T Py TR
Rt R B E202248R31A L F - % B A A
I TS A OR BR RT 42  R ER E HR A
EHOKTE + AR 202265831 A 3 48 A B 08
W -

ABNER

B Z=2022F8A310 ' £@E A A H9593%E 8
(B =202148A310 I £8,647%) KX E
REMN B R R2021FR DR MR EHB T
HAEERLEBEAYE URBRESEEERER
EolEaEE AL REPEEERERBRTE
SEARELHES BRI RTEEMNER ML
SREFE AETEAES  BERR B
BRE £BRER IERBEELXERB - £H
HESMNIEBRRT KRB E£2022948A318
FENECEIMNERLELUD -

PENSION SCHEME

Mainland China — The employees of the Group's subsidiaries
which operate in Mainland China are required fo
participate in a central pension scheme managed by the
local municipal government. The subsidiaries are required
fo confribute a certain percentage of the payroll costs to
the central pension scheme. The Group has no obligation
for the payment of retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the central pension scheme.

Hong Kong - The Group participates in the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme established under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance of Hong Kong (the "MPF
Scheme”) since December 2000. The assets of the schemes
are held, separately from those of the Group, in funds under
the confrol of independent trustees. For members of the
MPF Scheme, the Group confributes a percentage of 5%
of employees’ basic payroll to the MPF Scheme, which is
the same as the employees’ contributions. The maximum
monthly amount of contributions is limited to HK$1,500 per
employee.

The Group’s contributions to the Schemes are simultaneously
and fully vesting to the employees. Accordingly, there
were no forfeited confributions under the Schemes which
may be used by the Group fo reduce its existing level of
conftributions during the year ended 31 August 2022, and
there was no forfeited contribution available as at 31 August
2022.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 August 2022, the Group had a total of 9,593
employees (8,647 as of 31 August 2021). The increase was
mainly due to the teachers and staff of Zhengzhou School
incorporated into the total number of employees of the Group
after completion of consolidation in September 2021 as well
as adhering to high-quality development to continuously
intfroduce high-quality talents. As required by the PRC laws
and regulations, the Group participates in various employee
social security plans for our employees that are administered
by local governments, including housing provident fund,
pension, medical insurance, maternity insurance, work injury
insurance, and unemployment insurance. The Group maintains
a good working relationship with employees, and the Group
has not encountered any material labor disputes during the
year ended 31 August 2022.
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BRE -RBERZ2

AEBEBRENEATEOEERERTHE
RIBEABIOER »

ARERZNRBELENRMRE R - A%HE
ERRUREERERABABEARRIER
EMANBRFE EETEABENHERID
AT AEBEE R EX TR BRI o B
RERRE ARERALERONETRAR
BARERERUMER 2B -

REFERARAAEEEMRE AKBECNEE
RTHEBETHASEXBREZEREAZEN
HEERER RBREHE AKEVTERE
ERIAETEREREROBR -

BERERERF

B E202248R318 L E - ADA Y MY RA
fA B8 K BF 0 B 1 B - 3B B BT A O 4 B0 36 % L
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ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH AND SAFETY

The business of the Group is not in violation of the
applicable PRC Environmental laws and regulatfions in any
mafterial aspects.

The Group is dedicated to protecting the health and safety
of the students. The Group has on-site medical staff or
health care personnel at each of the schools operated by
the Group, in order to handle routine medical situations for
studenfts. In case of certain serious and emergency medical
sifuations, the Group will prompftly send the students to the
local hospitals for treatment. With respect to school safety,
the Group has engaged a qualified property management
company to provide property security services at the school
premises of the Group.

As far as the Board and management of the Company are
aware, the Group has complied in all material respects with
the relevant laws and regulatfions that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group. During
the Reporting Period, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations
by the Group.

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

During the year ended 31 August 2022, the Company
was not engaged in any litigation or arbitration of
material importance and no litigation or claim of material
importance is known to the Directors to be pending or
threatening against the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 August 2022 and up to the date
of this annual report, the Group has complied with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the "Audit
Committee”) has reviewed and discussed with the
management in relation fo the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Company, the internal controls
and financial report matters, and the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance. The annual results
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, together with
the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance practices. Information on the
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 121
to 143 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company
and fo the best knowledge of the Directors, at least 25%
of the Company's total issued shares, the prescribed
minimum percentage of public float approved by the Stock
Exchange and permitted under the Listing Rules, was held
by the public at all times during the Reporting Period and
as at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young was appointed as the auditor for the year
ended 31 August 2022. The accompanying financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs have been
audited by Ernst & Young.

Ernst & Young shall retire at the AGM and, being eligible,
will offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Ernst & Young as auditor will be proposed
at the AGM.

During the preceding three years, there was no change of
the auditor of the Company.

RECOMMENDATION TO CONSULT PROFESSIONAL
TAX ADVICE

If the Shareholders of the Company are not sure about
the tax effect on the purchase, holding, sale, trading or
exercise of any rights attached to the relevant shares of the
Company, they are recommended to consult independent
experts for advice.

On behalf of the Board
Chairman
Li Xiaoxuan

China, 28 November 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company believes that effective corporate governance
is a foundation to create more value for its Shareholders and
therefore the Group has been committed to maintaining
good corporate governance practices and procedures
in order to become a transparent and accountable
organization that is responsible to all shareholders. The
Board adheres to the principles of corporate governance
and has adopted good corporate governance practices
to comply with legal and business standards to ensure
fransparency and accountability in all operational activities
of the Company, and to ensure effective risk management
and internal control systems and smooth communication
channels with shareholders and other stakeholders. In
order to continuously improve the standard of corporate
governance, the Board will continue to review and improve
the Group's corporate governance practices from time to
time to ensure the efficient operation of the Group under
the leadership of the Board.

For the year ended 31 August 2022, the Company has
complied with the Corporate Governance Code as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE CULTURE

With the mission of “Striving for the Career Achievements
and Life Happiness of Students”, New Higher
Education Group adheres to its corporate social
responsibilities, creates value for students, employers,
government, faculties, partners, investors and other
stakeholders, advocates the value of “Student-oriented,
Confributor-driven and Putting Organization’s Interests First”,
and insists on the education philosophy of “Strengthen
Moral Education and Cultivate Talents, Teach Students
in Accordance with Their Aptitude, Apply What One
Has Learned”, and is committed to building a respected
education group.

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

The Group adheres to the high-quality development
strategy, actively responds to national policies, and
focuses on the strong demand for application-oriented
technical and skilled talents in national economic and
social development during the “14th Five-year Plan”
period. With building of the Party as the guide, enhancing
morality and fostering talents as the fundamental task,
serving development as the purpose and the high-quality
employment as the orientation, the Group will constantly
optimize the structure of majors and the model of talent
cultivation.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

RESPONSIBILITIES AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE
BOARD

The overall management of the operations of the Group
is vested in the Board. The Board is responsible for the
leadership of the Group and is collectively responsible for
guidance and monitoring the affairs of the Group.

The Board supervises and gives guidance fo the
management directly and indirectly through committees,
including formulating overall strategies for the Group’s
development and monitoring their implementation,
approving major policy issues, overseeing and conftrolling
the Group's operational and financial performance, internal
control and risk management systems, and overseeing the
performance of senior management. The Directors are
required to make objective decisions in the interests of the
Company.

The Board delegates the day-tfo-day management,
administration and operations to the Company's senior
management, and reserves the final approval authority for
major decisions of the Group.

All Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) bring to the Board extensive and valuable
business experience, knowledge and expertise that
confribute to the efficient operation of the Board. The
independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring that the Company maintains a high standard
of governance, balancing the powers of the Board and
exercising effective and independent judgment on
corporate actions and operations. During the year ended
31 August 2022, all Directors have devoted sufficient time
and attention to the affairs of the Group. Biographical
details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

During the reporting year, there was no change in
information of Directors which was required to be disclosed
in this annual report pursuant fo Rule 13.51(2) and 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there are no

other financial, business or family relationships among the
members of the Board.
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COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

A #4TE S Executive Directors | %A 3EH4TE== Independent Non-executive Directors

Position
3HZEEE Directors

44 Directors

Ge%d%ljr Z £ Female S Male

1845 Director

6 Directors

Fisl 40-50

Age Group

18 & Director 2B E S Directors

BEADBEZNFY
Directorship with the Company

(Number of years) 1B E S Director 2B &S Directors

EREEEMES LA RNESHG

o omban
Other Hong Kong Listing Company

Directorship(s) (not including the Group)

HEAGFTHBOP EEch/2EFT4AHK &5
BEMT:

BITEE

FEHELE(EEEIR)
HEEE(BERERITE)
REBLLT

BYFHITESE

B ER SR
BEELE
REB/RE
ErHlL

HE2022F8A3HILFE  ARREERE S
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683 Directors 1B E S Director

As of the date of this annual report, the Board of Directors
consists of seven directors, and the list of directors is as
follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Zhao Shuai (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Shen Chunmei

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hu Jianbo

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson
Mr. Chan Tung Hoi

Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter

There were no changes in the information of Directors
and chief executives of the Company for the year ended
31 August 2022.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has
arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
potential legal actions against its Directors and officers, and
renewed the liability insurance for Directors and officers.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, Mr. Zhao Shuai and Ms. Shen
Chunmei, executive Directors of the Company, has entered
info a service contract with the Company for a specific
term of three years, which is automatically renewable. The
service confracts of Mr. Li Xiaoxuan and Mr. Zhao Shuai
have commenced from the Listing Date and the service
contract of Ms. Shen Chunmei has commenced from
27 August 2020. They are automatically terminated by either
party by giving not less than three months’ notice in writing
to the other party and such notice shall be valid until the
expiry of the fixed term.
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Each of Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson, Mr. Hu Jianbo, Mr. Chan
Tung Hoi and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter, the independent
non-executfive Direcfors of the Company, has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for an
initial fixed term of one year commencing from the Listing
Date, 22 December 2017, 26 August 2019 and 26 August
2019 respectively, which is automatically renewable unfil
terminated by not less than three months' notice in writing
given by the independent non-executive Directors to
the Company or immediately upon written nofice by the
Company o the independent non-executive Directors.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the above
service confracts are subject to the retirement of Directors
by rotation and re-election of Directors at least every
three years at the annual general meeting. Any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of the Company after
his/her appointment and shall then be eligible for re-
election at that meeting, and any Director appointed by
the Board as a new member of the existing Board shall hold
office only until the next annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that
meeting.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Independent non-executive Directors have played a
significant role in the Board since their appointments.
They bring impartial view on issues of the Group's strategy,
performance and confrol, exercise their independent
judgment at the Board meeting and scrutinize the Group’s
performance. Their views carry significant influence fo the
Board's decision. All independent non-executive Directors
possess exfensive academic, professional and industry
expertfise and management experience. They provide
independent advice on the Group’s business strategy,
results and management so that Shareholders’ interests can
be taken info account as a whole, and the inferests of the
Company and its Shareholders can be protected.

More than one-third of the Board of the Company (4 out
of 7 Directors) are independent non-executive Directors.
In addition, Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson, the Chairman of
the Audit Committee and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter, a member
of the Audit Committee, possess the relevant professional
qualifications and accounting and related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.
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The Company has received confirmations of independence
from all independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based
on the contents of such confirmations, the Company
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors
are independent and that they have met the specific
independence guidelines as set outf in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board holds on-site or online Board meetings from fime
fo time to discuss the overall strategies, operations and
financial performance of the Group. In accordance with
the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code,
Board meetings are required to be held at least four times
a year and the above requirement was met during the
reporting year.

The Board undertakes to ensure that all Directors are
provided with relevant materials on the matters before
any Board meeting is held and fo provide sufficient fime
for the Directors to review the materials and make their
judgment. In addition, Directors may individually contact
the senior management of the Company or the office of
the Board in accordance with the Procedures for Directors
to Seek Independent Professional Advice to make requests
for independent professional advice on major proposals
requiring approval at the Company’s expenses. Where
queries are raised by Directors, steps would be taken to
respond as promptly and fully as possible.

For regular Board meetings, notices of Board meetfings
will be given to the Directors at least 14 days prior fo such
meetings and Board procedures comply with the Articles,
as well as relevant rules and regulations.

Minutes of all Board meetings and Board committee
meetings are completed, recording full detfails of the
matters considered by the Board and Board committees,
the process by which decisions were reached and any
matters raised by the Directors. Draft minutes were sent to
the Directors for their comments within a reasonable period
of time after the date of the meeting.

In addition to the Board meetings, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, the
Chairman, also held one meetfing with four independent
non-executive Directors during the reporfing year without
the presence of other Directors.
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The attendance record of each Director at the meetings
of the Board and other meetings during the year ended
31 August 2022 is set out below:

HERE
BExg
== B/
Attendance/
Number of
Board
EEHE Name of Directors Meeting(s)
HITES Executive Directors
FEE LA Mr. Li Xiaoxuan 4/4
A& Mr. Zhao Shuai 4/4
REFZL Ms. Shen Chunmei 4/4
BIUHITES Independent non-executive Directors
BB E1E % & Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 3/4
MR E Mr. Hu Jianbo 4/4
PR A ST A& Mr. Chan Tung Hoi 4/4
ZTHEL Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter 4/4
EEeZEg BOARD COMMITTEES

EFeRV-—_AZEe BEERZES ¥
MEZEeMREREZES  BEZZEERFHESE
ENETREHURBUNTESZ KBHEFEZ
TANEE SZESKRBREBEEBEZSENE: R
B SZEENBESENMKEREH N QT
48k (www.xingaojiao.com) & 7 B &5 A7 48 U4
(www.hkexnews.hk) °

EEeZEeERURAEMNERBETERE &
AEBEEBATREAEER  USKBIFEE
BANEMED BRAARRXMN -

The Board has established three committees, including
audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee. The chairmen of audit committee and
remuneration committee are independent non-executive
directors. Through appointment and authority granted by
the Board, each committee operated in accordance with its
terms of reference. And the terms of reference and member
list of each committee are available on the website of the
Company at www.xingaojiao.com and the website of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk.

The board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice and other
assistance in appropriate circumstances, at the Company'’s
expenses.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors passed on 20 March 2017. Its
composition and written terms of reference are in line with
the Corporate Governance Code. The primary duties of
the audit committee are to review the financial statements
and material advice in respect of financial reporting,
and oversee the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company and make recommendation to
the Board on the appointment and removal of external
auditors. As of the date of this annual report, the audit
committee comprises of three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (being the chairman
of Audit Committee), Mr. Hu Jianbo and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit
Peter. Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants;
and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Petfer is a fellowship member of CPA
Australia.

The Group’s unaudited financial results for the six months
ended 28 February 2022 and the audited financial results
for the year ended 31 August 2022 have been reviewed
by the audit committee, which was of the opinion that the
preparation of the relevant financial statements complied
with the applicable accounting standards and requirements
and that adequate disclosure has been made. In addition,
the audit committee has also reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, and
selection and appointment of the external audifors. In
addition, the audit committee reviewed the internal control
of the Group and oversaw fthe risk management and
infernal control systems of the Group during the year end
31 August 2022.

During the year ended 31 August 2022, two meetings were
held by the audit committee. The attendance record of

wm each member of the audit committee at the meetings is set
out below:
HERE
ZE88g
CEYVS
Attendance/
Number of
Committee
EENS Name of Directors Meeting(s)
BB 215 % A& Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 2/2
PR E Mr. Hu Jianbo 2/2
ZFHIEL Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter 2/2
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The joint financial officer and the finance department are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements
of the Company and the Group for this financial year which
shall give a true and fair view of the financial position,
performance and cash flow of the Company and its
subsidiaries for that period.

Upon appropriate enquiries, directors believe that the
Company has adequate resources to confinue as a going
concern in the foreseeable future, therefore it is appropriate
for the Group to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 August 2022. The management has provided to the
Board such explanation and information as are necessary
to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of
the financial and other information put before them by the
Group for approval. The management provides all members
of the Board with monthly updates on the Company’s
performance, positions and prospects.

APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The audit committee is responsible for making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the external auditors, and any questions of resignation or
dismissal of the external auditors. The Company has been
engaging Ernst & Young as its external auditor since its
listing.

Details of the fees paid/payable to Ernst & Young during the
year ended 31 August 2022 are as follows.

AREFTT

RMB'000

% EAR 7 Audit services 4,500
IEZ H RS Non-audit services 198
4,698
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group's risk management and internal control systems
are featured with a defined management structure
with limits of authority and well-rounded policies and
procedures, and are designed to facilitate legal, compliant
and effective operation of schools, to ensure reliability of
financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws
and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks,
and to safeguard assets of the Group. The risk management
and internal control systems are designed tfo manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Board also recognises its overall responsibility for the
Group's risk management and internal control systems and
reviews their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. In addition,
the Audit Committee also has the responsibility for reviewing
and assessing the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
adopted the following policies and procedures and taken
the following measures to improve the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group.

In order to ensure the effectiveness of our risk management
and internal control systems, with the integration of the real
situation of the Group and various applicable laws and
regulations, the management develops solutions towards
the risks with an aim to organize the business operation
systematically, and monitor and mitigate possible risks.
The Group also requires all staff to comply with certain
internal risk management and internal control standards
so as to build a regulatory environment of risk control and
standardized operation. In addition, the Group has also
established policies and procedures applicable to each
of its operating units with clear segregation of duties and
continuous improvement to ensure the effectiveness of risk
management and internal controls.
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Meanwhile, with the assistance of the professional auditor,
the Audit Committee supervises the Group's revenue and
expenditure for the financial and economic activities, to
further strengthen the functions of risk management, to
ensure the effective implementation of risk management
and internal control systems and the Group's standardized
operation and healthy development. In order to comply
with the relevant requirements under the Corporate
Governance Code in relation to the risk management and
internal conftrols, the Group has established an infernal
audit department (risk control department) for the purposes
of simultaneous updates beftween its governance and the
Corporate Governance Code and continuously improving
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
controls. The Board acknowledges ifs responsibility fo
ensure that sound and effective internal control systems are
maintained so as to safeguard the Group’s assets and the
interest of the Shareholders.

The Group’s senior management in charge of internal
audit function and the chief/joint financial officer, attend
regular meetings of the Audit Committee to report on the
risk management and internal confrol reports as well as the
summary report of internal audit findings, and to respond to
questions from members of the Audit Committee. The report
on risk management and internal confrol, the summary
report on the results of internal audit and the annual
audit plan are presented to the Audit Committee, and
are reported to and approved by the Board after being
approved by the Committee. All Directors are informed of
the results of the infernal audit.

During the Reporting Period, the Board, with the assistance
of the Audit Committee, has conducted review of the risk
management and infernal confrol and considered that
the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company were adequate, appropriate and effectively
implemented. Such review covered all material confrols,
financial, compliance and operational controls as well
as risk management mechanisms. The Board, with the
assistance of the Audit Committee, also reviewed and was
satisfied with the adequacy of the Company's resources,
the staff's qualifications and experience, the training
courses and the related budgets in accounting, internal
review and financial reporting functions.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND RESPONSES

The Group has always attached importance fto the review
of the risk environment in which it operates and focused
on strategic responses. Based on the macro development
tfrend of the industry and the micro analysis of the Group's

BERmENEEEBEERR: KETER
REGRFRENZERBERFERY
KFALFERTT EMEREE dER
BENRA BERIBROMESEF IR
SEBFROAFEN -

own development, the principal risks faced by the Group
are as follows:

1.

Risk of the brand awareness and reputation of schools:
Whether the Group’'s schools can maintain their
brand awareness and reputation at a good level and
continuously improve them to gain recognition from
students, enterprises and the government is related
to the market competitiveness of the schools and the
sustainability of the Group's development.

ERBLERBEAMENER : ERBE 2. Risk of the enroliment quota and capacity of schools:
BREREBNNYBERENALE B BER The enroliment scale of school is closely related to the
) WERENEME NS BEREDT government’s allocation and control on the enrollment
EHD MEAERREEETESERES# quota, and the capacity of school operating
BHEEAREREFIRELETE - conditions also restricts the enroliment scale, both of
which have an uncertain impact on the ability of the
Group's schools to maintain an appropriate scale of
enrolled students.
EREENREFEKFRKR: B2EREFE 3. Risk of the level of tuition fees and boarding fees of
KEZHAES HELBERERERB schools: The level of tuition fees and boarding fees
EmEBEELERETE HTHRREER are affected by various factors such as government
TEERBECAEEHBARIESEEES regulation, social and economic environment and
WAR S o the quality of the schools, and the ability to ensure
that tuition fees and boarding fees remain within a
reasonable range is related to the overall revenue of
the Group.
BFEEIFETHEHEAK S FHEHEF 4. Risk of changes in policy and legal regulation: Although
BAMFRBSLENTHREIZR  BHE higher vocational education has been supported by
ERBINBREETE HEEZZEEHD various favorable policies in recent years, education
THEHHTEANTIENERERNERE is a strongly regulated industry by the government,
By Z HEPMITHTIUETERERT - and changes in policy and law from time to time have
a general impact on the development trend of the
main body in the industry, and the uncertainties need
continuous attention.
ERAFER ERAFEEHBMSEHRER 5. Risk of infectious diseases: QOutbreaks of infectious

MEREEER AEPESERNATEZE -
plnBLrEEsetRaEREaR - BTN
HEEBRLEBREXEERNEE A K
BZURIAEREER  BEZRER
BEAERE2MES -

diseases can cause school closures and delays in
the resumption of classes, negatively impacting daily
school operations, such as a high risk of infection
in student dormitories. The lock-down initiatives by
governments also materially affect operation of
schools. The Group is keeping close attention to
the development frend of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Group secured overall safety and operation via
numerous management measures.
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The Group believes that the principal risks mentioned
above are intrinsically related. The fundamental measures
fo address these risks are to adhere to the high-quality
development strategy to lead the work of the Group
in connotation constfruction, feaching, employment,
students’ and teachers’ experience and other aspects, and
continuously strengthen the competitiveness of the Group
with excellent education quality, so as to fundamentally
enhance its ability to deal with the uncertainty risks in the
external environment and infernal governance.

The Group integrates risk management into internal control
construction, ensures the implementation of the Group's
development strategy and risk counter measures in all areas
through internal supervision, extends risk management
to key business areas, stfrengthens the identification,
assessment and management of micro risks, and
continuously improves the continuity, professionalism and
fimeliness of risk management at the corporate governance
level.

On the other hand, the internal confrol systems of the
Group include a sound organizational structure with clearly
defined lines of responsibility and power. The principal
is responsible for the daily management of each school
and the vice principal assists in different operation areas.
Each school has established the board of directors to be
responsible for the overall management and decision-
making on important matfters of the school. The board of
directors, the principal and the vice principal of the school
shall manage the operation of the school within the scope
of authorization, and implement and strictly execute the
strategies and policies formulated by the Group. Schools
are required to report regularly on the implementation
of the policies and strategies developed by the Group
and to inform the Group immediately of any significant
development. Schools also assign personnel to oversee
ongoing compliance with relevant PRC laws and regulations
that regulate the business operations, and to oversee the
implementation of any necessary measures. Schools have
established emergency response mechanisms to clarify
emergency management methods for major incidents. The
Group has purchased insurance that are in line with the
usual coverage of the education industry in the PRC.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee
on 20 March 2017. Its composition and written terms of
reference are in line with the Corporate Governance
Code. The primary duties of the remuneration committee
are to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments (including any
compensation payable for loss or fermination of their office
or appointment). As at the date of this annual report, the
remuneration committee comprises of three members,
namely, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, an executive Director, and two
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Kwong Wai Sun
Wilson and Mr. Hu Jianbo. Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is
the chairman of the remuneration committee. During the
Reporting Period, the remuneration committee reviewed
the remuneration packages of the Directors and the senior
management.

During the year ended 31 August 2022, one meeting was
held by the remuneration committee. The attendance
record of each member of the remuneration committee at
the meeting is set out below:

Esgs

Name of Directors

HERE
£E8

EE VS
Attendance/
Number of
Committee
Meeting(s)

BERELE
FEHLEE
HEREE

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 1/1
Mr. Li Xicdoxuan 1/1
Mr. Hu Jianbo 1/1
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group follows the emolument principles of “contributor-
based, fairness, competitiveness”. The emolument policy
designs structure for remuneration based on different
position of the Group and its schools. Emolument is
determined with reference to staff capacities, position
responsibilities and contribution.

The remuneration committee regularly reviewed the Group'’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration
of the Directors and senior management of the Group,
having regard to the Group's operating results, individual
performance of the Directors and senior management and
comparable market practices.

Meanwhile, the Group is committed to training employees’
abilities actively and providing employees with external and
internal fraining plans with the aim of building up a quality
team suitable for the Group’s development.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration by band of directors and senior
management of the Company, whose biographies are set
out on pages 58 to 68 of this annual report, for the year
ended 31 August 2022 are as follows.

During the Reporting Period, there were no amounts paid
or receivable by any director, non-director and non-chief
executive highest paid employees of the Company as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Company, and there
was no compensation paid or receivable by any director,
past director, non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees of the Company for loss of office as a
director of any member of the Group or of any other office
in connection with the management of the affairs of any
member of the Group.

FMEE(ARE T
Remuneration band (RMB)

A

Number of individual

0-500,000
500,001-1,500,000
>1,500,000

~
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee on
30 March 2017 pursuant to resolutions of the Directors.
Its composition and written ferms of reference are in
line with the Corporate Governance Code. The primary
duties of the nomination committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular
basis and to recommend to the Board the suitable
candidates for directors after consideration of the
nominees’ independence and qualification in order fo
ensure the fairness and transparency of all nominations.
In identifying suitable director candidates and making
such recommendations to the Board, the nomination
committee would also take into account various aspects of
a candidate, including but not limited to his/her education
background, professional experience, experience with the
relevant industry and past directorships. As of the date of
this annual report, the nomination committee comprises
of three members, namely, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, an executive
Director, and two independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson and Mr. Chan Tung Hoi. Mr. Li
Xiaoxuan is the chairman of the nomination committee.
The nomination committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board, during the Reporting Period.

During the year ended 31 August 2022, one meeting was
held by the nomination committee. The attendance record
of each member of the nomination committee at the
meeting is set out below:

Esgs

Name of Directors

HERE
£E8

EE VS
Attendance/
Number of
Committee
Meeting(s)

FEHLEE
BERELE
RLGEE

Mr. Li Xicdoxuan 1/1
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 1/1
Mr. Chan Tung Hoi 1/1
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GOVERNANCE POLICIES

The Group emphasises ethical and professional conduct
of directors and employees. All employees are required to
comply with various Group policies that reflect the Group's
core values and corporate culture. The Group has adopted
and implemented a number of governance policies that
require directors and employees tfo act in compliance
with applicable laws, rules and regulations in order to
improve the standard operation and ensure the healthy
development of the Group. The Group reviews these policies
from time to time to ensure that they are in line with the
Group’s business, development strategies and stakeholders’
expectations.

The major governance policies and systems of the Group
published on the Group's website include:

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING
MANAGEMENT REGULATIONS

In order to strengthen the governance and internal control
of the Group and its schools, strictly comply with laws and
regulations, and prevent corruption and bribery in the
course of business, the Group provides reporting channels
and guidelines for employees or partners who have
dealings with the Group to report suspected misconduct,
fraud and violations. At the same fime, the risk control
department of the Group will strengthen the handling of
reports, complaints and appeals of the Group’s faculty and
promote the integrity and self-discipline of the Group and
all units directly under the Group.

INSIDE INFORMATION MANAGEMENT MECHANISM

In order to further regulate the inside information
management of the Group, clarify the responsibility
for disclosure and confidentiality of inside information
and adhere to the principles of openness, fairness and
impartiality of information disclosure, pursuant to the
relevant laws, regulations and guidelines such as the
Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance promulgated by fthe
Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong, as well as
various internal reporting requirements, and subject to the
requirements of the securities regulators in Hong Kong, the
Group has formulated the Inside Information Management
Mechanism ftaking info account the actfual situation of the
Group, and has consistently implemented the principles of
confidentiality and timely disclosure of inside information.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in supporting the afttainment of
its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
In designing the Board's composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a wide range of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service, and any other factors
that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from
fime to time. This policy sets out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board.

The Board currently has one female Director and as such
has achieved gender diversity in respect of the Board. We
will continue to strive to enhance female representation and
achieve an appropriate balance of gender diversity. We
will also ensure that there is gender diversity when recruiting
staff at mid to senior level and provide more suitable on-job
training fo them, so that we will have a pipeline of female
senior management and potential successors to our Board
in near future.

NOMINATION POLICY

This policy is about the main selection criteria, principles
and relevant nomination process used by the nomination
committee in nominating suitable candidates to the Board
and advising the Board on the appointment of directors
and the succession plan of directors.

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Group is committed to mainfaining a high degree of
fransparency fo ensure the investors and the shareholders
of the Company receiving accurate, clear, comprehensive
and timely information of the Group by the publication
of annual reports, announcements and circular. The
Company also publishes all corporate correspondence
on the Company's website at www.xingaojiao.com. The
Board and senior management of the Company maintain
regular dialogues with institutional investors and analysts
from fime to fime to keep them informed of the Group'’s
strategy, operations, management and plans. Members of
the Board and the Board committees will attend the annual
general meeting of the Company and answer questions
raised during the meeting. Separate resolutions would be
proposed at the general meeting on each substantially
separate issue.
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

Directors need to stay abreast of the changes of business
and regulatory environment to help them perform their
responsibilities effectively and to ensure that they continue
tfo make informed and appropriate contributions fo the
Board. Directors are aware of the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code relating to the requirement
on continuous professional development, and have
partficipated in appropriate continuous professional
development training to update and develop their
knowledge and skills. During the Reporting Period, the
Company arranged external training for directors and
provided directors with writfen materials on the latest
compliance information from the regulatory authorities.

According fo the records maintained by the Company,
the current Directors received the following training
in compliance with the requirement of the Corporate
Governance Code on contfinuous professional development
for the year ended 31 August 2022:

TEER/BREH - gt/ M/ EER
RRAIRERNEHN Htt SR 5w

Corporate Governance/
Updates on Laws,
Rules and Regulations

Accounting/Financial/
Management or
Other Professional Skills

HERE/ HERE
B & AR HRE B = A R HRE
Attend Attend
Read Seminars/ Read Seminars/
EEpA Name of Directors materials Briefings materials Briefings
BITES Executive Directors
TEHELE Mr. Li Xiaoxuan Y Y Y Y
WA KA Mr. Zhao Shuai Y Y Y Y
REER L Ms. Shen Chunmei Y Y Y Y
BYFHTES Independent non-executive
Directors
BEELE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson Y Y Y Y
HEREE Mr. Hu Jianbo Y Y Y Y
LG RE Mr. Chan Tung Hoi Y Y Y Y
AN 3 Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter Y Y Y Y
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors in March
2017.

In October 2021, Mr. Li, the chairman and an executive
Director of the Company, inadvertently breached Rule
A.3(a) and Rule B8 of the Model Code by purchasing the
Shares during the black-out period which commenced
on 1 October 2021 and shall end on 30 November 2021.
According to Mr. Li, while he is fully aware that there are
restrictions for directors’ dealings in the Company’s shares
and had always been in compliance since the Company’s
listing, he overlooked in this occasion due to the fact that
the Company has only recently changed its financial year
end date from 31 December to 31 August. Hence, the
commencement of the black-out period had been brought
forward and coincided with the beginning of the week-
long National Day holiday in the PRC for the first fime. Due
to his rare oversight, Mr. Li failed to instruct and remind his
assistant who is authorized by him to purchase the Shares
at certain pre-determined prices of the new black-out
period to ensure his compliance with the Model Code. Prior
fo executing any trades, his assistant failed to inform the
designated director on his behalf. As a remedial measure to
avoid future reoccurrence, Mr. Li is committed to attending
training on Listing Rule compliance, director’'s duties
(including the Model Code requirements) and corporate
governance matters to be given by The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institfute, Hong Kong Institute of
Directors or other course providers approved by the listing
division of the Stock Exchange. In addition, Mr. Li offers to
undertake not to trade in any of the Company’s shares until
he completed his training. In order to ensure the awareness
of his assistant or any other future third party who may
assist Mr. Li in his share dealings, the Company will adopt
measures to simultaneously inform Mr. Li and his assistant
of the commencement of black-out period in the future. In
order to facilitate this process and ensure the effectiveness
of these measures, Mr. Li shall ensure that the Company is
kept informed of the contact details of his assistant or other
future third party who may assist Mr. Li in his share dealings.

Save as disclosed above, having made specific enquiry with
all Directors of the Company, all Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code regarding directors’ securities transactions
during the year ended 31 August 2022.
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Further, senior management of the Group and staff of the
headquarters who are involved in the core work of release
of results are subject to a two-month black-out period
prior to the release of the Company's annual results and a
one-month black-out period prior to the release of interim
results.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a revised policy on the payment of
dividends (the “Dividend Policy”) on 30 November 2021. The
Dividend Policy aims to set out the principles and guidelines
that Board infends to apply in relation to the declaration,
payment and distribution of dividends to the Shareholders.
Details are disclosed as follows:

1. PRINCIPLES AND GUIDELINES

1.1 Subject to the Cayman Islands Companies Law
and the articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles of Association”), the Board of the
Company has absolute discretion on whether
to declare and pay dividends. Declaration or
payment of dividends by the Company is also
subject to the applicable laws and regulations
including the laws of the Cayman Islands and the
Articles of Association of the Company.

Dividend Policy of the Group

1.2 The Board defermines the form, frequency and
amount of dividends based on the Company’s
financial results, general financial conditions,
future operations and earnings, capital
requirements, capital adequacy, statutory fund
reserve requirements, cash flows, contractual
restrictions, future business prospects, statutory
and regulatory restrictions on the payment of
dividends, interests of the Shareholders of the
Company and any other factors that the Board
considers relevant.

1.3 The Board currently intends tfo recommend an
annual dividend of not less than 30% of the profits
available for distribution earned by the Company
in each financial year.

1.4 In any event, a dividend may only be declared
and paid out of the profits and reserves of
the Company that are lawfully available for
distribution (including share premium), and in
no circumstances may a dividend be paid if this
would result in the Company being unable to pay
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.
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1.5 Shareholders may declare dividends by ordinary
resolution in general meeting, but no dividend
may be declared in excess of the amount
recommended by the Board.

1.6 Any future dividend payments to the Shareholders
will also depend upon the availability of dividends
received from the subsidiaries of the Company.
Regulations in China may restrict the ability of the
Company's PRC subsidiaries to pay dividends to
the Company.

2. REVIEW OF THE POLICY

The Dividend Policy reflects the Board's current views
on the Company's financial and cash flow position.
The Board will continue to review the Dividend Policy
from time to time and there can be no assurance that
dividends will be paid in any particular amount, if at all,
for any given period. During the Reporting Period and
as at the date of this report, there was no arrangement
under which a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Board understands the importance of maintaining clear,
fimely and effective communication with Shareholders of
the Company and investors. The Company had established
a shareholders’ communication policy and the Board shall
review it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness. The
Company communicates with the Shareholders and/or
potential investors mainly in the following ways:

1.  the holding of annual general meetings or special
general meetings (if any, which may be convened for
specific purposes) which provide opportunities for the
Shareholders fo communicate directly with the Board.
Members of the Board attend the Company’s annual
general meetings to answer relevant questions at the
meetings; in order to profect the interests and rights
of shareholders, separate resolutions are proposed
at general meetings for each major individual
issue, including the election of individual directors.
Resolutions will be voted on by poll in accordance
with the Listing Rules and the results of the poll will be
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange after the general meeting;
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2. the publication of announcements, annual reports,
inferim reports and/or circulars as required under
the Listing Rules and press releases on the latest
information of the Group, maintaining a high level of
fransparency and ensuring that shareholders of the
Company and/or potential investors receive accurate,
clear, comprehensive and timely information about the
Group;

3. the publication of all the latest information of the Group
on the Company's website at www.xingaojiao.com;

4. regular dialogue with investors and analysts, organizing
investor roadshows, and attending investor conference
to inform shareholders and/or potential investors of
the Company of the Group’'s strategy, operations,
management and plans. Shareholders and investors
are welcome to visit the Company’s website and make
enquiries through the Company's Investor Relations
Management Department, whose contact details are
available on the Company’s website.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING AND PUTTING
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING

Pursuant to the Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more
member(s) of the Company holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board of the Company
by mail at 20/F, Tower F, Phoenix Place, 5A Shuguang Xili
Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE
A PERSON FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

If a shareholder (who is eligible to attend and vote at
a general meeting of the Company) wishes to propose
a person other than a retiring director for election as a
director at a general meeting, a wriften notice to that
effect must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The notice must
include (i) a notice of the shareholders’ intention to propose
the person to be elected; (ii) a notice signed by the person
of his or her willingness to be elected as a director of the
Company and a writfen consent to the publication of his
or her particulars; and (iii) the biographical details of the
person to be elected as required to be disclosed under Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

The minimum period for lodging such writfen notice shall
be at least seven days commencing on the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting at which the
election is to be held and ending no later than seven days
prior to the date of such general meeting.

If the Company receives such notice after the publication
of the notice of general meeting, the Company will issue
an announcement or a supplementary circular to the
shareholders containing the particulars of the proposed
candidates in accordance with the Listing Rules (as
applicable) prior to the general meeting.

PROCEDURES BY WHICH ENQUIRIES MAY BE PUT TO
THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board by addressing them to the Board of Directors of
the Company by mail at 20/F, Tower F, Phoenix Place, 5A
Shuguang Xili Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC,
or by email to ir@xingaojiao.com. The office of the Board
is responsible for forwarding communications relating to
matters within the Board’s direct responsibilities to the Board
and communications relating to ordinary business matters,
such as recommendations and inquiries, to the senior
management of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Wong Wai
Ling, whose biographical details are seft out in the sectfion
headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report. Ms. Wong Wai Ling have informed the Company
that she has taken at least 15 hours of training covering
corporate governance during the Reporting Period to
comply with the requirements under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules. Her principal contact person of the Company is an
executive Director, Ms. Shen Chunmei.
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To the shareholders of
China New Higher Education Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of China New Higher Education Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group"”) set out
on pages 151 to 279, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 August 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 August 2022, and of ifs consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the "Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the confext of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do notf provide a
separafte opinion on these matters. For each matter below,
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.
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Key audit matter

BEFSTER

Business combination

By =N

During the year ended 31 August 2022,
the Group completed acquisition of
Zhengzhou City Vocational College (the
“Zhengzhou School”) at a total consideration
of approximately RMB673.5 million. The
Group engaged an independent external
valuer to perform the valuation of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed of Zhengzhou School. The
accounting for business combinations,
which were accounted for using acquisition
method, relied on a significant amount of
management estimation and judgements
in respect of fair value measurement and
allocation of the purchase price.

B E202298A3IBIEHFE ESELAEARE
HNERW673.58 8 7T 58 B U BB 20 N I T B K 2
BR(TEINER]) - BEXKECEBBILINAMEE
M EMNEREBORAIBRNEERAEBEE
TEE FRUBEARZEEZ NN GFE
BREEEEMRATEAERKEER D BEIE
) K 2 il 5T & I e

Information about the acquisition is disclosed
in Note 3 (Summary of significant accounting
policies — Business combinations and
goodwill), Note 4 (Significant accounting
judgements and estimates — Purchase price
allocation of a business combination) and
Note 32 (Business combinations) to the
financial statements.

FRHZUENEHNBEEREHRENFI(EX
EAREHE-REBEEHREE) Wid4(EX
BT ABRIG T — R E A B 15 5 B X
KK 32 (F B & vf)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these maftters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEENEFNMNEEBREETSHE

The audit procedures, among others, included the following:
B RFEENTEIE:

o Evaluated the identification of assets and liabilities
based on our understanding of the acquired
businesses;

s REBFHAMUBEGOHTHIGEEERBENHR

. Assessed the valuation methodologies by comparing to
methodologies commonly used by market participants
and evaluated the assumptions used by checking to
market information where available and historical
information;

e MBEMSLEELEBRBEANTZETHERTIHEERE
WERBREAGENMEENRELERFEMERNRE

J Evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent valuer engaged
by management in assessing the purchase price
allocation;

e HHEREERAMNBUMAEMETHKEERIRETER
e e W REEMN:
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Key audit matter
BREENSRE

Business combination

E a=Ni

Impairment of goodwill

EERE

The Group recognised goodwill in an
aggregate of RMB752.0 million as at
31 August 2022 arising from a series of
acquisitions, which were supported by
an annual impairment review required
by HKAS 36. Management's assessment
process involved significant estimates and
judgements, including

M20224 87318 - EEBREA-FRIWE
ﬁ?i%ﬁ%é%AE%wuﬁ%ﬁ'ﬁmﬂ
BEABSHFENFERRATETHNFERES
BrAER - EEENNHBE PR EKRME
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. the assumptions of the expected cash
flow growth used in the Group's most
recent budgets for the next five years
approved by management including
growth rates and budgeted gross
margin; and

e EEE#HAN EXEEXRRLEEHEER
‘:P@ﬁﬁﬁ’\ﬁﬁi/ﬁﬁfﬁimii EB®& - @?ﬁi
RERBBEEMNE R

. the discount rates and long term growth
rate applied to future cash flow.
M %@ﬁﬁEéﬂ@}ifii//|u§él’]%ﬁu§+&§ﬁﬁi‘ﬁ

);g o

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENBTIMNEEFEREAET R

Involved our internal valuation expert to evaluate the
methodologies and the assumptions with reference
to the historical experience and the available market
information;
BEANSHEER2ERALBRATATEERTHER
TR NMRE

Checked the accounting for allocation of the purchase
price; and
REWBEROENETRE X

Evaluated the accuracy of the accounting freatment
on the dates of acquisitions and reviewed the financial
statement disclosures.

AHERBERN S RIE AN ERE Y EHM B HRREE

The audit procedures, among others, included the following:
B RRFEEATEE:

Evaluated management’s future cash flow forecasts
and the process by which they were drawn up;
TEERBONARARRERERAIREHBERBIR:

Assessed the key assumptions by checking against the
historical trends;

BREHREBTBENHHERRR:

Assessed the actual performance of current year
against the prior year budgets to evaluate historical
forecasting accuracy;
HREEFEBREFNMAFENERRE - AT HBEENR
B T 1
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Key audit matter

BMEESNEE

Impairment of goodwill

B E R A

Information about the accounting estimates
and disclosures related to the impairment
assessment of goodwill were disclosed in
Note 4 (Significant accounting judgements
and estimates — Impairment of goodwill)
and Note 17 (Goodwill)] to the financial
statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENBTIMNEEFEREAET R

. Performed sensitivity analyses on the forecasts;
e HIWBAETHRESN:

J Involved our infernal valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the methodologies, the discount rate and
long term growth rate used by comparing to those of
the industry for selected schools; and

. ﬂ%ﬁ%%@ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁii‘FMﬁﬁﬁﬁ%mwﬁﬁ

|:1 $fEFﬁFHE’JE/£ ﬁuﬁ—'—&ﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬁy )53

J Evaluated the adequacy of the Group's disclosures
regarding the impairment testing of goodwill.

« M EEEUEHEREREANAREEENRSMK -

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal confrol
as the directors deftermine is necessary tfo enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability fo continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
of the Company either inftend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but fo do
SO.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and tfo issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability fo any other person for the contents of
this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtfain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, infentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
fo the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related fo events or condifions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, fo modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the enfities or business
activities within the Group fo express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among ofher matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lawrence K.W. Lau.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

28 November 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

20224 20214
2022 2021
Hiat ARET T ARETF T
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
WA REVENUE é 1,921,752 1,497,455
HEM R Cost of sales (1,171,337) (830,292)
EF Gross profit 750,415 667,163
Hin i zs Rigas Other income and gains 6 340,760 317,978
HERDHMX Selling and distribution expenses (28,706) (20,245)
THF S Administrative expenses (87,690) (84,638)
HipFL Other expenses (112,445) (60,300)
BE AR Finance costs 7 (114,670) (142,103)
BB AR PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8 747,644 677,855
Fris Bl Income tax expense 11 (117,432) (86,058)
FRHEF PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 630,212 591,797
BAUTA L FELE Attributable to:
(SYNSEZZEPN Owners of the parent 620,003 567,824
g £ Non-controlling interests 10,209 23,973
630,212 591,797
BATEERKEELSRER EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT 13
ERN(ARET) Basic (RMB)
—ENHF — For profit for the year 0.39 0.36
#E (AR%T) Diluted (RMB)
—FENHF - For profit for the year 0.39 0.34
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PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
THAT WILL NOT BE RECLASSIFIED TO
PROFIT OR LOSS IN SUBSEQUENT

PERIODS:

Exchange differences on translation of

financial statements

Net other comprehensive income
that will not be reclassified to profit

or loss in subsequent periods

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent
Non-conftrolling interests

20224 20214
2022 2021
ARE T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
630,212 591,797
(5,620) 36,315
(5,620) 36,315
(5,620) 36,315
624,592 628,112
614,383 604,139
10,209 23,973
624,592 628,112
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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Hiat
Notes

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 14
Investment properties 15
Right-of-use assets 16(a)
Goodwill 17
Other intangible assets 18
Deferred tax assets 28
Pledged and restricted deposits 22
Time deposits 22
Other non-current assets 19
Total non-current assets
CURRENT ASSETS
Trade receivables, prepayments,

other receivables and other assets 20
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss 21
Pledged and restricted deposits 22
Time deposits 22
Cash and cash equivalents 22
Total current assets
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Contract liabilities 23
Other payables and accruals 24
Interest-bearing bank and

other borrowings 25
Lease liabilities 16(b)
Convertible bonds 26
Deferred income 27
Tax payable
Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES 2.1

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES
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20225 20214
2022 2021
AR®BTR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
4,883,072 4,091,258
421,845 349,125
1,110,245 839,280
752,021 371,569
76,422 62,116
- 9,786
101,000 -
110,000 -
142,231 867,093
7,596,836 6,590,227
119,155 161,904
2,530 -
253,165 284,115
20,000 120,090
1,081,449 775,787
1,476,299 1,341,896
973,335 350,933
957,769 955,878
1,129,838 568,313
4,858 6,713
= 646,459
17,832 13,476
79,718 67,311
3,163,350 2,609,083
(1,687,051) (1,267.187)
5,909,785 5,323,040

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED « ANNUAL REPORT 2022



LN

f BB IR DL AR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

20224 20214
2022 2021
HisF AR¥TR ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
FHERIT R H A& K Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings 25 2,190,302 1,786,319
HEBRE Lease liabilities 14(b) 8,129 1,588
i W s Deferred income 27 312,862 201,177
BEREBIEERE Deferred tax liabilities 28 221,778 141,649
FERBEBERE Total non-current liabilities 2,733,071 2,130,733
AESE Net assets 3,176,714 3,192,307
#Eam EQUITY
BATHEEAEEER Equity attributable to owners of
the parent
IR AR Share capital 29 1,071 1,086
B Reserves 31 3,175,643 3,011,244
3,176,714 3,012,330
B ER Non-controlling interests - 179,977
AR Total equity 3,176,714 3,192,307
Li Xiaoxuan Zhao Shuai
=ZH B
Director Director
5= 5=
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax:
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income
Gain on wealth investment products
Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment
Fair value losses, net:
Convertible bonds
Revision of a lease term arising from
a change in the non-cancellable
period of a lease
Depreciation of items of property,
plant and equipment

Depreciation of investment properties

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of deferred income

Amortisation of other infangible assets

Impairment allowance of trade
receivables, prepayments, other
receivables and other assets

Equity-settled share option expense

Increase in pledged and restricted deposits

Decrease in trade receivables,
prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Decrease in other payables and accruals

Returns of government grants
Increase in confract liabilities

Cash generated from operation
Interest received
Income tax paid

Net cash flows from operating activities

157

20224 20214
2022 2021
fifzz ARET T AREFTL
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
747,644 677,855
7 114,670 142,103
6 (22,132) (26,349)
6 (1,021) (6,248)
8 4,373 131
270 336
= (142)
14 165,718 140,495
15 14,063 6,165
16 35,998 24,281
27 (18,903) (18,734)
18 23,502 9,298
8 738 2,154
30 3,324 6,498
1,068,244 957,843
(6,681) -
53,297 4,173
(159,117) (257,923)
27 - (2,800)
622,402 39,730
1,578,145 741,023
18,175 23,457
(62,130) (35,701)
1,534,190 728,779
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2022%F 20214
2022 2021
ik ARET R AREFT
Noftes RMB’000 RMB'000
REEBMERERE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BEVNE BERZEEE Purchases of items of property,
plant and equipment (564,376) (297,658)
LENE BERSHEE Proceeds from disposal of items of
FTE 50 IR property, plant and equipment 423 2482
BEGRERE Purchase of right-of-use assets (161,763) (36,760)
BEWRENE BERR Receipt of government grants for
BEBRNBEHE property, plant and equipment 134,944 25,698
REEMEREE Additions to other intangible assets (37,174) (45,817)
BEREAME Purchase of investment properties (461) _
g 1)=IN Acquisition of subsidiaries (42,759) (471,855)
BEARZREFHEM Increase in pledged and restricted deposits (46,484) _
BEERGEM /R (Increase)/decrease in wealth investment
products (1,509) 124,289
REBR L Increase in prepayments for investments - (202,212)
EHEHEm Increase in time deposits (9.910) (120,090)
RETHMAREREFH Net cash flows used in investing activities (728,869) (1,021,523)
REEHMERERE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
BTRMAERE Proceeds from issues of shares 13 207,475
BROBTRX Share issue expenses - (2,883)
RITABRESAERE Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds 33 - 642,377
ARRESRER Redemption of convertible bonds 33 (646,790) _
FERTREMER New bank and other borrowings 1,758,437 1,568,002
BERITREMER Repayment of bank and other borrowings (759,554) (1,481,229)
HENROEXEHS Principal portion of lease payments (19,416) (8,984)
ERFE Interest paid (181,873) (153,468)
BE KGR Payment on repurchase of shares (54,499) _
W R Acquisition of non-controlling interests (282,920) (148,380)
Bk & Dividends paid (296,623) (149,876)
EEAR XM F LM Increase in pledged and restricted deposits (16,885) (12,319)
REERY(FR) /GRS Net cash flows (used in)/from financing
MEFE activities (500,010) 460,715
ReRRSEMENESE NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 305,311 167.971
FONRekReEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 775,787 608,234
INEEZEBMFE FH Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 351 (418)
FRALRBEFEDY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 1,081,449 775,787
158
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

20225 20214
2022 2021
Mzt ARETR AREFTL
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
IMBeRBLEEBWER ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
BARBEMRRARMROEBEEE  Cash and cash equivalents as stated
ReZEY in the consolidated statement of
financial position 22 1,081,449 775,787
SRARERERMTINREK  Cash and cash equivalents as stated
BeZEY in the consolidated statement of
cash flows 1,081,449 775787
159
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KY1-1111, Cayman Islands * &2 & 742017
FAROBEBT BB AR S ER AR ([ 5

RFFDERLED ©

ARAB—REREERR
K H W B A

Ao ER - ART
NGB ARE)EEESE

ARAMB(HEDRERHRBHER

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands on 8 July 2016. The
registered office address of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The Company was listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange™) on 19 April 2017.

The Company is an investment holding company.
During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were

% o principally engaged in rendering private education

services in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC").

BRHMEBARNESR INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

ARl T EMBRARIFBEET: Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are

as follows:
EMAYL/EBR CRITEE/
A8 EEBMRAN MR AHE ARREERERDL TEED
Nominal value of
Place and date of issued ordinary/ Percentage of
incorporation/registration registered  equity interest attributable
Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
E# B
Direct Indirect
BERAZBEEESMRARA 2016%8A58 1,000,000% 7 - 100%  RERWRERERARE
(grnal >(/ff7&/a/ /b/&(c)) wE/RE R E3H)

Tibet Daai Huihuang Information 5 August 2016, United States dollar - 100% Rendering of technical and
and Technology Co., Ltd. (*Huihuang PRC/Mainland China (*USD") 1,000,000 management consultancy
Company") (Nofes (a), (b) and (c)) services

Aspire Education Holding Co., Limited. 2015F10A 308 - 1Bl - 100%  REEK

(TEducation Holding ) )

Aspire Education Holding Co., Limited. 30 October 2015, Hong Kong dollar - 100% Investment holding
(“Education Holding") Hong Kong ("HKD") 1

*ﬁﬁ“ﬁﬁmm#ﬂ]ﬁﬁ 2016%3R16H AREBE(TARE]) - 100% REUERMREEER RS

(I Dz (o) {b/&(c}) RE/RENM 300,000,0007T

Yunnan Do’oi Fangzhou Information 16 March 2016, Renminbi (“RMB”) - 100% Rendering of technical and
Consulting Co., Ltd. (“Daai Fangzhou”) PRC/Mainland China 300,000,000 management consultancy
(Nofes (a), (b) and (c)) services

EHERAYEREAEEERAR 200565198 AR #34,9009597 - 100% BEER

(Wit (a) R (b)) e/ RER
Yunnan Einsun Education Investment 19 May 2005, RMB34,900,959 - 100% Investment holding

Group Co., Ltd. (Nofes (a) and (b))

PRC/Mainland China
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
as follows: (continued)

L]

Name

ERIRSR(ZRER)HiE )

Yunnan Technology and Business
University (“Yunnan School”) (Nofe (a))

EMTEBEER(EMER])(HE(0)

Guizhou Technology and Business
Institute (“Guizhou School”) (Note (a))

IREREHEREBEREELTA
(K it () & (b))
Beijing Aiyinsheng Education Investment
Co., Ltd. (Nofes (a) and (b))

MAEERER(RLER])(H(a)

Harbin Huade University
(“Northeast School”) (Nofe (a))

RENERBEER(RBER]
AEERIAMER]) (M a)

Luoyang Science and Technology
Vocational College (“Luoyang School”,
formerly abbreviated as “Henan School”)
(Nofe (a))

ERRZARBXER (W )R (d)

Guangxi Yinghua International
Occupation College (Nofes (a) and (d))

ERAZARBRERNETS
(B 5 (a) & (d)
Guangxi Yinghua International
Occupation Middle School
(Nofes (a) and (d))

EMAL/ ERR
EEBERAN

Place and date of

incorporation/registration

BRTEZE/
MR AEE
Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered

FRAEERERIL FEED

Percentage of
equity interest attributable

and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
B B
Direct Indirect

2005E8ANE - AR ®16,000,0007C - 100% REHERSE
mE/RENM

11 August 2005, RMB16,000,000 - 100% Rendering of education
PRC/Mainland China services

2012%7R38 AR ®1,000,0007T - 100% REHERE
e/ RE N

3 July 2012, RMB1,000,000 - 100% Rendering of education
PRC/Mainland China services

20126107168 AR #300,000,0007T - 100% REERR
mE L/ RE N

16 October 2012, RMB300,000,000 - 100% Investment holding
PRC/Mainland China

2003F5A4228 AR #21,372,0007T - 100% REHERSE
mE/RENM

22 May 2003, RMB21,372,000 - 100% Rendering of education
PRC/Mainland China services

2013F7R198 AR 10,000,0007T - 100% REHERE
B/ RE N

19 July 2013, RMB10,000,000 - 100% Rendering of education
PRC/Mainland China services

2006F1 7208 - AR 33,000,000 - 100% REHERSE
HE/RER

20 January 2006, RMB33,000,000 - 100% Rendering of education
PRC/Mainland China services

2006F4A108 - AR 5,000,000 - 100% REHERE
e/ RE N

10 April 2006, RMBS5,000,000 - 100% Rendering of education
PRC/Mainland China services
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
as follows: (continued)

L]

Name

ERSMEZERBEERTER
(Wit (a) & (d))
Guangsxi Qinzhou Yinghua International
Occupation and Technology School
(Nofes (a) and (d))

B BEER (EFER DM (o))

Hubei Enshi College
(“Central China School”) (Nofe (a))

BMESNERER(THRER] (M ()

Lanzhou College of Information Science
and Technology (“Gansu School”)
(Nofe (a))

ERBERRABEHAERRA
(B &) (H i (o) & (b))
Beijing Union Open Education
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Lianhe")
(Nofes (a) and (b))

RRATRHEERRRERIBRERLA
(IZBBEERDM (o) R (b))
Kunming High Tech Zone Einsun Education
and Training School Co., Ltd. (*Yunnan
Vocational School”) (Nofes (a) and (b))

IMBTRELR(BMNERDM (o))

Zhengzhou City Vocational College
("Zhengzhou School”) (Note (a))

PRAEBEHEMRERAA(LERAE])
(K it (a) & (b))
Beijing Da'ai Higher Education
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Daai”)
(Noftes (a) and (b))

EMAL/ ERR
EEBERAN

Place and date of

incorporation/registration

BRTEZE/
MR AEE
Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered

FRAEERERIL FEED

Percentage of
equity interest attributable

and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
E# Gk
Direct Indirect

2009E10A 268 - AR #5,000,0007T - 100% REHERE
RE/RENM

26 October 2009, RMBS5,000,000 - 100% Rendering of education
PRC/Mainland China services

2010F1A18 - A K #3,000,0007C - 100% REHERE
e/ RE N

1 January 2010, RMB3,000,000 - 100% Rendering of education
PRC/Mainland China services

2002F11A228 AR #80,000,0007 - 100% REHERE
mE/RER

22 November 2002, RMB80,000,000 - 100% Rendering of education
PRC/Mainland China services

20145 6R178 AR#10,000,0007 - 100% 1R B0 AR 75
mE/RER

17 June 2014, RMB10,000,000 - 100% Provision of fechnology
PRC/Mainland China services

2011F12A318 AR #5,000,0007T - 100% REHERE
mE/RER

31 December 2011, RMB5,000,000 - 100% Rendering of education
PRC/Mainland China services

2009%8A10H - AR #123,000,0007T - 100% REHERE
e/ RER

10 August 2009, RMB123,000,000 - 100% Rendering of education
PRC/Mainland China services

2018534238 - AR #540,000,0007C - 100% RERMREEERRYE
e/ REN

23 March 2018, RMB540,000,000 - 100% Rendering of technical and
PRC/Mainland China management consultancy

services
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PEIREEER(E) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

BRHMBATMNER (&) INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

AAFTTENBATXBOT: (B) Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are

as follows: (continued)

BMEY/ERE BRALE/
£ EEBMRAH AMRAEE  AARELRERSL TEED
Nominal value of
Place and date of issued ordinary/ Percentage of
incorporation/registration registered  equity interest attributable
Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
E# Gk
Direct Indirect
HEREMRERAR(HILEE]) 20011172268 - AR #1,000,0007 - 100%  RERWRSE
(Wit (o) % (b)) e/ RE N
Hubei Tengshuo Technology Co., Ltd. 22 November 2001, RMB1,000,000 - 100% Provision of technology
(*Hubei Tengshuo”) (Nofes (a) and (b)) PRC/Mainland China services
EHERHEREARDAERER]) 2020%5A96 AR #1,000,0007 - 100% HEHA
(M1 i%(a) % (b)) hE/PEAL
Yunnan Dazhong Teaching Equipment 09 May 2020, RMB1,000,000 - 100% Sale of feaching supplies
Co., Ltd. ("Yunnan Dazhong”) PRC/Mainland China
(Nofes (a) and (b))
ERHREANERBBERAD(EERE]) 2020658208 - AR #2,000,0007T - 100%  READERRKRH
(Hti%(a) % (b)) hE/PEAL
Yunnan Zhongze Human Resources 20 May 2020, RMB2,000,000 - 100% Provision of human resource
Service Co., Ltd. (“Yunnan Zhongze") PRC/Mainland China services
(Nofes (a) and (b))
EHEENERBERLA(E ARG 20204 3A26H - AR 1,000,000 - 100% RENERE
(H 5 (a) & (b)) RE/RENM
Yunnan Beihao Property Service Co., Ltd. 26 March 2020, RMB1,000,000 - 100% Provision of property
("Yunnan Beihao”) (Notes (a) and (b)) PRC/Mainland China services
EEXLEEERAR(ERIL]) 202054248 AR #1,000,0007 - 100% HEEXR
(K it () & (b)) mE L/ RE N
Yunnan Wenxin Books Co., Ltd. 24 April 2020, RMB1,000,000 - 100% Sale of textbooks
("Yunnan Wenxin") (Notes (a) and (b)) PRC/Mainland China
AEERMEEREREALA 2020464298 - AE#1,000,0007 - 100% RENE RS
(DA @M ()R (b)) e/ RE N
Henan Beiyou Property Management 29 June 2020, RMB1,000,000 - 100% Provision of property
Co., Ltd. ("Henan Beiyou”) PRC/Mainland China services
(Nofes (a) and (b))
ERRRABENBRAERAA(ERLER]) 202064128 - AE#%10,000,0007 - 100%  RERWRSE
(i (a) X b)) RE/FEN
Yunnan Yunguo Education Technology 12 June 2020, RMB10,000,000 - 100% Provision of technology
Co., Ltd. ("Yunnan Yunguo”) PRC/Mainland China services

(Nofes (a) and (b))
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
as follows: (continued)

BMEY/ERE BRTEZE/
£ EEHERAN ZMRAEE  ARTEERBEEIL TEED
Nominal value of
Place and date of issued ordinary/ Percentage of
incorporation/registration registered  equity interest attributable
Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
E# Gk
Direct Indirect
RRAZARMBRTEREER 2014104258 AE#400,0007T - 100%  REHERSB
(IZEhEREERDH 2 () mE/RENM
Kunming Einsen Technology Secondary 25 October 2014, RMB400,000 - 100% Rendering of education
Vocational School (*Yunnan Secondary PRC/Mainland China services
Vocational School”) (Nofe (a))
REZXEEANRBERAR(ERLRE] 20185114308 - 58,000,000 7T - 100%  RERWREREARYE
(Hit(a) - (b) X (c)) e/ RERD
Fujian Zitu Information Technology 30 November 2018, HKD58,000,000 - 100% Rendering of technical and
Co., Ltd. ("Fujian Zitu") PRC/Mainland China management consultancy
(Notes (a), (b) and (c)) services
BREEXEESHRARAA(ERRE] 2018128298 - 20,000,000 7T - 100%  RERWREREARYE
(Hit(a) - (b) X (c)) e/ RERD
Tibet Zitu Information Technology 29 December 2018, HKD20,000,000 - 100% Rendering of technical and
Co., Ltd. ("Xizang Zitu") PRC/Mainland China management consultancy
(Notes (a), (b) and (c)) services
B & - Notes:
() HRZERRTEEZLAMNEHREHE - (a) The English names of these companies represent the

Rtz ERAANEXABOHARAEEE
BARPXEHEEBEMAK -

best effort made by management of the Company to
directly translate the Chinese names as the companies
do not register any official English names.

(b) BREEAFNRHPEARKN

=
5
<t

(b) Limited liability companies established in the People’s
Republic of China.

(c) ZERTRBEHBZEFMARINGEE D (c) These companies are registered as wholly-foreign-
ES owned enterprises under PRC law.
(d) ZEERSBAIEAZR] - (d) These schools are collectively named “Guangxi
Schools”.
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FA - AEEBBLE=TTWEBIHMER -
WHE R HE — BB B A5 MR I 7532 ©

ERIPFEERRIBEFEFAXEARE
RAEBEEEFEEIZH D ZARF DK
BRA -EERBRREHEMHEQANF
BREHRRERBRITE -

ZERHEREDREFTEGFMAE(E
BEEASDBMNETEMBE RS ER
(FEWBHREER] BREMEREMH
HEEL  FEEHEN(HEB S L]
k2B RERALARBEFRUNAREERAF
RO BEBERERE - MBRRIDIREE
ERREPRERAFESENETER
RABBRESZEIN ZEVBERRAAR
23 BER-EEAEIN FFEEBED
EEREON TR

A& B R2022F8HA3H B R B B B F
# A R %1,687,051,0007T (202148 A31H -
A R #1,267,187,0007T) © H & B8 $& 72022
F8ASHMAEHNAE ARKI73,3350007T
(202148H31H : A R#350,933,0007T) °

ERFRABAEAN RABLAEERS
HEABETHERKEN AR HERKE
ESCEBRZRAKBENRXARBES R
RALHEAABERE -

21

CORPORATE AND GROUP
(CONTINUED)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

INFORMATION

During the year, the Group acquired Zhengzhou School
from independent third parties. Further details of the
acquisition are included in note 32 to the financial
statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for wealth management
products and convertible bonds which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in RMB and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

The Group recorded net current liabilities of
RMB1,687,051,000 as at 31 August 2022 (31 August 2021:
RMB1,267,187,000), included in which were contract
liabilities of RMB973,335,000 as at 31 August 2022
(31 August 2021: RMB350,933,000).

In view of the net current liabilities position, the
directors have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity and performance of the Group and
its available sources of finance in assessing whether
the Group will have sufficient financial resources fo
continue as a going concern.
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BREHREHRNENR  AEEEE]
FREHBEEEMBR B :

%W%

() EREHREMEREFAEENALY
2

(b) EMANLHELNERN: &

(c) AKERRREREBEERRE -

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Having considered the cash inflow from operations, the
directors are safisfied that the Group is able fo meet
in full its financial obligations as they fall due for the
foreseeable future. To mitigate any liquidity issues that
might be faced by the Group, the Group has obtained
adequate banking facilities from reputable financial
instifutions to meet its obligations as and when they fall
due.

Accordingly, the directors are of the opinion that it is
appropriate to prepare the financial statements on
a going concern basis. Should the Group be unable
fo operate as a going concern, adjustmentfs would
have to be made to write down the value of assefs
to their recoverable amounts, and to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise. The effect of these
adjustments has not been reflected in the financial
statements.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and ifs
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 August 2022. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or
has rights, to variable refurns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contfractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.
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APAR S RETE X 25 0 IR (i) 2 WX
RENRFE: (|EARERENRFE:
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains confrol, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intfra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to fransactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it confrols an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses confrol over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assefs (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified fo profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assefts
or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year's financial statements.

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2
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Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Amendment to HKFRS 16

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt
with in the previous amendments which affect
financial reporfing when an existing inferest rate
benchmark is replaced with an alternative risk-free
rate (“RFR"). The amendments provide a practical
expedient to allow the effective interest rate to be
updated without adjusting the carrying amount
of financial assets and liabilities when accounting
for changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows of financial assets and
liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence of
the interest rate benchmark reform and the new
basis for determining the confractual cash flows
is economically equivalent to the previous basis
immediately preceding the change. In addition,
the amendments permit changes required by the
intferest rate benchmark reform to be made to
hedge designations and hedge documentation
without the hedging relationship being
disconfinued. Any gains or losses that could arise
on transition are dealt with through the normal
requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise
hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments also
provide a temporary relief to entities from having
to meet the separately identifiable requirement
when an RFR is designated as a risk component.
The relief allows an entity, upon designation of the
hedge, to assume that the separately identifiable
requirement is met, provided the entity reasonably
expects the RFR risk component fo become
separately identifiable within the next 24 months.
Furthermore, the amendments require an entity
to disclose additional information to enable users
of financial statements to understand the effect
of interest rate benchmark reform on an entity's
financial instfruments and risk management
strategy.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below: (Continued)

(a) (Continued)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings denominated in United
States dollars based on the London Interbank
Offered Rate (“LIBOR") as at 31 August 2022. If the
interest rates of these borrowings are replaced by
RFRs in a future period, the Group will apply the
above-mentioned practical expedient upon the
modification of these instruments provided that
the “economically equivalent” criterion is met.
Additional information about the fransition and
the associated risks is disclosed in note 39 to the
financial statements.

(b) Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021
extends the availability of the practical
expedient for lessees to elect not to apply lease
modification accounting for rent concessions
arising as a direct consequence of the covid-19
pandemic by 12 months. Accordingly, the
practical expedient applies to rent concessions
for which any reduction in lease payments
affects only payments originally due on or before
30 June 2022, provided the other conditions
for applying the practical expedient are met.
The amendment is effective retrospectively for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021
with any cumulative effect of initially applying
the amendment recognised as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained profits at
the beginning of the current accounting period.
Earlier application is permitted.

The Group has not received any covid-19-related rent

concessions and the amendment has no impact on
the financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not adopted the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in the financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments fo HKAS 1

Amendments fo HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments tfo HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020
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Information?
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Non-current??

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies?

Definition of Accounting
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Transaction?

Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use'

Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract!

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16,
and HKAS 41!
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption

s As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1,

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised in October 2020 to align the corresponding
wording with no change in conclusion

6 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17
issued in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended fo
extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers
to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace
a reference to the previous Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements
with a reference to the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting issued in June 2018 without
significantly changing ifs requirements. The
amendments also add fo HKFRS 3 an exception to
its recognition principle for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes
an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for
liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within
the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were
incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to
HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the
Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that contingent assefs do not qualify for
recognition at the acquisition date. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively
from 1 September 2022. Since the amendments apply
prospectively fo business combinations for which
the acquisition date is on or after the date of first
application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of fransition.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS
10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or
confribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require
a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a
downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets befween an investor and ifts associate or
joint venture constitutes a business. For a fransaction
involving assets that do notf constitute a business, a
gain or loss resulting from the fransaction is recognised
in the investor’s profit or loss only fo the exftent of
the unrelated investor's interest in that associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date
of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was
removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new
mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting
for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and
leaseback fransactions entered info affer the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current.
The amendments specify that if an entity's right to
defer settflement of a liability is subject to the entfity
complying with specified conditions, the entity has a
right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of
the reporting period if it complies with those conditions
at that date. Classification of a liability is unaffected
by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right fo
defer seftlement of the liability. The amendments also
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement
of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or affer 1 January 2023 and
shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity's financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on
how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and earlier application is permitted. Since the
guidance provided in the amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective
date for these amendments is not necessary. The Group
is currently assessing the impact of the amendments on
the Group's accounting policy disclosures.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply
to changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start
of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases
and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities
are required to recognise a deferred tax asset and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising
from these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions
related to leases and decommissioning obligations
at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate
at that date. In addition, the amendments shall be
applied prospectively to tfransactions other than leases
and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is
permitted.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

The Group has applied the initial recognition exception
and did notf recognise a deferred tax asset and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences for
tfransactions related to leases. Upon inifial application
of these amendments, the Group will recognise a
deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for
deductible and taxable temporary differences
associated with right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
and recognise the cumulative effect of inifially
applying the amendments as an adjustment o the
opening balance of retained profits at the beginning
of the earliest comparative period presented.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such
items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss.
The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be
applied retrospectively only to items of property, plant
and equipment made available for use on or after
the beginning of the earliest period presented in the
financial statements in which the entity first applies
the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a confract is onerous under HKAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs
that relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate
directly to a contract include both the incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour and
materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation
of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the confract
as well as contract management and supervision
costs). General and administrative costs do not
relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless
they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty
under the contract. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or affer 1 January
2022 and shall be applied to contracts for which an
entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which it
first applies the amendments. Earlier application is
permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially applying
the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment
to the opening equity at the date of initial application
without restating the comparative information. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to
the Group are as follows:

. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees
that an entity includes when assessing whether
the terms of a new or modified financial liability
are substantially different from the terms of the
original financial liability. These fees include only
those paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by
either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf.
An entity applies the amendment to financial
liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or
after the beginning of the annual reporting period
in which the entity first applies the amendment.
The amendment is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendment is not
expected to have a significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

. HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustraftion of
payments from the lessor relating to leasehold
improvements in lllustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease
incentives when applying HKFRS 16.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisifion method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which s
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
fransferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity inferests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects to measure the non-
controlling interests at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL
(CONTINUED)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes
an input and a subsftantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability fo create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, if assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the confractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is measured aft its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and
any fair value of the Group's previously held equity
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL
(CONTINUED)

After initial recognifion, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
is tfested for impairment annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 August. For the purpose of impairment festing,
goodwill acquired in a business combinatfion is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assefs
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash
generating units) fo which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operatfion disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unif retained.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its wealth management products
and convertible bonds at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to fransfer
a liability in an orderly fransaction between market
partficipants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
info account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it fo another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant o
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
tfo the fair value measurement is
unobservable

Level 2

Level 3

For assefs and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than financial assets and deferred tax assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit's value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
assetf, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating
unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount
of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it
can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating
units.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
(CONTINUED)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated fufture cash flows
are discounted fo their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asseft.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not fo an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.

RELATED PARTIES

A party is considered fo be related to the Group if:
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i) has conftrol or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the

Group;

or
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INANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the enfity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. When an item
of property, plant and equipment is classified as held
for sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified
as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 5. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
DEPRECIATION (CONTINUED)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put info operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In sifuations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required fo be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment fo its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

1.9% to 12.1%

Over the shorter of

the lease term and 10%
Motor vehicles 19.4%
Furniture and fixtures 12.1%
Electronic devices 19.4% to 32.3%

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss
in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

183

N

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED « ANNUAL REPORT 2022



LN

B 795 % P
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EXETHREREE(E)

ME BERKBEARFTE(HE)

ERIREEZET BERARETARE
BERIRETHENE KABRERY
AHEEZEXNAAREEESZHBND
BABANBRAARN - ERIERETY
AHERABSER SO BEDE BEERE
S A e

REME

REMEDRHIERDNEEKE R LE
REE MFFELEEREEES @A RH X
EITBRRE THRE-REFEBEFTHE
Mt RBFOEDR(BREKAIESAEM
TATARENVENEBRNRIFERESE
ENHENE) AFEMEEREKATE
ETRERSZHA - BRERR KED
ERBESLRARERFITEMEMABE
BEOSBETE MENEREREE
HIEWMR 2 RARESOF AR AIEAF
M RAa THEMEEERNGREETE -

RESXHEREZABEBORREER
BRAGERKAAEER X HZEBKA
RRASEFERENM EEENEREE: B8
SHEEZREEFNEBEDaNER -

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
DEPRECIATION (CONTINUED)

Consfruction in progress represents a building
under construction, which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds
during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and
buildings (including the leasehold property held as
a right-of-use asset which would oftherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in
the ordinary course of business. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and provision for any impairment in
value. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
basis to write off the cost of an investment property
to its residual value over its estimated useful life of 50
years or over the remaining lease term.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised in the asset’s
carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the costs of the item can be measured
reliably; otherwise, the expenditures are recognised in
profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied,
it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment at
its carrying amount at the date of reclassification and
such transfer does not change its cost for accounting
purposes. If an item of property, plant and equipment
becomes an investment property because its use has
changed, the transfer does not change the carrying
amount of the property transferred, nor does it change
the cost of that property for measurement or disclosure
purposes.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

Infangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of infangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of infangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the infangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any
impairment losses and amortised on the straight-line
basis over its estimated useful life of five to ten years.

Client relationship

Client relationship acquired through the acquisition
of a subsidiary is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and amortised on the straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of five years.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)
(CONTINUED)

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility
of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and
its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability
of resources to complete the project and the ability
to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.

LEASES

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a confract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
tfime in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assefts.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

LEASES (CONTINUED)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

(0)

187

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assefs are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease tferms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Office premises

40 to 50 years
2 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, and amounts expected to be paid under
residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination
of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

LEASES (CONTINUED)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) FHEBE(E) (b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

R EHEXREBENRER AR EE In calculating the present value of lease
NEFEMETSHET  HAEEER payments, the Group uses its incremental
HERKBAHMNESERINNEFE borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
RAWRBEEZ HEBGESENIEM because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
REF EHEM YEZNEERE readily determinable. After the commencement
(1R v NI (o = = 1 g fﬂﬁﬁ date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased
BE HERBEZEMW MBS LL to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
RN FEYRRBAENRELES Tt) for the lease payments made. In addition, the
%ﬁﬁ/\ﬁ%ﬁﬁizﬁ’]‘ BREIENESE carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
AlEsrEHEAENEREE - if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change
to future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of

an option fo purchase the underlying asset.

(c) RAHHEE (c) Short-term leases
AEBREHAEERRBEEARE The Group applies the short-term lease
ITHEeEkPFAEYENRABEEENS recognition exemption to its short-term leases of
THEMB AR ESRI2(E Ak LA staff dormitories and office premises (that is those
T WETBREEEEERENEE leases that have a lease term of 12 months or

less from the commencement date and do nof
contain a purchase option).
HHEENHERBEABRNIZER Lease payments on short-term leases are
EHR BRI - recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease ferm.

AEBERZHAEA Group as a lessor

MAEEEAEHAA ERHAE /\Sﬂﬁ“ BF (3R When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease

HEEHKR BESHE AKEHEIME inception (or when there is a lease modification) each

HE - of ifs leases as either an operating lease or a finance

lease.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

LEASES (CONTINUED)
Group as a lessor (Continued)

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is
included in other income and gains in the statement
of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotfiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term
on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised as other income in the period in which
they are earned.

Leases that tfransfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee are accounted for as finance leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease
is classified as a finance lease or operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from
the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term
lease to which the Group applies the on-balance
sheet recognition exemption, the Group classifies the
sublease as an operating lease.

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair
value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group's
business model for managing them. The Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss, fransaction costs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(CONTINUED)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continved)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assefs
in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contfractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(CONTINUED)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

This category includes wealth management products.
Interest income from wealth management products
classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is also recognised as other income in the
statement of profit or loss.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assefts) is primary derecognised (i.e. removed from the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

. the Group has fransferred its rights fo receive
cash flows from the asset, or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(CONTINUED)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered info a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what
extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership
of the assefs. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset nor fransferred control of the asset, the Group
contfinues to recognise the fransferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The fransferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that fakes the form of a
guaranftee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs"”) for all debt instruments not held
at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on
the difference between the confractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contfract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual ferms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since inifial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month
ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since inifial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the fiming of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(CONTINUED)

General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial insfrument as at the date of initial
recognitfion and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost
or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is
written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject fo
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

F—RE — SBRIEAVKRER L‘AK Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit
I EAEEIEINE 'R risk has not increased significantly
BEEBERE RN —rEA]Q since initial recognition and for which
BAEHEEEENSE the loss allowance is measured at an
T E amount equal to 12-month ECLs

FBEE — SBRMIEATRERINAK Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit
BEEMEERR - B risk has increased significantly since
TEBEEREEREE - initial recognition but that are not
BEBBEEBZESR2 credit-impaired financial assets
HEHREEEBEN BT and for which the loss allowance is
= measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs

EZBEE — RREDHEERESS Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-
MEEBTRBEENRR impaired at the reporting date (but
EERE) AEERER that are not purchased or originated
BERZHEHEEEAE credit-impaired) and for which the
e E loss allowance is measured at an

amount equal to lifetime ECLs
193
N

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED « ANNUAL REPORT 2022



LN

B 795 % P
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EXETHREREE(E)

THEERME(HE)

Bt

HRTEREARERINANEE =X
AEERBERREREBE TN EAREK
THFEEHAER AEERABHLR
ANETRMEEERTE - REBEER
AEEITEEREERRNEL  MER
EREAHBRELMBHRCEEERERE
BRE ASECRBEEELEEBRK
R EERE UREHAREERE
MR EMEERZERRE -

ETRAE

W ERR B
i@éﬁ‘m%ﬁbﬁw PTRAEAYE
AABREMERAE ERLEBERIEN
(@A)

%Eiﬂ%ﬁ@if“?@ﬁm&hﬁf
RARERARENKE AIEREBERE
HRHEA -

AEENEREEEREMENREALRE
SRERARBRESFEFERITREAME
%7\ o

wEE

CRAENKEFTENANKREN S RAY
;o

mEBIHK A B2 B A E (B X RE )

‘W%ﬁ*& FHRIRITR EAMERER
BERMEXZBHEKATE  BRIERR
w%ﬁﬁ?iﬁ BT AR K AT
R-ERABERLE®R M&&Arﬂfiﬁ
THEEFE HRSRBEBREEREANE

7
s °

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(CONTINUED)

Simplified approach

For contract assets that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings, or payables as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable fransaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include other payables
and accruals, convertible bonds and interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings are subsequentfly measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounfing would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective inferest
rate amortisation process.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings) (Continued)

Amortised cost is calculated by taking intfo account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.

Convertible bonds

The component of convertible bonds that exhibifs
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a
liability in the statement of financial position, net of
fransaction costs. Convertible bonds issued by the
Company can be converted intfo the share capital
of the Company at the option of the investor. The
Group designates convertible bonds denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of the
Company as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss. They are initially recognised at fair value.
In the subsequent measurement, the amount of
change in the fair value of the financial liability that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability
shall be presented in other comprehensive income,
and the remaining amount of change in the fair value
of convertible bond shall be presented in profit or loss.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or
expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

TREASURY SHARES

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held
by the Company or the Group are recognised directly
in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancellation of the Group's own equity instruments.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short ferm highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible info
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing
in the countries in which the Group operates.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
tfemporary differences, except:

. where the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability
in a fransaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the fransaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be confrolled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses. Deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, excepft:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the fransaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assefts is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred ftax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each
reporting period and are recognised to the extent that
it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
assetf to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is seftled,
based on tax rates (and ftax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right
fo set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities
and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same faxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different
tfaxable entities which intend either to setftle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the
assefs and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all aftaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods in which the costs, for which it is
infended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
fo the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration
is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of services to the customer
for more than one year, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the
contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit
for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method.
For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised
services is one year or less, the transaction price is
not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Tuition and boarding fees received by college are
generally received in advance prior to the beginning
of each academic year, and are initially recorded
as contract liabilities. Tuition and boarding fees are
recognised proportionately over the relevant period
of the applicable program. The portion of tuition
and boarding payments received from sfudents but
not yet recognised is recorded as a contract liability
and is reflected as a current liability as such amount
represents revenue that the Group expects to earn
within one year. The academic year of the Group's
colleges is generally from September to June of the
following year.

The Group does not expect to have any confracts
where the period between the transfer of the promised
services to the customer and payment by the customer
exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group does
not adjust any of the fransaction prices for the time
value of money.

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Service income and catering income are recognised
at a point in fime when the services are rendered.

Income from sale of textbooks and teaching
equipment is recognised at a point in fime when the
ownership of the books and equipment has been
fransferred.

Donation income is recognised at a point in fime when
the ownership of assets has been transferred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipfts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A confract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the related
goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., tfransfers control of the related services to the
customer).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who conftribute to the success of the
Group's operations. Employees (including directors) of
the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using a binomial model, further
details of which are given in note 30 to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-setfled fransactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
seftled fransactions at the end of each reporting
period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Service and non-market performance conditions are
not taken into account when determining the grant
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the
conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions
are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the fransactions are freated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service condifions are safisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised
as if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is
freated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award
is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting condifions within the control
of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substifuted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification
of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected

as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Pension scheme

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme managed by the local
municipal government. The subsidiaries are required
to confribute a certain percentage of the payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. The Group has
no obligation for the payment of refirement benefits
beyond the annual contributions. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
fime to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assefs. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their infended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’'s memorandum and
artficles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability
when they are proposed and declared.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in RMB
because the Group's principal operations are
carried out in Mainland China. The functional
currency of the Company and certain subsidiaries
incorporated outside Mainland China is Hong Kong
dollar (“HKD") and the functional currency of the
subsidiaries established in Mainland China is RMB,
which is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which those entities operate. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or franslation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in tferms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are franslated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
fransactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income
on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating fo an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the dafte on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability
arising from the advance consideration. If there are
multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (CONTINUED)

The functional currencies of the Company and certain
overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than RMB.
As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss
are franslated into RMB at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
fransactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
ofther comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operatfion and any fair value adjustments fo the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the financial statements requires
management fo make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assefs and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to fthe
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Contractual arrangements

Certain subsidiaries are engaged in the provision
of education services, which falls in the scope of
“"Catalogue of Restricted Foreign Investment Industries”.
Foreign investors are prohibited from investing in such
business.

The Group exercises control over these subsidiaries
and enjoys all economic benefits of these subsidiaries
through contractual arrangements (“Structured
Contracts”).

The Group considers that it controls these subsidiaries,
notwithstanding the fact that it does not hold direct
equity interest in these subsidiaries, as it has power
over the financial and operating policies of these
subsidiaries and receives substantially all of the
economic benefits from the business activities of
these subsidiaries through the Structured Contracts.
Accordingly, these subsidiaries have been accounted
for as subsidiaries during the year.

Property lease classification - Group as lessor

The Group has entered info commercial property
leases on ifs investment property portfolio. The Group
has defermined, based on an evaluation of the terms
and condifions of the arrangements, such as the lease
ferm not constituting a major part of the economic
life of the commercial property and the present
value of the minimum lease payments not amounting
to substantially all the fair value of the commercial
property, that it retains all the significant risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of these properties
which are leased out and accounts for the confracts
as operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as
an investment property, and has developed criteria
in making that judgement. Investment property
is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely
independently of the other assets held by the Group.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If
these portions could be sold separately or leased out
separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts
for the portions separately. If the portions could not
be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services or
for adminisfrative purposes. Judgement is made on
an individual property basis fo determine whether
ancillary services are so significant that a property
does not qualify as an investment property.

Income tax

Significant judgement is required in interpreting the
relevant tax rules and regulations so as to determine
whether the Group is subject to corporate income
tax in respect of income from the provision of formal
educational services. This assessment relies on
estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of
judgements about future events. New information may
become available that causes the Group to change
its judgement regarding the adequacy of the tax
liabilities. Such changes to tax liabilities will impact the
tax expense in the period that such determination is
made.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to
which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating
units and also fo choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 August
2022 was RMB752,021,000 (2021: RMB371,569,000).
Further details are given in note 17 to the financial
statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs
for trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings that have similar loss
patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit
loss experience with forward-looking information.
For instance, if forecast conditions are expected to
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an
increased number of defaults in the education sector,
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of conditions may also not
be representative of a student’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's
frade receivables is disclosed in note 20 to the financial
statements.

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR") to measure lease liabilities.
The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would
have fo pay to borrow over a similar term, and with
a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in
a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which
requires estimation when no observable rates are
available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter info
financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted
to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR
using observable inputs (such as market interest rates)
when available and is required to make certain entity-
specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone
credit rating).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)
Purchase price allocation of a business combination

The purchase price allocation of the Group’s business
combination, as detailed in note 32 to the financial
statements, requires the determination of fair values of
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
The net assetfs acquired include, amongst others,
property, plant and equipment, investment properties,
right-of-use assets and other intangible assets, of which
their fair values are dependent on a range of estimates
including estimated future cash flows of the underlying
cash-generating unit, discount rate and interest rate.
Given the uncertainties in the estimation, the actual
outcomes may be higher or lower than the estimated
fair values of these items as at the date of acquisition.
Where the actual outcomes of these items are different
from the amounts initially recorded, such differences
may impact the future financial results.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of
education services in the PRC.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of infernal
reporting about components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-
maker in order to allocate resources to segments
and to assess their performance. The information
reported to the directors of the Company, who are the
chief operating decision-makers, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of performance,
does not contain discrete operating segment financial
information and the directors reviewed the financial
results of the Group as a whole. Therefore, no further
information about the operating segment is presented.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

During the year, the Group operated within one
geographical location because all of its revenues
were generated in the PRC and all of its long-term
assets/capital expenditures were located/incurred in
the PRC. Accordingly, no geographical information is
presented.

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

No revenue from sales to a single customer amounted
to 10% or more of the total revenue of the Group during
the year.
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WA - HAh U S RIS 6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
WADITT An analysis of revenue is as follows:
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥ET T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FEEFEH WA Revenue from contracts with
customers
28 Tuition fees 1,741,268 1,345,294
TEE Boarding fees 180,484 152,161
1,921,752 1,497,455
REEEAH A REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
(i) UADEEH (i) Disaggregated revenue information
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥ET T ARETT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR E A Type of service
HERT Education services 1,921,752 1,497,455
i & 5 Geographical market
fR B A D Mainland China 1,921,752 1,497,455
W A HE 52 R B Timing of revenue recognition
PERSFE R EZENRS Services transferred over time 1,921,752 1,497,455
TRIWATAAGFEHBEEZHORAS The following table shows the amount of revenue
B HZSHOARESHBYANAE recognised in the current reporting period that

& :

was included in the confract liabilities at the
beginning of the reporting period:

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FFAREBRVAEOBER Revenue recognised that was
BRI A included in contract liabilities
at the beginning of the
) reporting period:
#HE RS Education services 350,933 274.029
(i) BH =K (ii) Performance obligations
BARBARBREEHABER B2 The performance obligation is satisfied over time
BNIEERSNBEFYZAESL as services are rendered and tuition and boarding
I ER © fees are generally received in advance prior to

the beginning of each academic year.

21
e

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED « ANNUAL REPORT 2022




6.

LN

S 25 e M

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WA Hihr s R 1Ez (8) 6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

REEFEHZWA(E)

(i) BH &% (&)

(CONTINUED)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
(CONTINUED)

(ii) Performance obligations (Continued)

M2022%48A38  MEHRENEKA At 31 August 2022, all amounts of transaction
?ﬂ WX 5ERSHEERBEN —FARE prices related to performance obligations are
R RAEWA - MRIE S B M @S %R expected to be recognised as revenue within
FISHAAAT UEBRZEIREZZS one year and as permitted under HKFRS 15, the
ﬂiLﬁX(‘ﬁz BHKER)ADHZ5E transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
& o contracts (or partially unsatisfied) is not disclosed.
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥T T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
Hth iy 3% B 18 25 Other income and gains
PR % Uk &= Service income 141,566 116,049
R 1T H Bk 7% Bank interest income 22,132 26,349
B ERES Gain on wealth investment products 1,021 6,248
KEMERLEHOEED Gross rental income from investment
W@ W property operating leases:
HEMHEENR 281 Other lease payments, including
& 7E £+ 5K fixed payments 100,395 83,401
R 8 Ejj Government grants 18,903 18,734
BRI = Catering income 18,854 15,168
BB &= (MY 32 (a) Donation income (Note (a)) 16,730 48,483
H Aty Others 21,159 3,546
340,760 317,978
Witla): Ze&BEEBEATREEHM Note (a): The amount primarily consists of external
ARG ERE XK INIEE donations of electronic devices and software
MEHEBEHEENEFRER related to teaching activities to promote
B o integration between industry and education
and cooperation between enterprises and
colleges.
& A 7. FINANCE COSTS
BEERK AT An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T T ARBTT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
MITER R HAMERFE Interest on bank loans and other loans 154,205 149,121
HEAGERNE Interest on lease liabilities 508 460
WHIZRAFEFTABER Total interest expense on financial
CRBENFBERAZAE liabilities not at fair value
through profit or loss 154,713 149,581
BB AR E Less: Interest capitalised (40,043) (7,478)
114,670 142,103
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8. PBR#AER 8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
RNEBRBRBAEGER LR GEA)AT The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after
BEIEBEN: charging/(crediting):
2022 20214
2022 2021
fif i ARETR ARETT
Nofes RMB'000 RMB'000
EERMAX (T BHE Employee benefit expense
EERERITHRAR (excluding directors’ and chief
5B 59)) - executive’s remuneration (nofe 9)):
IE8RE® Wages and salaries 697,808 483,268
URELRN  BRERY Equity-settled share option expense 2,657 5,016
RSB Pension scheme contributions
(BEM|RGE) (defined contribution scheme) * 46,145 42,930
746,610 531,214
NE BERBEFE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 14 165,718 140,495
REWETE Depreciation of investment
properties 15 14,063 6,165
CREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16(a) 35,998 24,281
Httmp EE & Amortisation of other
intangible assets 18 23,502 9,298
B % B AR Research costs 2,310 12,947
A Rental income 6 (100,395) (83,401)
T BB B Government grants released 6 (18,903) (18,734)
ATAREGBEHEL Lease payments not included in the
HENE measurement of lease liabilities 16(c) 294 94
% - Cikai Auditor's remuneration 4,500 4,500
IS W a Bank interest income 6 (22,132) (26,349)
SNEERE  OFHE Foreign exchange differences, net 41,685 1,772
BHRWFE  BEHE - Impairment allowance of frade
HhEUFEREMEE receivables, prepayments,
HERE other receivables and other assets 738 2,154
ATEBETE: Fair value losses, net:
ABRES Convertible bonds 270 336
PENE BELLFEBEMERE Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment 4,373 131

* THEZRHE ST B AEEERET) AR *
BB K o

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by
the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level
of contributions.
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EENRBREITBRAEHMH

RIE EWARA - FHERREH FE383(1)(a)
(b) ~ (c) R ()EARAR (HEEEFEER)
HOIE2H B EZCFNEERERITHRAE
HEmT

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section
383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is
as follows:

20225 20214

2022 2021

AR¥ET T AREBEFIT

RMB’000 RMB'000

we Fees 1,082 1,037

R B - Other emoluments:

e RULEDER Salaries, allowances and benefits

in kind 3,589 3,593

FRIBAEBEL Performance related bonuses 2,581 2,348

LARR 4 S+ 2 B R R 2 Equity-settled share option expense 667 1.482

BIREFHEI B Pension scheme contributions 161 137

6,998 7,560

8,080 8,597

RBEFE REARBDBERES &
TEFHIRFAASEREHRRGEMERE
g FRE-—THBERPBEHRRME
30 - ZEBRENATERREAHEE -
DREBHAERSRTER  MFAR
AEREVBHREANGEEREELANES
EEBITHRABMERE -

During the past years, certain directors were granted
share options, in respect of their services to the Group,
under the share option scheme of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 30 to the
financial statements. The fair value of such options,
which has been recognised in the statement of profit or
loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the
date of grant and the amount included in the financial
statements for the current year is included in the
above directors’ and chief executive's remuneration
disclosures.
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9. EERESTHRAEHFMGE) 9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(A) & VYHHTES (A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
RFEAXNTEIIFERTEZTNER The fees paid to independent non-executive
wm directors during the year were as follows:

2022%
2022
#é BER NREXNZ RikE
ne EVEN REEBETAL BREBX g @zt
Salaries, Equity-
allowances Performance settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense contributions Total

ARBTRE ARBTR AR®TR AR®Tz ARBTR AR®T:
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

BWEEEE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 316 - - 22 - 338
TR EE Mr. Hu Jianbo 240 - - 17 - 257
BLERE Mr. Chan Tung Hoi 263 - - 35 - 298
A 3N Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter 263 - - 35 - 298
1,082 - - 109 - 1,191
20214
2021
e ZHR RS2 BikE
ne ENRN REEBEL BRERX AR @t
Salaries, Equity-
allowances Performance settled Pension
and benefits related  share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense contributions Total

ARBTRE ARBTE ARBTRT ARETT ARETT AR%Tx
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

BEELE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 299 - - 55 - 354
HEREAE Mr. Hu Jianbo 240 - - 45 - 285
BLEEE Mr. Chan Tung Hoi 249 - - 71 - 320
YFHRELT Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter 249 - - 71 - 320
1,037 - - 242 - 1,279

FR - BEERNBILERAITEETNE There were no other emoluments payable to the

ftb R BN (20214F : 4&) - independent non-executive directors during the

year (2021: Nil).
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EERBRETHRAEEHMH(E) 9. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
(B) HITES (B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
2022
2022
5% EER DREXNZ BiRg
we EVEN REHABTAL BREMEX EE- st
Salaries, Equity-
allowances Performance settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense contributions Total

ARBTRT ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR ARBTR AR¥T:
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000

HITES Executive directors
TEFLE Mr. Li Xicoxuan* - 1,088 1,000 289 54 2,431
M A Mr. Zhao Shuai - 687 600 17 92 1,496
BEELZL Ms. Shen Chunmei - 1,814 981 152 15 2,962
- 3,589 2,581 558 161 6,889
20214
2021
¥ 28R MRESZ BiRE
e EMEN RBEBREL  BEREEY FTEIER i
Salaries, Equity-
allowances Performance settled Pension
and benefits related  share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense confributions Total
AREFTT ARBTr ARETT ARBFTr AREFR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HITES Executive directors
TEHLLE Mr. Li Xicoxuan* - 1,075 1,000 666 51 2,792
Ak A& Mr. Zhao Shuai - 562 500 271 42 1,375
BEELL Ms. Shen Chunmei - 1,956 848 303 44 3,151
- 3,593 2,348 1,240 137 7,318
* FEHEE(FTEEDRERRAH * Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (“Mr. Li"), who acts as an executive
TEEREFSIFE - director of the Company, is also the chairman of
the board.
FR TEZHBIFEESIHRSITR There was no arrangement under which a director
AERBEXRAERETAHE - or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive

any remuneration during the year.
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10. EEBRSHFMES 10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
SN hEEaTWEEBRE=2F % (2021 The five highest paid employees during the year
FZHEFSR) AFHFHFBEHN EXMHETY - included three directors (2021: three directors), details
BRT M A (2021F - MB)IEARRRIEF R & of whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above.
BITBRAEBENGESHMNEE 2FRNH B Details of the remuneration for the year of remaining
(ERCHNE two (2021: two) highest paid employees who are

neither a director nor chief executive of the Company
are as follows:

2022 20214
2022 2021
AR T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
e EMEEYEAR Salaries, allowances and
benefits in kind 1,175 2,229
FRIVMAEB@EL Performance related bonuses 1,075 900
UARR #2152 B R R B 2 Equity-settled share option
expense 178 972
RN K d Pension scheme contributions 146 93
2,574 4,194
TN TUTHENIEES N IERS TR The number of non-director and non-chief executive
AEHNESFHESHERNT highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within

the following bands is as follows:

E&E®AR

Number of employees
20224 20214
2022 2021
= %1,000,0007% 7T Nil o HKD 1,000,000 - -
1,000,001 7t £1,500,000% 7t HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 - 1
1,500,001/ 7t £2,000,000 7t HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 2 -
2,500,001 7£ 23,000,000/ 7t HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000 - 1
2 2
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10. AEEESHMES (&)

11.

RBEFE CAZXBIFEENIIFRET
BAEGRRFHEENESAEEREHR
BEROABERE BEE-THBIARYH
BERMEONPEEFEARN - EEBHAR
BRXBRNOAREBREATFERREA
HETE MAALXFEMBERRANESHE
EERLEXFEFERIERITHRAERES
FNEEMESHNBRESTEA -

FriE %t
AATREAESHBEATDERMEHE R
ML ARREEREEART A HA
BNFTS B -

HRAEERFALEEMBEEZTBERAR
EERDNERBGEN  RAERFTER
SRR S -

B35 R20165F11 A78 18 6 & 7201749 A1
BAERKCEBEARREASEHZESH
RER<PEARENER MRS & £ 5>
HOREN2016FRED RBERT B
BABRENEERRBAEDHNER
HERERETELRE RO RNER
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BRRENERMBRAEENER RS
R IERENFEBRENERL BRI
RN RR SN o
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ERMEERTZZEQNBRER SR
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

11.

During the past years, share options were granted to
the non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees in respect of their services to the Group,
further details of which are included in the disclosures
in note 30 to the financial statements. The fair value
of such options, which has been recognised in the
statement of profit or loss over the vesting period, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current
year is included in the above non-director and non-
chief executive highest paid employees’' remuneration
disclosures.

INCOME TAX

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
accordingly is not subject to income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made
as the Group had no assessable profits derived from or
earned in Hong Kong during the year.

According to the Decision of the Standing Committee
of the National People’s Congress on Amending the
Private Schools Promotion Law, which was promulgated
on 7 November 2016 (the "2016 Decision”), and came
info force on 1 September 2017, private schools are
no longer being classified as either schools for which
the school sponsor(s) require reasonable returns or
schools for which the school sponsor(s) do not require
reasonable returns. Instead, the school sponsor(s) of a
private school may choose for the school to be a for-
profit private school or a non-profit private school,
with the exception that schools providing nine-year
compulsory education must be non-profit.

On 14 May 2021, the State Council released the
Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting
Private Education of the PRC with an effective date of
1 September 2021 (the “2021 Implementation Rules”).
The 2021 Implementation Rules are the detailed
implementation rules of the Law for Promoting Private
Education of the PRC. Pursuant to the 2016 Decision
and the 2021 Implementation Rules, a private school
may enjoy the preferential tax policies, which are
not defined under the 2016 Decision nor the 2021
Implementation Rules, as stipulated by the related
government authorities and a non-profit school may
enjoy the same tax policies as enjoyed by a public
school.
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Fr e %t (%)
RESHBRRLEDS RAEBARPE
ARKME SR ER S EEMBRS -

R CRE R A K B 78 5P K A 3% B S A B R
WHREBENBAN)  NEEEER - &M
EA -HR HLtERARAERKEER
BREBNETEAERER BRAUEA
15%BELEMAEHRME - HE202248
ASBIHLLSFE REABBAREEZERER
RERERPBRIBH N R AT EFF
Mo REEHERETEHMEMMA R
BZEBRE URWEMHE THER
AAZERICMBELEMBRME - A&
BETBEAMKINEMER BRAR
BZREMTASREN25%BHAEERMEHR -

Hip R ERB G MO B IRBEANEE
REMERNEAERBMRITHENE -

1.

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

As at the date of approval of these financial
statements, the Group's schools in the People’s
Republic of China are still in the process of
classification registrations.

According to the Circular on Issues Concerning Tax
Policies for In-depth Implementation of Western
Development Strategies, certain qualifying
entities/schools of the Group that are located in
Yunnan, Guizhou, Guangxi, Gansu, Hubei Province and
Tibet Aufonomous Region engaged in encouraged
business are entifled to a preferential corporate
income tax rate of 15%. Huihuang Company was
subject to the PRC income tax at 9% under the Tibet
Autonomous Region’s preferential investment policies
for the year ended 31 August 2022. According to the
Preferential Policies for Key Pilot Zone of Development
and Opening Up (“"EERZEFMEARIE") in Ruili City,
Yunnan Province, certain subsidiaries located in Ruili
are entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate
of 9%. Other entities/schools of the Group established
in Mainland China are subject to corporate income tax
at arate of 25% on their respective taxable income.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR TR AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000

B HA Current
FAZH Charge for the year 74,537 82,466
B RE (M 7228) Deferred (note 28) 42,895 3,592
FAMIBL HBEE Total tax charge for the year 117,432 86,058
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EHTEEERBEAEORANI YR

11. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries

wmR are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax
rates is as follows:
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BR Bt A s A Profit before tax 747,644 677,855
BEATHETENEIE Tax at statutory tax rate 186,911 169,464
BEAHLEMHBETN Lower tax rates for specific provinces
BUR B &K or enacted by local authority (78,777) (80,684)
B ARIEE RIBHEEY Effect of withholding tax on earnings
ANz BEHNHZE remitted and anticipated to be
remitted by subsidiaries 16,327 6,928
BERBIA Income noft subject to tax (44,824) (92,951)
HBEMMHEY Expenses not deductible for tax 32,341 83,213
MREBELABRAIEI Recognition of deferred tax assets
TRHEENEEHBEEE related to previously unrecognised
deductible temporary differences = (3,351)
FONBR AP BB AR E  Tax credit arising from additional
THEENBIELR S deduction of research and
development expenditures of
PRC subsidiaries (260) (1,505)
BEARTHMMNIEEIE Tax losses utilised from previous
periods (490) (575)
R R T IE BB Tax losses not recognised 6,204 5,519
BRAEBERMNEFEN Tax charge at the Group's
I8 % H effective rate 117,432 86,058
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i B 12. DIVIDENDS
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR® T AR®EF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
R - TR ER Interim — RMB0.106 (2021: RMB0.054)
AR®0.1067T (20214 - per ordinary share
/\E%O 0547T) 165,000 85,620
EAH-SREBR Proposed final - RMB0.093 (2021:
/\EM0.0%E(QOQ]@ : RMBO0.083) per ordinary share
A KR #0.0837T) 145,175 131,623
310,175 217,243

FAEBERBMBAGARABRRRIERE
BRRBFRELHERTAMEER -

BARAEERRREAESREN

EREABANCHEDDEREFRNG AT
A% B R FE (5 & A K N1,570,028,357 /%
(20214 :1,578,283,1170% ) 2 2 77 & & IR hn
BT BETE -

BRESENS %E)HETJ%EW’A_E%E
R EREEGEMETE LELFHBEARR
}ﬁﬂx{fa’%xﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂ’]wa(1H1LJ3%)(%TX)
AERAANEERNEFOBATES
BERBNAANFRNDEITHNE LHx%(E
AEBRAEEREEE NN EBBRWRNE
BIEI AN ERARBELNTRERET
H 3 P E D0 R ST B -

13.

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject fo
the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share
amount is based on the profit for the year attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of
1,570,028,357 (2021: 1,578,283,117) in issue during the
year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share
amount is based on the profit for the year attributable
fo ordinary equity holders of the parent, adjusted to
reflect the impact on profit or loss from the convertible
bonds, where applicable (see below). The weighted
average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year, as used in the basic earnings per
share calculation, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued af no
consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares intfo ordinary
shares.
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13. BRAFREERBRREMLSRKREAER 13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

(%) ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
(CONTINUED)
BRERKBERMNOTETIER The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per
share are based on:
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®FT T ARBF T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
2 7 Earnings
FEERERRAN Profit attributable to ordinary
FrAz & RA &Rk equity holders of the parent,
% B FE 16 5 A used in the basic earnings
per share calculation: 620,003 567,824
JJI] ABmRKREFEEEN Add: Impact on profit or loss from
Ta convertible bonds 331 4,082
ARABMBRESFEERD Profit attributable to ordinary
FERNH AR EBR equity holders of the parent
% R FE 1k & A before impact on profit or loss
from convertible bonds 620,334 571,906
G &R
Number of shares
20224 20214
2022 2021
B 1 Shares
ATEERERAF Weighted average number of
FrAZFRNEET ordinary shares in issue during
RN L Bk the year used in the basic
earnings per share calculation 1,570,028,357 1,578,283,117
BEE LRI Effect of dilution — weighted average
15 %ﬁ( : number of ordinary shares:
i M e Share options * - 1,994,559
AR E & Convertible bonds 10,383,307 112,533,792
1,580,411,6464 1,692,811,468
* EFESKRBERENE  BRESEZR * The effect of share options on the basic earnings per
20224 8A31H H:¢E NEREERZF® share for the year ended 31 August 2022 were ignored
TEECWAE R RAT ﬁzﬁﬁﬁx% in the calculation of diluted earnings per share as the
?2%515%’]#1& AEFEEBEERT impact of the share options outstanding had an anti-

&%/@XXJ—E

dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share amounts
presented.

222
N
TR R BEREA IR AT o 4R 2022




LN

B 795 % P
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

T >
4. N¥ - BERRXHE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
20224 8A31H 31 AUGUST 2022
[ B BE%HE "E BERKE ETRHE ERIR @
Leasehold Motor  Furniture and Electronic  Construction
Buildings  improvements vehicles fixtures devices in progress Total
AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TTR AR%TTR AR®TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
202159418 - At 1 September 2021:
AR Cost 3,689,976 8,929 15,141 334,194 153,357 402,647 4,604,244
2 E Accumulated depreciation (275,558) (4,324) (11,849) (134,790) (86,465) - (512,986)
REEE Net carrying amount 3,414,418 4,605 3,292 199,404 66,892 402,647 4,091,258
R202169A18 At 1 September 2021, net of
ANR2HE accumulated depreciation 3,414,418 4,605 3,292 199,404 66,892 402,647 4,091,258
RE Additions - 16,085 1,150 101,380 41,990 443,315 603,920
WEHBAR(Hi#32)  Acquisition of subsidiaries (nofe 32/ 347,014 1,841 1,744 14,954 7,128 19 372,700
tE Disposals (4) - (758) (4,234) - - (4.996)
FRGHRITE Depreciation provided
during the year (81,765) (4,998) (1,019) (53,003) (24,933) - (165,718)
BEEERIE Transfer from construction
in progress 355,137 7712 - 14,470 1,406 (378,725) -
BEERENE Transfer fo investment properties (12,705) - - - - (1,387) (14,092)
#202248A318 - At 31 August 2022, net of
BB 25 E accumulated depreciation 4,022,095 25,245 4,409 272,971 92,483 445,869 4,883,072
R202268A318 At 31 August 2022:
B Cost 4,376,103 34,567 15,008 450,493 199173 465,869 5,541,213
2 E Accumulated depreciation (354,008) (9,322) (10,599) (177,522) (106,690) - (858,141)
EHFAE Net carrying amount 4,022,095 25,245 4,409 272,97 92,483 465,869 4,883,072
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Sz A_. E
4. M¥E BERRE @) 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
2021 8AH31H 31 AUGUST 2021
gF HEXE "E RERKE ETHE ERIR it
Leasehold Motor  Furniture and Electronic  Construction
Buildings  improvements vehicles fixtures devices in progress Total
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
®202069A18 At 1 September 2020:
KA Cost 2914,777 7,730 14,376 257,771 126,531 158,684 3,479,869
2iHE Accumulated depreciation (200,667) (2,232) (10,827) (99,573) (65.901) - (379,200
REFE Net carrying amount 2,714,110 5,498 3,549 158,198 60,630 158,684 3,100,669
M202059A18 At 1 September 2020, net of
BENBEHTE accumulated depreciation 2,714110 5,498 3,549 158,198 640,630 158,684 3,100,669
RE Additions 25,694 1,199 1,083 50,875 19,423 267,889 366,163
WEKBAR Acquisition of subsidiaries 723,786 - 295 30,522 11,138 32,819 798,560
e Disposals - - (452) (1,868 (293) - (2,613
FRGRTE Depreciation provided during
the year (74,891) 2,092) (1183) (38,323 (24,006) - (140,495)
BRehpIRe Transfer from construction
in progress 56,745 - - - - (56,745) -
BRERANE Transfer to investment properties 31,026) - - - - - (31,026)
#202168A318 At 31 August 2021, net of
AMB2TE accumulated depreciation 3,414,418 4,605 3,292 199,404 66,892 402,647 4,091,258
M202158A31A At 31 August 2021:
KA Cost 3,689,976 8,929 15,141 334,194 153,357 402,647 4,604,244
2 E Accumulated depreciation (275,558) (4,324) (11,849) (134,790) (86,465) - (512,986)
FHFAE Net carrying amount 3,414,418 4,605 3,292 199,404 66,892 402,647 4,091,258

R2022%8A3IR  REFELNRAREK
532,920,0007T (20214 8A31H: A K
354,511,00070) & TR FINAEREWEM
HHE®E -

20224F8H31H - BRE FE XN B AR
#80,091,0007T (20218 H31H: A R ¥
10,616,00070) WA K EE TEF ~ KE R
RENLEFRGBGLCERTERBETLRAE
b & 3K (Bf 5£25) o

At 31 August 2022, the application for the property
ownership certificates for certain buildings with a
net book value of approximately RMB532,920,000
(31 August 2021: RMB354,511,000) was still in progress.

At 31 August 2022, certain of the Group’s buildings,
furniture and fixtures and electronic devices with a net
carrying amount of RMB80,091,000 (31 August 2021:
RMB10,616,000) were pledged fo secure bank and
other borrowings (note 25).
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5. REW=

. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2022% 20214
2022 2021
AR¥ TR AR®ETF T
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
RENZ RHE Carrying amount at beginning
of year 349,125 213,693
FRRME Additions during the year 461 -
BWEEBERE Additions from acquisitions 70,400 106,500
EEAEAWE Transfer from owner-occupied
property 15,922 35,097
FRAFTIRTE Depreciation provided during
the year (14,063) (6,165)
RERZEEE Carrying amount at end of year 421,845 349,125
M8A31A : At 31 August:
DN Cost 459,658 372,875
2 E Accumulated depreciation (37.813) (23,750)
R % E Net carrying amount 421,845 349,125
AEBMEKREMXELATBEREEERR The Group’s investment properties are the buildings
EMEFR THERE ARAAESEER and land use rights leased as canteen and shops.
BEMENEE FHLERBETREYD The directors of the Company have determined that
XRPEME - BREBIYMEMHBEMET the investment properties are commercial properties,
WitE REMEZAFEM Efﬂ?%}\ﬁ based on the nature, characteristics and risks of
#972,800,0007C (20214 8A31H: A R #& each property. The fair value of investment properties

809,200,0007T) ©

SRR E LS TFE=S
Y ST EL LAY

MN2022F8A31H BRE F E A AR
49,571,0007&(2021$8ﬂ315 AN RO
74077000 A S EE TR EYWEEE
TR R R IT R E A B FR (M 7£25) »

’&?EE%&
RFEERTANKEENZ
Emiﬁt‘j% A o ﬁHEAE‘HEﬁéf
MEEXMTAMRRESRER
XEE2ITERABEREAHEEE
HeEk MAXREHZEXR-

\—H—

~FEE
AT E
12 & ¥

estimated to be approximately RMB972,800,000
(31 August 2021: RMB809,200,000) based on valuations
performed by an independent property valuer.

The investment properties are leased to third parties
under operating leases, further summary details
of which are included in note 16 to the financial
statements.

At 31 August 2022, certain of the Group's investment
propertfies with a net carrying amount of RMB49,571,000
(31 August 2021: RMB74,077,000) were pledged to
secure bank and other borrowings (note 25).

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The level of fair value hierarchy within which the
fair value measurements for disclosure purpose are
categorised in Level 3. The valuation technique used
in assessing fair value of investment properties is
discounted cash flow method, and the key inputs to
the valuation of investment properties are estimated
rental value, rent growth, discount rate and long ferm
vacancy rate.
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AEBEREEA

AEBEERREEBEENORIEMEN
HEAK - CDRAFEH -REMNRABRK
U BB & £+ b - 10 B R40E50%F - M AR
ERELHEENGR STe@EXH
FAHRE - -RAEVENEPBER =
e - —RME AKE AR A KBRS
ATBEBZLRHI>HBEEERE -

(a) EREEE

FR ALEFHEEERAAEARE
E R uNE

16. LEASES
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE

The Group has lease contfracts for office premises
used in its operations. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire the leased land from the
government with lease periods between 40 and
50 years, and no ongoing payments will be made
under the terms of these land leases. Leases of office
premises generally have lease terms between 2 and 5
years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning
and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use
assets and the movements during the year are as

R2020%8A31H K 202069A1H

FE
Ak HBARTFE
HESRENE
fERA
RAETTHEREE
AL

#2021 F8 A31H [ 2021459A1H

NE

R BEHBLRAMNE (K732

BREREME
FEER

7202258318

follows:
WAENE EAEELE Bt
Prepaid
Office leasehold
premises land Total
ARBT R ARBTR ARBTR
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
As at 31 August 2020 and
1 September 2020 16,018 451,950 467,968
Additions 1,569 35,037 36,606
Additions as a result of acquisition
of subsidiaries 589 362,958 363,547
Transfers to investment properties - (4,071) (4,071)
Depreciation charge (9.732) (14,549) (24,281)
Revision of a lease ferm arising from
a change in the non-cancellable
period of a lease (489) - (489)
As at 31 August 2021 and
1 September 2021 7,955 831,325 839,280
Additions 24,102 198,862 222,964
Additions as a result of acquisition of
subsidiaries (nofe 32) - 85,829 85,829
Transfers to investment properties - (1,830) (1,830)
Depreciation charge (10,508) (25,490) (35,998)
As at 31 August 2022 21,549 1,088,696 1,110,245
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16. HE(E) 16. LEASES (CONTINUED)
rEBERAEAE) THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (CONTINUED)
(b) HEEAE (b) Lease liabilities
FAHEAGBG REERZESHOT The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR¥B TR ARB T T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
RFEIZREE Carrying amount at beginning of year 8,301 15,758
FAE New leases 24,102 1,569
WEEKI B RARIMAE Additions as a result of acquisition
of subsidiaries - 589
FANEHERMNENREE Accretion of interest recognised
during the year 508 460
E:A Payments (19.924) (9,444)
EHEETAHEEEM Revision of a lease term arising from a
EHHEBEET change in the non-cancellable
period of a lease - (631)
RERZEEEAE Carrying amount at end of year 12,987 8,301
DA Analysed into:
BV HA &6 9 Current portion 4,858 6,713
FEBNER &6 5 Non-current portion 8,129 1,588
HMEBGENIBHAI MR H B REH The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed
39 &= o in note 39 to the financial statements.
(c) REZNERNEERBERBLOT: (c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation
to leases are as follows:
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR TR AR®ETF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
HEAGBHNE Interest on lease liabilities 508 460
ERAREEZCHEER Depreciation charge of right-of-use
assets 35,998 24,281
HEHHEEEMNMAX Expense relating to short-term
(GFAER ARITEAY) leases (included in cost of sales
and administrative expenses) 294 94
WIEFHEN K= Gains on termination of lease - (142)
REZABERRIBLAE Total amount recognised in
profit or loss 36,800 24,693
(d HERSREHBENY B REWIE (d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in
33(c) & - note 33(c) to the financial statements.
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HE(E)

AEBESHAA

AEERBEEHELZHBERRER
RBERETHRMENKREDE(ME
15 - Z2FHENGARBEEXEPLP XN
ERBEESYREBRTTAETEHESH
E-FRAAEEEINEEBRABARE
100,395,0007T (20214 : A R #83,401,000
TC) FHBEN YRR TS

I

M2022F8A31H - ARALER EEHE
PZAARHEEEEENEBRABRREEAE
IR

16. LEASES (CONTINUED)

THE GROUP AS A LESSOR

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15)
consisting of several commercial properties in the
schools and academic buildings under operating
lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits and
provide for periodic rent adjustments according
to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was
RMB100,395,000 (2021: RMB83,401,000), details of which
are included in note 6 to the financial statements.

At 31 August 2022, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as
follows:

20224 20214

2022 2021

AR T T ARBF T

RMB’'000 RMB'000

—F R Within one year 68,253 52,995
—F LA EBEMF A After one year but within two years 56,172 34,848
MFELA BB =FR After two years but within three years 37,773 27,963
=FUEENFUR After three years but within four years 20,772 16,749
WELNEERFUA After four years but within five years 16,522 9,430
HFUN E After five years 8,989 21,914
208,481 163,899
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17. GOODWILL

202056 8H311 :
DN
RERE

AR % (B

R2020F 8 A31H A AN

Bk REHRE
Wi — B AR

MR202148A31H
R2021E8A318 :
X 7R
Z:RE

R R E

2021F9ATH B AN -
Bk REHRE
Y B8 B B 2 R) (A a2 32)

HR2022968A31B A A K BRHE F &

20224 8H31A :
DN
REREE

R E

At 31 August 2020:
Cost
Accumulated impairment

Net carrying amount

Cost at 31 August 2020, net of
accumulated impairment
Acquisition of a subsidiary

At 31 August 2021

At 31 August 2021:
Cost
Accumulated impairment

Net carrying amount

Cost at 1 September 2021, net of
accumulated impairment
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 32)

Cost and net carrying amount at
31 August 2022

At 31 August 2022:
Cost
Accumulated impairment

Net carrying amount

ARBTT
RMB'000

241,732

241,732

241,732
129,837

371,569

371,569

371,569

371,569
380,452

752,021

752,021

752,021
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7 R (R

PREGEHFRENRENSREE TSR
TELEEMAETRERR

BEERREEEEM
RILERREEEEM
ERERREELEM
ERBERACELEM
EHBEBEREASELEN
ITRBAREEELEEMN
HEERREELEEM

BNERBELEM

REREMKR "EEFHRSELEUD

17.

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)
IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units for
impairment testing:

Luoyang School cash-generating unit
Northeast School cash-generating unit

Guangxi Schools cash-generating unit

Central China School cash-generating unit
Yunnan Vocational School cash-generating unit
Beijing Lianhe cash-generating unit

Gansu School cash-generating unit

Zhengzhou School cash-generating unit

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each

MEREBERT: cash-generating unit at the end of the reporting period
is as follows:
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR T T ARB T T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
BEERBESEEEM Luoyang School cash-generating unit 195,364 195,364
RILBERBCEEEM Northeast School cash-generating unit 750 750
BERERRESELEEM Guangxi Schools cash-generating unit 28,982 28,982
ERERBeELENMN Central China School cash-generating
unit 283 283
EHEBESBRBELELENM  Yunnan Vocational School
cash-generating unit 16,353 16,353
IR AR eEEENM Beijing Lianhe cash-generating unit 516 516
HmERBESEELEEM Gansu School cash-generating unit 129,321 129,321
HINERRSELEEAM Zhengzhou School cash-generating
unit 380,452 -
752,021 371,569
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17. B8 (&)

AR E R ()

taEReELBEUNATREESRIIKMA
EREHEZIFMHEREAER/SHZR
TREEA  HEREEFELIEE - #
ERFHMRIABACELEMNNRESRE
BT A B = B IE R R 72.3% (20214 : 3%) °

A8 LR S E L B A R20224F K20214F
WEREER AEEECEAZERRK T
XHEpEEBETHERENAKERS
MEBAMERENSEIZRR:

BERA-FEEHESRDERE L BE
RERBHARMENEAMEE -

BEEMNEX-ARBEEETREENETHN
BENERANREERBEFEN —FEX
MFHEMX(GEEMRXEFHT) LA
HImG &R -

17. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
(CONTINUED)

The recoverable amount of each of the above cash-
generating units had been determined based on a
value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by management. The long term growth rate
used to extrapolate the cash flows of the above cash-
generating units beyond the five-year period is 2.3%
(2021: 3%).

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of the above cash-generating units for 2022 and 2021.
The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgetfed revenue - The budgeted sales amounts
are based on the historical data and management’s
expectation on the future market.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins
is the average gross margins achieved in the year
immediately before the budget year, increased for
expected efficiency improvements, and expected
market development.
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17. B8 (&)

AR E R ()

BRERAIREIRE AR R R R B AI A X
ErRuEREECERANTERR 02
ZHRARBERPRABETERRETZ
ETARLELMRABZEBLEUAERENR
BETERAEBEE ESRSELEN
B 158 P {8 (B AT 1 A A9 B MM%ETWT

17. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
(CONTINUED)

Pre-tax discount rates — The discount rates used
are before tax and reflect specific risks relating to
the relevant units, which are determined using the
capital asset pricing model with reference to the beta
coefficient and debt ratio of certain publicly listed
companies conducting business in the PRC education
industry. The pre-tax discount rates used in the value-
in-use calculation for each cash-generating unit are as
follows:

20224 20214
2022 2021
BEERBESEEEM Luoyang School cash-generating unit 18.3% 18.3%
RILBERBCEEEM Northeast School cash-generating unit 16.6% 16.3%
ERESRESELEM Guangxi Schools cash-generating unit 17.6% 17.2%
ERERBeELENMN Central China School
cash-generating unit 18.0% 17.7%
EHEBESBRBELELENM  Yunnan Vocational School
cash-generating unit 20.0% 18.0%
IR AR EEENM Beijing Lianhe cash-generating unit 17.0% 16.5%
HRERBESEELEEM Gansu School cash-generating unit 16.7% 16.4%
HINERRSEEEAM Zhengzhou School cash-generating
unit 18.6% -

RERASELBEMNMBGERRBFREK
MERIERKABTHEERINTESN
HRAE— B e

$®TW§$EH$IEF“MAET
""""" 2 UTRIANEHZEFRIXETERTF
MAREEEE EXRARSEETEEYA
NFtEReEEBMATKREENHEthE
BERNEMREZER FESLOA
WoeBEDesNEREIE -

The values assigned fo the key assumptions on market
development of the cash-generating units and the
discount rates are consistent with external information
sources.

The directors of the Company have estimated the
reasonably possible changes in the key assumptions
and acknowledged that, even if the most unfavorable
possible values were assigned to those assumptions,
the recoverable amount then calculated, after
incorporatfing any consequential effects of such
assignment on the ofther variables used fo measure
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit,
would still exceed its carrying amount.
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18. HttEF &= 18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

B4 EFH%F @5t
Client
Software relationship Total
ARET R ARETR ARETR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
2022%8H31H 31 August 2022
20215918 B9 A - Cost at 1 September 2021, net of
el 3 accumulated amortisation 61,296 820 62,116
NE Additions 37,760 - 37,760
WM B AR (K332 Acquisition of subsidiaries (nofe 32) 48 - 48
FRFHIREH Amortisation provided
during the year (23,188) (314) (23,502)
72022F8A31H At 31 August 2022 75,916 506 76,422
2022484318 : At 31 August 2022:
PN Cost 129,404 1,200 130,604
g3 Accumulated amortisation (53,488) (694) (54,182)
Em¥E Net carrying amount 75,916 506 76,422
2021487 31H 31 August 2021
R2020F9R TR KB A Cost at 1 September 2020, net of
Bk 2T EH accumulated amortisation 22,345 1,134 23,479
HNE Additions 45,559 - 45,559
W B Y B 2 ) Acquisition of subsidiaries 2,376 - 2,376
FAGIRES Amortisation provided
during the year (8,984) (314) (9.298)
M2021%8A31H At 31 August 2021 61,296 820 62,116
2021 8A31A : At 31 August 2021:
N Cost 91,614 1,200 92,814
RETHEH Accumulated amortisation (30,318) (380) (30,698)
EEFE Net carrying amount 61,296 820 62,116
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HtkERBEE 19. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
20225 20214F
2022 2021
AREF AR®EF T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
®E BN FIE Prepayment for investments 1,000 674,517
4 b {55 B RE TR ZR 1B Prepayment for land use rights 136,992 174,091
ME MENEZEHBIENMNZKIE Prepayment for property, plant and
equipment 4,239 17,899
HEm\EREEENMNRKIE Prepayment for other intangible
assets - 586
142,231 867,093

ESEWFHE: FE{FFKE - HEt 20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, OTHER
ERREREMEE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS
202245 20214
2022 2021
AR TR ARETFTT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
=) & Trade receivables 18,215 61,492
B EEBERE Less: Allowance for credit losses (7.327) (6,819)
10,888 54,673
&R Prepaid expenses 11,127 14,401
B R E e U SR IB Advance and other receivables 47,735 52,867
BTITHX Staff advances 11,974 2,898
=& & H e Y5 18 K8 Deposits and other miscellaneous
receivables 37,431 37,065
119,155 161,904

EEEREAMERBEEREETREDN -
NBEERMEEBE BEXERAAR
UEBEXANTRER 285X 2 (A
BEFHEIAE - sEERRRT BN
BER EFHREEAERREAHA
ESMAEBESMN Bk R RERE
FRABANAERAXEEA -

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision maftrix to measure expected
credit losses. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patfterns (i.e., by customer type).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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20 ESZ W ARIE - S RIE - Hftt 20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, OTHER

EUREREMEE(E) RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)
TXHNEBEAREEE S EWRKIEF R Set out below is the information about the credit risk
HEBHEERRER exposure on the Group's trade receivables using a

provision matrix:

20225 8H31H 31 AUGUST 2022
=Rk
Past due
B £ HSiME 122% 283 3B4F 4EHRE gt
Less than 1to 2to 3to Over
Current 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 4 years Total
BHEEREX Expected credit loss rate - 0.78% 2.51% 44.67% 89.75% 100.00% 40.23%
BEEENRETT) Gross carrying amount
(RMB'000) - 7,825 2,151 1,652 1,102 5,485 18,215
EHEEEBE(ARETI) Expected credit losses
(RMB'000) - 61 54 738 989 5,485 7,327
2021 8H31H 31 AUGUST 2021
[REak:
Past due
I8 HSRIE 1£22F 253% 3F4E 4EL @
Less than 1to 210 3to Over
Current 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 4 years Total
BHEEEEX Expected credit loss rate - 0.47% 1.69% 35.07% 87.11% 100.00% 11.09%
BEEENRETT) Gross carrying amount
(RMB'000) - 40,264 13,987 1,072 1,171 4998 61,492
BHEEBB(ARET ) Expected creditlosses
(RMB'000) - 188 237 376 1,020 4,998 6,819
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20 ESZ W ARIE - E{SRIE - Hftt 20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, OTHER

ERHREREMEE(E) RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)
RBEHAARNEBEZIRUNAKRBRZIZBHR An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the
MBREEBENERRIITOT end of the reporting period, based on the transaction

date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

2022 20214
2022 2021
ARE T AR F T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
—F K Within 1 year 7,764 40,076
—EWF 1 to 2 years 2,097 13,750
Wz =F 2 to 3 years 914 696
=ZF U F Over 3 years 113 151
10,888 54,673

BESRWANENECEESEREZHNOT The movement in the allowance for credit losses in

respect of frade receivables are as follows:

B 5 kW RIE

Trade

receivables

ARBFTT

RMB’'000

R2020%F9A1H At 1 September 2020 8,120
FAERBMEREIE Impairment loss recognised during the year 2,154
F 1A B8 Write off during the year (3,455)
R2021F8H31H K2021F9H1RH At 31 August 2021 and 1 September 2021 6,819
FAEARREESE Impairment loss recognised during the year 738
F 1A 8 Write off during the year (230)
R2022F 8 A31H At 31 August 2022 7,327
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RAFEFABEZENEREE 21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

20224 20214

2022 2021

ARE T AR T T

RMB’000 RMB'000

HEMIELEMEE  EHAFE Other unlisted investments, at

fair value 2,530 -
LHi3EEMWE AT AU RITEITHIE The above unlisted investments were wealth investment
HER AEHAORSR=TIHEELAEIN products issued by banks in Mainland China. They were
KeRFBE  MEEHDELEANFER mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair value
ABZHEREE - through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are

not solely payments of principal and interest.

HERBEEZEEY  THER: 22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, TIME

E2EF R ZREFRK DEPOSITS, PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED
DEPOSITS
2022F 20214
2022 2021
it AR®BTR ARBFTTT
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
RekRITEH Cash and bank balances 1,134,614 775,787
EHER Time deposits 431,000 404,205
1,565,614 1,179,992
R B AR AE Less: Pledged deposits for:
RITER Bank loans 25(vi) (301,000) (284,115)
EHAREX Project deposit (46,484) -
AEERPAXBREIRITHA R Restricted bank balances (i)
in escrow accounts (5.,182) -
H A BRI 4R 17 45 4 Other restricted bank
balances (1,499) -
REGERIABEER Non-pledged time deposits
—EAzEEREBHEX with original maturity of
more than three months
when acquired (130,000) (120,090)
ReRhREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 1,081,449 775,787
() ZREEGAXEEFPNBTRES - (i) The amounts represent scholarship from the government

placed into escrow accounts.
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2 BERREEEY EHEXR
SHEFARZRSFRE)

RBehRTEBRUATIEEE:

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, TIME

DEPOSITS, PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED
DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

The cash and bank balances were denominated in the
following currencies:

20224 20214

2022 2021

AR T AREBT T

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR RMB 1,555,003 1,164,879
B (&) Hong Kong dollar (*HK$") 561 6,979
Eax(ExT)D United States dollar (“US$”) 10,050 8,134
e RIBITE R Cash and bank balances 1,565,614 1,179,992

ARBETGEERIEREMBER - AW -
R 5 B A O E B R R ) MK RE - &
ERNEEEMRE) AREAEBERE
MERMEXBHORITEAREL LR EM
5% -

RTREBRBEBESARTERNEFED
FEHNEREE EHMEMEROFERBR
FAEBNABRESF[TKMAEM TR - X
BEEREBERFRMNERRAME - RIT
BHELEMERDFERR YL &I HENT
BAGEERFORT

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under the Mainland China’'s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn inferest
at the respective short term time deposit rates. The
bank balances and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
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BHABFRBOT:

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Details of confract liabilities are as follows:

BE Tuition fees
FEE Boarding fees
EHEEES Total contract liabilities

20224 8H31H 2021468H31H 20206 9H1H
31 August 31 August 1 September
2022 2021 2020

ARET T ARBTT ARBTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
855,857 310,220 259,206
117,478 40,713 14,823
973,335 350,933 274,029

B# B E ¥ R IR 4 A8 FE AR 75 M U ER
BEZEHBR - AEEREEFHKEM
BREBLENHBERAEEE 2ERERESE
RERREFAMRRLIER B4EF
Bom RIRMHERREESER -

F2022%F 20214 8R31H » & 4 B E 1N
DEZEHARKEBEENBEREBERR
BB LERKXBHUBEROHTU
FEHWER -

Contract liabilities include short-term advances
received from students in relation to the proportionate
service not yet provided. The Group receives fuition
and boarding fees from students in advance prior fo
the beginning of each academic year. Tuition and
boarding fees are recognised proportionately over the
relevant period of the applicable programme. Students
are entitled to a refund of the payment in relation to
the proportionate service not yet provided.

The increase in contract liabilities as at 31 August 2022
and 2021 was mainly due fo the increase of advances
of tuition and boarding fees from students particularly
from the newly acquired school for the new fall
semester.
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24 HtENIREARETEH

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR TR ARB T T
RMB’000 RMB'000
BEWE BELAZEN Payables for purchase of property,
P& 5RI8 plant and equipment 143,641 157,812
FEEFTEA R RE Accrued bonuses and social
insurance 85,950 78,319
mEERBEHMIEE A Miscellaneous expenses received
(K&t (a) from students (nofe (a)) 100,315 94,663
e Deposits 75,633 73,069
FES & 1E 2R FIA Payables to cooperative schools 3,974 8,666
A A B Advance from lessee 40,628 33,384
ENE4ARHMOBFMHE  Government subsidies payable to
students and teachers 113,673 58,552
FE - U5 B8 B (K a2 (b)) Consideration payable for acquisitions
(note (b)) 205,000 285,420
Hh f& 5 51 IR Other payables 175,131 161,418
FEEH & A Accrued expenses 13,824 4,575
957,769 955,878

LT EERETEE - REFER
REHRADE EiENRIENESE
AHEEEREAFEMRS -

it (a) -

Mt &t (b) :

BRRBREASERDNMERER
S RBES -

FHEREBEIZEEBREREH A
DRl ERIEBRIFERER
RUEEHRERENNREARE
165,000,0007T & A K #40,000,000
5T o

The above balances are unsecured and non-interest-
bearing. The carrying amount of other payables and
accruals at the end of the year approximated to their
fair value due fo their short-term maturity.

Note (a): The amount represents the miscellaneous
expenses received from students which will be
paid on behalf of students.

Note (b): The amount mainly includes consideration
payable for the acquisition of non-controlling
interests in Northeast School amounting to
RMB165,000,000 and for the acquisition of
Gansu School amounting to RMB40,000,000 in
accordance with the acquisition agreements.
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25 FFERITREMER 25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS
2022% 20216
2022 2021
BRAE%) e ARETR BRI (%) i) ARETT
Effective Effective
interest rate (%) Maturity RMB'000 interest rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
Fn e Current
BEABTER Bank loans - secured 4,25-5.00 2023 605,727 4.62-6.00 2021-2022 340,526
FEALMER Other loans - secured 4.35-4.69 2023 200,364 -
BEARBREOIERN Current portion of long-term 3.60-5.80, 2022-2023 256,990 5.20-6.65, 2021-2022 149,958
MBHH bank loans - secured LIBOR+2.20 LIBOR+2.20
BEARHEMERRN  Current portion of long-term 5.84 2023 66,757 5.84-14.38 2021-2022 77,829
IR other loans - secured
1,129,838 568,313
E L Non-current
BEABTER Bank loans - secured 3.60-5.80, 2023-2034 2,148,615 4.50-6.37, 2022-2029 1,651,463
LIBOR+2.20 LIBOR+2.20
BERAMER Other loans - secured 4,35-8.00 2023 55,317 5.84-14.38 2022-2027 154,210
RHHA Transaction costs (13,630) (19,354)
2,190,302 1,786,319
3,320,140 2,354,632
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FERITREMER(E) 25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR T T ARBF T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
DT Analysed into:
JEEZBRITENR: Bank loans repayable:

R—FRHIZENR Within one year or on demand 862,717 490,484
RE-F In the second year 1,304,941 681,981

RE=FZ2ENF In the third to fifth years, inclusive
(BiEERMF) 340,484 875,763
B AT Beyond five years 489,560 74,365
2,997,702 2,122,593

FEE B B 85K : Other borrowings repayable:

R—FRHILREK Within one year or on demand 267,121 77,829
RE-F In the second year 55,317 143,914

RE=ZFEFAF In the third to fifth years, inclusive
(BREEEMSE) - 9,099
AFLLE Beyond five years - 1,197
322,438 232,039
3,320,140 2,354,632

AEBMRITREMERATIE S E:

Notes:

The Group's bank and other borrowings are denominated in

the following currencies:

AR
ETT

RMB
usb

2022 20214
2022 2021

AR T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
2,631,068 1,710,050
689,072 644,582
3,320,140 2,354,632
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( ll‘ )

B3 &R AR

TR PR R

(i)

(ii)

AEBRE®RMFELSARE
80,091,000 (2021 : A R &
10,616,00070) 2 F « FR1E M & E
RETHE(E14)

AEEBETERBFESARE
49,571,0007C (2021 : A K
74,077,00070) 89 1% & ¥ % (M 5£15)

25.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

All of the bank loans and other borrowings are jointly
secured and pledged by:

(i)

(ii)

the Group's buildings, furniture and fixtures and
electronic devices with an aggregate net carrying
amount of RMB80,091,000 (2021: RMB10,616,000)
(note 14);

certain of the Group’'s investment properties with
a net carrying amount of RMB49,571,000 (2021:
RMB74,077,000) (note 15);

(i) AEBEETHBERAR ZIRKKE: (i) equity interest of the Group’s certain subsidiaries;
(iv) ZEAEFEIHEAERMEI6(C)) (iv) personal guarantees executed by Mr. Li (note
36 (c));
(v) AEEBERERSENBAREILNADF (v) corporate guarantees executed by the Group and
E1R subsidiaries of the Group;
(vi) AEBEMIZE A ARK301,000,0007T (vij deposits of the Group with an amount of
(20214 + A R #284,115,0007T) (B 5% RMB301,000,000 (2021: RMB284,115,000) (note 22).
22) e
CIE: Y '§¢ ] 26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR T ARB T T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
MR9ATH At 1 September 646,459 -
Fr 13 5138 Proceeds - 642,377
& @ Redemption (646,790) -
AEMAZNERRER Total losses recognised in the
SRRk statement of profit or loss
included in other expense 331 4,082
MN8H3IH At 31 August - 646,459
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CE:Y 3-¢-4¢ )

M2020F9H16H « &KX » 8 &k &KX 2 8 8

2 & K B 2 7 Goldensep Investment

Company Limited ([ % 17 A ) & ¥ £ {5

BE@E B AR ABTENRADF LR E %
T

3>
NN
I
B

26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

On 16 September 2020, the Company and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, Goldensep
Investment Company Limited (the “Issuer”) entered
info a subscription agreement with Credit Suisse (Hong

mOBWL BOTAERE THEEA Kong) Limited (the “Manager”), pursuant to which
100,000,000 7T #9 AJ #2 I% (& 75 ([ 7] #2 iR (& the Issuer has agreed to issue convertible bonds at
%) ARFIERE AT ARE AR R an aggregate principal amount of USD100,000,000
REFH B RGP A A RIA R (“Convertible Bonds”), the Company has agreed
HRFZ - RERACREBERE R IR to guarantee payment of all sums payable by the
FRBARBERINTBREBRES - JHRK Issuer in accordance with the terms and conditions in
BEAFAREFFAANEERE B SERE relation to such Convertible Bonds, and the Manager
HO.0001E T AARI M E LB - has agreed to subscribe and pay for, or to procure
subscribers to subscribe and pay for, the Convertible
Bonds. The Convertible Bonds can be converted
into fully paid ordinary shares of the Company with
a par value of USD0.0001 each at the option of the
bondholders.
ARARIERBARKRESREHSE THA The Company has redeemed the Convertible Bonds
IR & F HIR R RR H R B S R R TR in full in accordance with the terms and conditions
© #1100,000,0003 7T #)100% #& B (& - & [F of the Convertible Bonds under the CB Subscription
HR2021F9A288 B HE B M FT A FE 5 K oK Agreement at a redemption price equal tfo 100% of
NAMEBHBBEBOARKRES - AAFIH®E the outstanding principal amount of USD100,000,000
ElEMHBERAEEMNNIR S FEE together with all accrued and unpaid interests thereon
HeoBME\ETFEARBRESMMM Z2EF - IR on the maturity date of 28 September 2021. The total
1 £ 8 40 0% {9 () 82 A AT IR R B 5 i B S B price payable by the Company for the redemption was
HET  ARARNARKRERFE T NER funded by internal cash reserve of the Group. None of
BN BEAHESRKR A RRESFD the rights attached to the Convertible Bonds has been
